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To Shareholders:

On behalf of the Board of Directors, | am pleased to present to
you the annual results of China Rare Earth Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 December 2015.

The year 2015 was the final year of China’s 12th Five-year
Plan and also a key year for conducting the comprehensive
deepening reforms, which resulted in the substantial changes
of the Government policy in the rare earth sector. The export
quotas and tariffs of rare earth were abolished, followed by the
implementation of the adjusted resources taxation structure in
China. The rare earth resource tax was levied based on the price of
rare earth versus volume. The change in policy and the instability
of the global economy led to a continuous decrease of the prices
of rare earth. Eight ministries including the Ministry of Industry
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and Information Technology, Ministry of Public Security, Ministry of
Land and Resources, Ministry of Environmental Protection, General
Administration of Customs, State Administration of Taxation, State
Administration for Industry and Commerce and State Administration
of Work Safety have collaborated in taking special actions to fight
illegal and irregular acts in the rare earth industry and such joint
actions have become a normal practice. The consolidation of the
industry and the rectification of the market order have favoured
the sustainable development of the rare earth sector. The Group
is closely monitoring and addressing to national policies and is
optimistic about the long term prospects of the industry.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

For the financial year ended 31 December 2015, the Group
recorded a revenue of approximately HK$843,110,000, declining
by approximately 29% when compared to HK$1,183,786,000 in
2014. For rare earth products, influenced by changes in the national
policies and instabilities in the global economy, market prices
remained low and demand growth of downstream products has
been slowed down. While both prices and sales volume decreased
during the year, revenue was approximately HK$500,419,000,
representing a reduction of approximately 41% when compared to
HK$842,628,000 last year, accounting for approximately 59% of the
Group's total revenue. As for refractory material products, due to
the challenging market conditions, revenue for the year amounted
to HK$342,691,000, similar to HK$341,158,000 recorded last year,
accounting for about 41% of the total revenue. Due to the lack of a
sales exceeding HK$80,000,000 from selling the written-off lutetium
oxide according to the rare earth hoarding reserve plan launched by
the Chinese Government as reported last year, the gross loss margin
has increased from about 9% last year to about 12% this year.

Although selling and distribution expenses and administrative
expenses have decreased due to the implementation of cost saving
measures, as well as the gains of approximately HK$29,491,000
brought by the sales of the investment in listed equity, net loss this
year increased from approximately HK$102,028,000 last year to
HK$267,618,000. Except for the above factors influencing the sales
and operation, the increase in loss was mainly attributable to: 1)
the Group recorded a gain of approximately HK$116,328,000 from
three transactions conducted last year including the acquisition of
50.1% equity interest in Yixing Silver Mile Fluorescent Materials
Company Limited; disposal of 40% equity interest in Yixing AGC
Ceramics Co., Ltd. and disposal of the entire equity interest in
Heping County Dongye Rare Earth Company Limited. However,
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there was no such gain during the year; and 2) the rare earth
market continued to be sluggish and the performance of the
polishing powder production line invested by the Group has been
unsatisfactory. Besides, the substantial construction cost of the
fluorescent materials production facilities that combined in early
2014 cannot be covered by the revenue generated from operation.
Thus, after the cautious assessment, the Group has decided to make
one-off impairment loss on certain non-current assets in the rare
earth segment at about HK$109,669,000 during the year.

Loss per share in 2015 was about HK11.98 cents, representing an
increase of about 159% when compared with loss per share of
HK4.63 cents in 2014.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Rare Earth Business

Revenue of the Group’s rare earth business was approximately
HK$500,419,000 (2014: HK$842,628,000). The prices of rare earth
minerals declined when compared with that in 2014, and the price
decreasing range of rare earth products was even larger due to the
sluggish rare earth industry. Reduction in production volume also led
to the increase in the average production costs. Thus, the Group’s
rare earth business continued to operate at a loss and the gross loss
margin for the segment was about 26% (2014: 19%).

The price of rare earth products remained fluctuating in 2015.
The price went up and then dropped in the first three quarters,
followed by a slow rebound in the fourth quarter. The long awaited
new round of the national rare earth hoarding reserve plan for the
second half of the year had not been confirmed. The Group sold
approximately 3,400 tonnes of rare earth oxides during the year,
a decrease of around 8% when compared to approximately 3,700
tonnes sold last year. The average selling prices of most rare earth
products including lanthanum oxide, cerium oxide, praseodymium
oxide, yttrium oxide and lutetium oxide in 2015 dropped by
approximately 20% to 50% when compared with last year, while
those of europium oxide, samarium oxide and yttrium-europium
coprecipitates declined by more than 50%. The price drop range of
holmium oxide, terbium oxide, neodymium oxide and erbium oxide
was within 10%. The average selling price of gadolinium oxide
recorded an increment of about 20% when compared with the
corresponding period last year. The persistent decrease in product
prices has caused the Group to write down inventory for more than
HK$80,000,000 at the end of the year. As for raw materials, the
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average procurement cost of rare earth minerals decreased by about
20% in 2015 year-on-year. Principal chemical auxiliary materials
such as caustic soda and oxalic acid remained flat when compared
with last year. The price of certain auxiliary materials recorded a
drop of about 20% to 30%. As for wage expenses, although the per
capita wage has been adjusted upward according to market trends,
related expenses were similar to the previous corresponding year as
the Group has reduced the number of staff.

As for the fluorescent materials, the Group sold about 400 tonnes
of products in 2015 at a similar level to the same period last year,
but the average selling price went through a decline. Among the
products, the selling price of green phosphors dropped by less than
10% when compared to the same period last year, while that of
blue and red phosphors dropped by about 40% and more than
50% when compared to the same period last year respectively. The
price of rare earth oxides, a main raw material of phosphors, was
also reduced. The prices of yttrium-europium coprecipitates which
are mainly used in red phosphors dropped by more than 50%. As a
result, the gross loss margin has not climbed substantially and the
change was less than 10%.

The Group has not launched polishing materials in large scale in line
with the unfavourable rare earth oxides market condition. With the
market situation significantly different from the original target, the
Group decided to make impairment on certain of those machinery
and equipment, so as to eliminate a drag weighing down the
Group's future development.

Geographically, China remained as the major market for the Group’s
rare earth products, accounting for around 64% of total sales. For
overseas markets, Europe, the US and Japan markets accounted for
around 16%, 8% and 7% respectively.
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Refractory Materials Business

During 2015, the Group's refractory materials business reported a
segment revenue of approximately HK$342,961,000, which was
similar to HK$341,158,000 in 2014. Gross profit margin decreased
to around 8%.

Affected by the weak global economy, China economic growth
has slowed down in 2015. The unstable market conditions have
presented challenges to steel, cement and glass industries, as well
as the refractory materials market. The Group sold approximately
26,500 tonnes of ordinary refractory materials and high temperature
ceramics products during the year, increased by about 6% compared
to about 25,000 tonnes in 2014. The increase mainly came from the
trading section of the newly-developed contracting businesses. The
lack of experience in the related business has caused inappropriate
judgment on quality control, unnecessary construction cost was
incurred which led to a loss and thus dragged down gross profit
margin. In addition, new molds had been purchased for expansion
in the high temperature ceramics products business whereas the
amortisation also increased the production cost. Gross profit
margin was reduced to about 6% in this division. In terms of the
product selling price, principal products such as magnesium chrome
bricks and alumina-graphite bricks declined by about 10% to 20%
compared to the same period last year, while the price of high
temperature ceramics products remained flat.

Regarding the magnesium grain business, production has resumed
in the third quarter of the year after the Group reconsolidated
the production process. The Group sold about 64,000 tonnes of
magnesium grain products in 2015, a similar quantity to that of
last year. The average price of the product was also similar to that
of 2014 with the variation within 5%. Gross profit margin was

maintained at about 13%.
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By market segments, domestic sales accounted for 87% while sales
to the Japan market decreased to about 10%. With the Group's
portfolio extended to the newly developed high temperature
ceramics business, sales to Europe and other overseas markets
accounted for about 3%.

PROSPECTS

The year 2016 marked the commencement of China’s 13th Five-
year Plan. This year is also a critical year for the rare earth industry
to carry out economic transformation and industrial upgrading.
The Ministry of Industry and Information Technology continues the
implementation of the provisions in “Several Opinions of the State
Council on Promoting the Sustainable and Healthy Development
of the Rare Earth Industry”. This implementation should facilitate
the industrial restructuring, transformation and upgrading of the
rare earth industry, which in turn will lead to its sustainable and
healthy development. Highlighted by rare earth tax reform during
the consolidation under “5+1" rare earth groups, China’s initiative
against illegal exploitation activities, and steady development of rare
earth product reserves, the measures should contribute to a gradual
rise in rare earth prices in China. The rare earth industry should also
further advance as a result of the reforms.

The Chinese Government continues to implement an aggregate
production quota and exploitation control which presents both
challenges and opportunities for the rare earth industry. With the
rapid development of high-end manufacturing products and the
strategic development of new applications over the world, the
rare earth industry is expected to undergo a revolution, which will
ultimately help to boost sales volume of rare earth. Meanwhile, the
recovery of the overseas rare earth downstream processing industry
will also spur sales growth. Besides, the new materials such as rare
earth magnetic materials and catalytic materials offer outstanding
performance in energy-saving and environmental protection. It is
believed that the market application of these new materials will
become increasingly widespread and will bring a new income stream
for the industry.

To capture the opportunities in the industry, the Group has been
speeding up the research of a magnesium ore mining project in
Northeastern China. This project will enable the upstream expansion
of the Group’s refractory materials business. The commencement
of this business will generate synergistic effect with the Group's
existing operations, lay a solid foundation for future business
growth, generate greater economies of scale and boost profitability.
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RIGHTS ISSUE

To develop its existing businesses and expand into new businesses,
the Group announced a rights issue of 669,057,222 new shares
of the Company at the subscription prices of HK$0.60 each on
the basis of two rights shares for every five existing shares held
on 10 June 2015. The subscription price represents a discount of
about 58.6% to the closing price as quoted on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited before the announcement. Due to the
overwhelming response from shareholders, the rights issue was
over-subscribed with applications for a total of 5,462,001,992
shares having been received, representing approximately 816% of
the total number of 669,057,222 rights shares available. The rights
issue was completed in early August 2015. After expenses, the
Group raised approximately HK$390,112,000 through the rights
issue and the funds are to be allocated for general working capital.

In addition, in order to facilitate the rights issue, the Company held
an extraordinary general meeting on 2 July 2015 to increase the
authorised share capital of the Company from HK$200,000,000 to
HK$400,000,000.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group maintains prudent capital arrangements and retains
adequate liquidity. On one hand the Group raised the proceeds of
about HK$390,112,000 through the rights issue; on the other hand
the Group has invested a large sum of money in prepayments for
rare earth materials. The purpose is for the Group to counter the
efforts of controlling the rare earth mine sources by the state-owned
rare earth groups after consolidation and is also expected to secure
sufficient supply of raw materials at an advantageous price through
prepayment. On 31 December 2015, the Group made prepayments
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of around HK$403,843,000. On the same day, the Group had cash
and bank deposits valued at approximately HK$1,432,543,000. Net
current assets amounted to approximately HK$2,360,321,000, with
the total liabilities to total assets ratio at around 8%.

The Group had no charge on its assets, nor has it held any financial
derivative products. It was not exposed to any material interest rate
risk. As for foreign exchange, most of the Group’s assets, liabilities
and transactions are denominated in Renminbi, and the rest are in
the US dollars or Hong Kong dollars. The exchange rates of these
currencies have been stable.

STAFF AND REMUNERATION

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had a workforce of
approximately 930 including a number of experienced professionals
and university graduates. The Group has provided a comprehensive
staff remuneration and welfare system. During the year, the Group
spent approximately HK$69,273,000 on staff costs, including
directors’ emoluments. It also provided regular training and
study opportunities to employees to assist them in maintaining
professional competence.

CONCLUSION

Despite the ever-changing global market environment, through
ongoing optimisation of the production process and production
facilities, as well as the continuous product innovation and
improvement, the Group has confidence that it can capture the
opportunities when the market stabilizes.

On behalf of the Group, | would like to express my sincere gratitude
to our business partners, investors, customers and suppliers for
their full support and trust, and our management team and staff
for their dedicated efforts. Also, on behalf of the Board of Directors
and the management team, | would also like to extend my deepest
appreciation to all of these stakeholders.

Jiang Quanlong
Chairman
Hong Kong, 30 March 2016
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Jiang Quanlong, aged 63, is a founding member and the
chairman of the Group. Mr. Jiang is responsible for the formulation
of the Group’s overall business development policies. Mr. Jiang is
recognised as a senior economist by Jiangsu Provincial Personnel
Department. Mr. Jiang has over 30 years of experience in the rare
earth and refractory materials industries. Prior to the founding of
the Group, Mr. Jiang had been a factory manager of a refractory
materials production plant and a sales manager of a glass and
ceramics manufacturing company. Besides, Mr. Jiang is also the
chairman and an executive director of Pan Asia Environmental
Protection Group Limited, the shares of which are listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, and a director of YY
Holdings Limited, a substantial shareholder of the Company.
Mr. Jiang is the husband of Ms. Qian Yuanying, the deputy chairman
of the Group.

Ms. Qian Yuanying, aged 56, is a founding member and the
deputy chairman of the Group. Ms. Qian is also the chief executive
officer of the Group and the general manager of Yixing Silver Mile
Fluorescent Materials Company Limited. Ms. Qian is responsible
for the overall management of the Group and the operation of
fluorescent materials business. Ms. Qian is recognised as a senior
economist by Jiangsu Provincial Personnel Department, and she
is also qualified as a Chinese Career Manager. Ms. Qian has over
20 years of experience in the rare earth and refractory materials
industries. Prior to the founding of the Group, Ms. Qian was a high
school teacher. Ms. Qian is also a director of YY Holdings Limited,
a substantial shareholder of the Company. Ms. Qian is the wife of

Mr. Jiang Quanlong, the chairman of the Group.

Mr. Jiang Cainan, aged 57, joined the Group in 1986 and was
appointed as an executive director in 2005. Mr. Jiang is also the
general manager of Yixing Xinwei Leeshing Refractory Materials
Company Limited and is responsible for the operation and sales
of refractory materials business. Mr. Jiang has over 30 years of

experience in the refractory materials industry.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Huang Chunhua, aged 51, joined the Group in 2001 as an
independent non-executive director of the Company. Mr. Huang
obtained a Ph.D degree in Marketing and a Master degree in
Business Administration from University of Strathclyde and a
Bachelor degree in Economics from Wuhan University. Currently Mr.
Huang is the deputy chairman and an executive director of Hybrid
Kinetic Group Limited, the shares of which are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. For the period from May 2007
to April 2009, Mr. Huang was a director and China equity market
strategist of BNP Paribas Securities (Asia) Limited. Prior to that he
was the deputy chairman of Hybrid Kinetic Group Limited between
November 2002 and October 2007 and an analyst of various
securities companies. Mr. Huang has extensive knowledge and
experience in financial market.

Mr. Jin Zhong, aged 64, joined the Group in 2004 as an
independent non-executive director of the Company. Mr. Jin
graduated from the Faculty of Material Engineering of Wuhan Steel
College, specialising in refractory studies. Mr. Jin was previously the
deputy chief engineer of the head factory of Guiyang City Refractory
Materials Factory.

Mr. Wang Guozhen, aged 80, joined the Group in 2012 as an
independent non-executive director of the Company. Mr. Wang
graduated from Tianjin University, majoring in Physical chemistry
of metals. Currently Mr. Wang is a senior expert consultant in rare
earth projects of China Enfi Engineering Corporation. For the period
from 1987 to 1994, Mr. Wang was a member of the Experts Group
of the Rare Earth Leading Group of the State Council, the People’s
Republic of China and the head of its industry group. From 1994 to
2006, Mr. Wang was a member of the Group of Rare Earth Experts
of the National Development and Reform Commission and the
head of its industry group. Mr. Wang also worked at the Chinese
Society of Rare Earths (the “CSRE") consecutively as a director, a
standing director, an expert in its rare earth experts group and a
senior member of its Rare Earth Related Environmental Protection
and Labor Hygiene Professional Committee from 1980 to 2009. In
2009, Mr. Wang was appointed as honorary executive of the CSRE.
Besides, Mr. Wang is also an independent non-executive director
of Pan Asia Environmental Protection Group Limited, the shares of
which are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Jiang Xin, aged 31, joined the Group in 2008 and was
appointed as the general manager of the Company in 2012.
Mr. Jiang is responsible for the marketing aspect of the Group’s
business. Mr. Jiang obtained a Bachelor degree in Arts majoring
in International Business, Finance and Economics from University
of Manchester and a Bachelor degree in Arts majoring in Business
Studies from University of Wales. Mr. Jiang is a son of Mr. Jiang
Quanlong, the chairman of the Group and Ms. Qian Yuanying, the

deputy chairman of the Group.

Mr. Jiang Hongjun, aged 57, joined the Group in 2000. Mr. Jiang
is the deputy general manager of the Company and is responsible
for the daily administrative affairs of the Group. Mr. Jiang has over

30 years of experience in administrative management.

Mr. Yu Zhengming, aged 80, joined the Group in 1999. Mr. Yu
is the chief engineer and technical consultant of Yixing Xinwei
Leeshing Rare Earth Company Limited. Prior to joining the Group,
Mr. Yu was the factory general manager and chief engineer of a
renowned rare earth factory. Mr. Yu is an expert in rare earth and

non-ferrous metals industries.

Mr. Xu Jianwen, aged 47, joined the Group in 1988. Mr. Xu is the
general manager of Yixing Xinwei Leeshing Rare Earth Company
Limited and is responsible for the operation of rare earth business.
Mr. Xu has over 20 years of experience in production management

in the rare earth industry.

Mr. Wang Jianping, aged 54, joined the Group in 2004. Mr. Wang
is the general manager of Wuxi Xinwei High Temperature Ceramics
Company Limited and is responsible for the operation of the high
temperature ceramics business. Mr. Wang has over 15 years of

experience in administrative management and sales.
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Mr. Zhang Huilin, aged 63, joined the Group in 1988. Mr. Zhang
is the general manager of Haicheng City Suhai Magnesium Ore
Company Limited and Hai Cheng Xinwei Leeshing Magnesium
Resources Company Limited and is responsible for the operation of
magnesium grains business. Mr. Zhang has extensive management

experience in raw material supply and sales of refractory materials.

Mr. Law Lap Tak, aged 46, joined the Group in 1999. Mr. Law
is the financial controller and company secretary of the Company.
Mr. Law graduated in Hong Kong and obtained a Bachelor degree
in Business Administration. Mr. Law is a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and The Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Law
was an audit manager in an international accounting firm in Hong

Kong.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
The Company is committed to attending good corporate governance

practices and procedures. The Company has adopted its own code
of corporate governance based on the principles and code provisions
of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code") contained in
Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”). In
the opinion of the Board of Directors (the “Board”), the Company
has complied with the CG Code throughout the year ended 31
December 2015.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct (the “Company’s
Code") regarding securities transactions by directors on terms no
less exacting than the required standards set out in the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code") as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules. Having made
specific enquiry, the Company confirms that all directors have
complied with the required standards as stated in the Model Code
and the Company’s Code throughout the year ended 31 December

2015.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board currently comprises six members, consisting three

executive directors and three independent non-executive directors.

The composition of the Board and the attendance of the Board

meetings and general meeting during the year are as follows:

BHRERE BTHE

No. of meeting(s) attended/held
ES Exg BRAXE
Director Board meetings  General meetings
BITES
Executive director
WEREE(EE) 5/5 172
Jiang Quanlong (Chairman)
BILR (B ERITEAAH) 5/5 12
Qian Yuanying (Deputy Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
B 5/5 0/2
Jiang Cainan
BYFHTES
Independent non-executive director
BEE 5/5 0/2
Huang Chunhua
S E 5/5 0/2
Jin Zhong
TEZ 5/5 1/2

Wang Guozhen
hREFEERN ERVFANEBIIFNTE

EERTEELTESNBERTRITT —REH -

EEREENERNAFREFUARITANIES
REBREBAEENIA -

BREEEDEIRZLI 2L R - KERES
S BEEEREBRMAUBREREMCERME -

Apart from Board meetings, the Chairman also held a meeting with
the independent non-executive directors without the presence of

executive directors during the year.

The biographical information of the directors are set out in
“Directors and Senior Management Profile” on pages 14 to 17 of

the annual report.

Mr. Jiang Quanlong is the husband of Ms. Qian Yuanying. Save as
disclosed, there are no family or other material relationship among

the Board members.
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TRAINING AND CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT OF DIRECTORS

Each newly appointed director will receive comprehensive, formal
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment,
so as to ensure that he/she has appropriate understanding of the
business and operations of the Company and that he/she is fully
aware of his/her responsibilities and obligations under the Listing

Rules and relevant regulatory requirements.

There are also arrangements in place for providing continuing
briefing and professional development to directors whenever

necessary.

During the year, the Company has not arranged any seminar for
directors. Nevertheless, the Company has engaged a professional
entity to prepare certain reading materials which discussed the
amendments in the Listing Rules in relation to connected parties
transactions and financial information disclosures and latest
development in Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting

Guide for directors’ own study.

PRACTICES AND CONDUCT OF MEETINGS
Notices of regular Board meetings are served to all directors at
least 14 days before the meetings. For other Board and committee

meetings, reasonable notice is generally given.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all directors at least 3 days before each
Board meeting or committee meeting to keep the directors apprised
of the latest developments and financial position of the Company
and to enable them to make informed decisions. The Board and
each director also have separate and independent access to the

senior management whenever necessary.

The Company Secretary is responsible for taking and keeping
minutes of all Board meetings and committee meetings. Draft
minutes are normally circulated to directors for comment within a
reasonable time after each meeting and the final version is open for

directors’ inspection.
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According to current Board practice, any material transaction, which
involves a conflict of interests for a substantial shareholder or a
director, will be considered and dealt with by the Board at a duly

convened Board meeting.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Although Mr. Jiang Quanlong, the Chairman of the Board, is the
husband of Ms. Qian Yuanying, the Chief Executive Officer, their
roles and responsibilities are separated. The Chairman is responsible
for the formulation of the Group’s overall business development
policies while the Chief Executive Officer is responsible for the

overall management of the Group's business.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Board has met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating
to the appointment of at least three independent non-executive
directors with one of whom possessing appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting related financial management expertise

throughout the year ended 31 December 2015.

The independent non-executive directors of the Company are highly
skilled professionals with expertise and experience in the field of
financial management and businesses related to the Group. They
advise the Company on strategy development and enable the
Board to maintain high standards of compliance of financial and
other mandatory reporting requirements and provide adequate
checks and balances to safeguard the interests of shareholders
and the Company as a whole. Each of the independent non-
executive directors has entered into a service contract with the
Company for a term of two years. The Company has received
written confirmations from all independent non-executive directors
concerning their independence. The Board considers that all of them

are independent.
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RESPONSIBILITIES, ACCOUNTABILITIES AND

CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE BOARD AND MANAGEMENT
The Company is governed by the Board which is responsible for
directing and supervising its affairs and oversight of the Group’s
businesses, strategic decision and performance. Execution of
the Board’s decisions and daily operations are delegated to the

management.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS
The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the

Code Provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.

The Board reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies
and practices, training and continuous professional development
of directors and senior management, the Company's policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the
compliance with the Model Code, and the compliance with the CG

Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

The Board has adopted a Board Diversity Policy setting out
the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. The Board has
considered that diversity of the Board members can be achieved
through consideration of a number of aspects, including but
not limit to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional qualification, skills, knowledge and industry and
regional experience. The Company aims to maintain an appropriate
balance of diversity perspectives of the Board that are relevant to

the Company’s business growth.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee,
for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board
committees of the Company are established with defined written
terms of reference. The terms of reference of Board committees are
posted on the websites of the Company and The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and are available to

shareholders upon request.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The principal functions of the Audit Committee are to assist
the Board in reviewing the relationship with the auditor of the
Company, the financial information, the financial reporting system,

risk management system and internal control procedures.

The composition of the Audit Committee and the attendance of the

Committee meetings during the year are as follows:

K& BHELRE BTHE
Member No. of meeting(s) attended/held
BYFHTES

Independent non-executive director

TEE (£E) 212
Wang Guozhen (Chairman)

BEHE 2/2
Huang Chunhua

& 2/2
Jin Zhong

SRl BERZEEENTARAMRMAZE
AHRERE R RER  ABEERMERR
FH BERATESRERZBOGST &
BMTARRZHHREFRE -

During the meetings, the Audit Committee reviewed the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Company and discussed
auditing, internal control and financial reporting matters, including
the review of the interim and annual results of the Company with
the assistance of the auditor without the presence of the executive

directors.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The principal functions of the Remuneration Committee are to
make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for the remuneration of directors and senior management,

and to review their specific remuneration packages.

The composition of the Remuneration Committee and the
attendance of the Committee meetings during the year are as

follows:

SBLE BTHE
No. of meeting(s) attended/held

BYFHTES

Independent non-executive director
BEE(FE)

Huang Chunhua (Chairman)

tE

Jin Zhong

TE®

Wang Guozhen

EEHL FHZEERI THHERRRHES
ZHMASMERTSHEL TEE -

REZRE

REZBEZIERERSEDRANESTEN
BZTCBRENES G MK -« 5T R EMN
EZEFENEZUZAEERR  HlER#

REZRANZECEHREF MEZSHRES
ZEREET  RARBUFRTERZBEYMS
RHEER -

"7

11

il

During the meeting, the Remuneration Committee reviewed the
remuneration policy and recommended the remuneration packages

of the directors to the Board.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The principal functions of the Nomination Committee are to
review the Board composition with reference to the Board Diversity
Policy adopted, discuss and agree on measurable objectives for
achieving diversity on the Board, develop and formulate relevant
procedures for the nomination and appointment of directors, make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment and succession
planning of directors, and assess the independence of independent

non-executive directors.
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The composition of the Nomination Committee and the attendance

of the Committee meetings during the year are as follows:

BRELEBTHE
No. of meeting(s) attended/held

BUFHITES

Independent non-executive director
SE(FE)

Jin Zhong (Chairman)

Huang Chunhua

TEY

Wang Guozhen

EgHt REZBgRNTARAZESEH
R BURRTEEMNBLEREFTEKNESZTT
LK REZEERRERAIZESTGARE

=' o

=)

EEvEER
RARZARIAAFTRAGNESEELE=-F&
BRE-R REFEZANEREREART
ERRAITERRAEG BRELELRTEEE
RSB E AR RIS 108(A) (B) KSR BRE - M8
BERWFEEBERET -

11

171

11

During the meeting, the Nomination Committee reviewed the
Board composition, the independence of the independent non-
executive directors and the Board Diversity Policy of the Company.
The Nomination Committee considers that the Board composition is

appropriate.

RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS
The Company’s Articles of Association specify that every director

should be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years and the director appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall hold
office only until the next following general meeting of the Company.
Mr. Jiang Quanlong and Mr. Wang Guozhen will retire by rotation
according to Article 108(A) and (B). Both of them, being eligible, will

offer themselves for re-election.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES ON THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

It is the directors’ responsibility to prepare financial statements
which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group,
the results and cash flows for each financial period. In preparing the
financial statements, the directors have to ensure that appropriate
accounting policies are adopted. The financial statements are

prepared on a going concern basis.

The statement of the auditor of the Company about the reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 45 to 47 of the annual

report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION
During the year, the remuneration in respect of statutory audit

services (including interim review) provided by the auditor of
the Company was HK$3,475,000. In addition, the auditor of the
Company also provided services in connection with the rights issue
of the Company for a fee of HK$500,000. There was no other non-

audit service provided by the auditor.

INTERNAL CONTROLS
The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining an adequate

system of internal controls of the Group and for reviewing its
effectiveness. The Board has delegated to the management the
implementation and evaluation of the system of internal controls.
With the assistance of an external advisor, the Group has conducted
a review of the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal
control and reported the key findings to the Audit Committee.
The review covers major and material controls in areas of financial,

operational and compliance and risk management functions.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

General meeting

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity
for communication between the shareholders and the Board. The
Chairman of the Board as well as chairmen of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee, or in their
absence, their duly appointed delegates are available to answer
questions at the shareholders’ meetings. Auditor of the Company
is also invited to attend the Company’s annual general meeting
("AGM") and is available to assist the directors in addressing
queries from shareholders relating to the conduct of the audit and
the preparation and contents of the Independent Auditor’s Report.
Separate resolutions are proposed at shareholders’ meetings on each

substantial issue, including the election of individual directors.

Notice of AGM and extraordinary general meetings ("EGM")
together with related papers are sent to the shareholders at least
20 clear business days and 14 days before the respective meetings,
setting out details of each proposed resolution, voting procedures
and other relevant information. All votes of shareholders at the
general meeting will be decided by poll pursuant to the Listing
Rules. The Chairman will demand that all resolutions put to the vote
at general meetings be taken by poll and will explain such rights
and procedures during the general meetings before voting on the
resolutions. An independent scrutineer will be appointed to count
the votes and the poll results will be posted on the websites of the

Company and the Stock Exchange after the general meetings.
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Shareholders of the Company can make a requisition to convene
an EGM pursuant to Article 64 of the Company’s Articles of
Association. The procedures for the shareholders to convene an

EGM are as follows:

1. One or more shareholders (“Requisitionist”) holding, at the
date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth of
the paid up capital of the Company having the right of voting
at general meetings shall have the right, by written notice, to
require an EGM to be called by the directors for the transaction

of any business specified in such requisition.

2. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the directors or
the company secretary of the Company at all of the following

addresses:

Principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong

Address:  15/F, Club Lusitano, 16 Ice House Street, Central,
Hong Kong

Email: info@creh.com.hk

Attention: Company Secretary

Head office of the Company
Address: Dingshu, Yixing, Jiangsu Province, the People’s
Republic of China

Attention: Company Secretary

Registered office of the Company
Address:  Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands

Attention: Company Secretary

Shareholders must provide their full name, contact details and
identification in order to given effect thereto. Shareholders’

information may be disclosed as required by law.
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3. BREFRAGENE@RERERERMEA 3. The EGM shall be held within two months after the deposit of

NERIT o such requisition.

4. HEBFERERZKELT - +—-BANEHZ 4. If the directors fail to proceed to convene such meeting within

R —BIUALEFRKARGALAERT R 21 days of such deposit, the Requisitionist himself may do so in
B MaRAEEERETEMEEZ — the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
NEERTERAARIEETHEKRA Requisitionist as a result of the failure of the directors shall be

reimbursed to the Requisitionist by the Company.

BREXATDBRREAZER Procedures for shareholders to direct enquiries to the
Company

HREFESZET MEAZRUATNAERQF For matters in relation to the Board, shareholders can contact the

s a% Company at the following:

Wit BEPBEREISEAEGRAE Address: 15/F, Club Lusitano, 16 Ice House Street, Central,
1548 Hong Kong

EH :  info@creh.com.hk Email: info@creh.com.hk

BiE (852) 2869 6283 Tel: (852) 2869 6283

BE: (852) 2136 0030 Fax: (852) 2136 0030

BAEA: DEIME Attention:  Company Secretary

HRBOELHBEE (WRHDBEREL B For share registration related matters, such as share transfer and
et BRIREHAR B EE) - B IREA] registration, change of name or address, loss of share certificates or

i dividend warrants, the registered shareholders can contact:

KR G2 EBRG B BLS & Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer office

ERERRELFELERAA Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited

iy BAERARNERISIFHAEMA L Address: 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
1742 Hong Kong

ESE (852) 2862 8555 Tel: (852) 2862 8555

fBE :  (852) 2865 0990 Fax: (852) 2865 0990



Annual Report 2015 £

PREBWS
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BRERARRASLREZEEZEF

BTRARBIREASLIRE2RE  REENUE
mAENgEZE ((EFE)) ERAFAZBEE
BEXARBNEEZEBEEME - it BE
BHRREMA165 A TEMAE5E o

ZEXBZFAR 72%%1&@15}5 B RE

THE ERE - KRT/AZER i N
EEERWBEBRNBERAG 25 &CF%Z)US e

BTERBERAZEAEERRABRAE LR
ZEFREZBANRARRZEZMHEENTER:

1. ﬁﬁi_ué'ﬁ = /,\L/{ZJS @5}&%%
2+ H %ﬁﬁ%ﬂ °

g A=

2. MWMEBRZBEURQFAFIRAZRNEARMR
RENAE LI ARDFEBRBREAELR
AREEFAG LibE - MELZF+—RE
ERA

REEBF

RRBEEMAREREE 2 EBRME - B

EZEREBABHBEERERERDMMRETE

HRH NEREBERARRZRFAEREBN
REAZERANAEEMUE RER TR EE -

ABREBVER AQATRE—EARE  ©
www.creh.com.hk * B2 FIEI AR B E KR M
EEZEMAE  BEMBREMAE -

RAFER  AARLEHECASZERARADIE
HAEMIEE] - AR BCEABERAMA) 8K IRA
RARRRBZABE LA HERH -

Procedures for shareholders to put forward proposals at
shareholders’ meetings

To put forward proposals at a general meeting of the Company,
a shareholder should lodge a written notice of his/her proposal
("Proposal”) with his/her detailed contact information at the
Company'’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at 15/F, Club

Lusitano, 16 Ice House Street, Central, Hong Kong.

The request will be verified with the Company’s branch share
registrar in Hong Kong and upon their confirmation that the request
is proper and in order, the Board will be asked to include the

Proposal in the agenda for the general meeting.

The notice period to be given to all the shareholders for
consideration of the Proposal raised by the shareholder concerned at
the general meeting varies according to the nature of the Proposal

as follows:

1. At least 14 days’ notice in writing if the Proposal requires

approval by way of an ordinary resolution of the Company.

2. At least 21 days' notice in writing if the Proposal requires
approval by way of a special resolution of the Company in an

EGM or an ordinary resolution of the Company in an AGM.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company continues to enhance communications and
relationships with its investors. Designated senior management
maintains regular dialogue with institutional investors and analysts
to keep them abreast of the Company's developments. Enquiries

from investors are dealt with in an informative and timely manner.

To promote effective communication, the Company also maintains
a website at www.creh.com.hk, where extensive information and
updates on the Company’s business developments and operations,

financial information and other information are posted.

During the year, the Company has not made any changes to its
Articles of Association. An up to date version of the Company’s
Articles of Association is available on the websites of the Company

and the Stock Exchange.
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The directors have pleasure in presenting the annual report and
the audited consolidated financial statements of China Rare Earth
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
for the year ended 31 December 2015.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of the Group are manufacturing and sales of rare

earth products and refractory products.

The principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note 20 to

the financial statements.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION
Details of segmental information of the Group are set out in note 15

to the financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 48 of

the annual report.

No interim and final dividend was declared and paid to the

shareholders for the year.

Details of other appropriations are set out in note 31 to the financial

statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

The Company’s reserves available for distribution comprise the
share premium account, fair value reserve and retained profits/
accumulated losses. As at 31 December 2015, the reserves of the
Company available for distribution to shareholders amounted to
HK$2,240,896,000.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results of the Group for the past five financial

years is set out on page 184 of the annual report.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
CONSTRUCTION-IN-PROGRESS

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment and
construction-in-progress of the Group during the year are set out in

note 17 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
At the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 2 July
2015, an ordinary resolution was passed to approve the increase of
the authorised share capital of the Company from HK$200,000,000
to HK$400,000,000.

To develop its existing businesses and expand into new businesses,
the Group announced a rights issue of 669,057,222 new shares
of the Company at the subscription prices of HK$0.60 each
on the basis of two rights shares for every five existing shares
held on 10 June 2015. The subscription price represents a
discount of about 58.6% to the closing price as quoted on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
before the announcement. Due to the overwhelming response
from shareholders, the rights issue was over-subscribed with
applications for a total of 5,462,001,992 shares having been
received, representing approximately 816% of the total number of
669,057,222 rights shares available. The rights issue was completed
in early August 2015. After completion of the rights issue, the issued
shares of the Company was increased by 669,057,222 shares from
1,672,643,059 shares to 2,341,700,281 shares.

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during

the year are set out in note 31 to the financial statements.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES
Details of the retirement schemes of the Group are set out in note

12 to the financial statements.
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DIRECTORS
The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of

this report are:

Executive directors
Mr. Jiang Quanlong (Chairman)
Ms. Qian Yuanying (Deputy Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Jiang Cainan

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Huang Chunhua

Mr. Jin Zhong

Mr. Wang Guozhen

In accordance with Articles 108(A) and (B) of the Company’s Articles
of Association, Mr. Jiang Quanlong and Mr. Wang Guozhen will
retire by rotation from the Board at the forthcoming annual general

meeting and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

As at 31 December 2015, none of the directors has a service
contract with the Company which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation other

than statutory compensation.
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RE DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS

As at 31 December 2015, the interests and short positions of the
directors and chief executives of the Company and their respective
close associates in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company and its associated corporations as recorded in
the register kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the

Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO") or as otherwise notified to

the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code

for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers were as

follows:

1. INTERESTS IN SHARES OF THE COMPANY

1. REAZARGHEZ

ERATERT

Bx ERME 546 K& HE RAEWEDE

% to the issued

Number of share capital

Director Nature of interest/Capacity Shares of the Company

BREE fBzian,/ BEARZER 744,755,200 31.80%
Jiang Quanlong Interest of spouse/Interest of

controlled corporation
BT EFEZRILA 744,755,200 31.80%

Qian Yuanying

Bt -

ZEBRMIG AT BEBYY Holdings Limited$5 4 -
HE2HEBTRAAYY Trustht) Z5TAYYT (PTC)
LimitedfT#55E - MX @ ARBRREENRBE
TREZTREFRERBANAR - REFRBAEK
BIEXVE 2 EEBITLEL LT AYY TrustfIRSZA °
B R EE R REETTE AT AYY Holdings Limited#)
E

WZZ—RAFE+=-A=+—H"YY Holdings
LimitedztWealth Field Global Limited@E & ¥ 2
B HIE A & [F)Wealth Field Global LimitediE i
HB&ZERN o (FTAZSBIEMLEWealth Field
Global Limited®I R ER —ZE—~F—A=-++t
H#Rk )

Founder of a trust

Note:

These shares are held in long position through YY Holdings Limited,
the entire issued share capital of which is held by YYT (PTC) Limited,
the trustee of YY Trust, the discretionary object of which is a company
wholly owned by Ms. Qian Yuanying, the spouse of Mr. Jiang
Quanlong, and her sons. Ms. Qian Yuanying is a founder of YY Trust
within the meaning under Part XV of the SFO. Mr. Jiang Quanlong and
Ms. Qian Yuanying are the directors of YY Holdings Limited.

As at 31 December 2015, YY Holdings Limited pledged all these shares
to Wealth Field Global Limited in respect of a term loan facility granted
by Wealth Field Global Limited to YY Holdings Limited. (All these shares
pledged to Wealth Field Global Limited were released on 27 January
2016.)
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2. RIEBELAGRE  1HERGEKRIAEZE 2. INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES OR

b EQUITY INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS
(a) WMBRERERAA (a) Microtech Resources Limited
HEDARABERIT
[N A
BEE BEME 56 ERTROENREE BERIHNED

% in the class
Number of shares in the

and class of issued share capital

Director Nature of interest/Capacity issued shares of the Company
B RBE EREAA IR E B 1)7,000,0000% 70%
Jiang Quanlong Beneficial owner 7,000,000 non-voting deferred shares
BTH BHHERA B RREIE TN 13,000,000/% 30%
Qian Yuanying Beneficial owner 3,000,000 non-voting deferred shares

(b) HEEFHFEFLERALA (b) Yixing Xinwei Leeshing Rare Earth Company Limited
S BEMtE 546 RAEAERZBED L
Director Nature of interest/Capacity % equity interest
R ES VNG - L 5%
Jiang Quanlong Interest of controlled corporation
Wit « Note:
gi%fgéﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ%@ﬁﬁﬁﬁa% The equity interest is held by Yixing Xinwei Group Co., Ltd., a
ﬁ/ ° EZEPﬁiﬁa\%%%ESEE%& H90% & PRC domestic enterprise 90% owned by Mr. Jiang Quanlong,
@ BTWI0%REELTHE  BIRER with the remaining 10% owned by his son. Mr. Jiang is also the

REUERIEENERA legal representative of the enterprise.
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(c)

YY Holdings Limited (c) YY Holdings Limited
EZARE BT
N R i)
S ERME 54 ERTROEINRHAE HRWEDE
% in the class
Number of shares in the
and class of issued share capital
Director Nature of interest/Capacity issued shares of the Company
BITR EREZPLILA BB 100%
Qian Yuanying Founder of a trust 1 ordinary share
BTH EFEZ B A 18 % Ik 1725,000% 100%
Qian Yuanying Founder of a trust 25,000 preference shares
B RBE RERAZEE EREliauae 100%
Jiang Quanlong Interest of controlled corporation 1 ordinary share
BREE RERNARIZER 18 % Iz 1925,000% 100%

Jiang Quanlong

Interest of controlled corporation

YY Holdings Limited#) 2 &2 Z1TARA A YY
Trust®) & 5EAYYT (PTC) LimitedFiEE -
HYBZABERELAEMEBE TR L L
REFE2EHRENAT - REFH KBS K
EXVEZ EEBITRZLAYY Trustf kL
A BRERERBETLELTAYYT (PTO)

Limitedf)E = ©

BEdEESN RZE-HF+ZA=+—H8"
RIE[BFRAE G E3526MFE 25 LM
NFFE - BEARAEEREIBTRAEREE
ERBATRADRREBRQ
B REFFERRERTEEMRRIARER

Bl Z Bty - 18E

Note:

25,000 preference shares

The entire issued share capital of YY Holdings Limited is held
by YYT (PTC) Limited, the trustee of YY Trust, the discretionary
object of which is a company wholly owned by Ms. Qian
Yuanying, the spouse of Mr. Jiang Quanlong, and her sons.
Ms. Qian Yuanying is a founder of YY Trust within the meaning
under Part XV of the SFO. Mr. Jiang Quanlong and Ms. Qian
Yuanying are the directors of YYT (PTC) Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2015, none of the
directors or chief executives of the Company and their respective
close associates had or was deemed to have any interest or short
position in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations as recorded in the register
kept under Section 352 of the SFO.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS

So far as is known to the directors, as at 31 December 2015,
the interests and short positions of shareholders, other than the
directors or chief executives of the Company, in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO were as

follows:

1. YY Holdings Limited, the entire issued share capital of which
is held by YYT (PTC) Limited, was holding 744,755,200 shares
of the Company, representing approximately 31.80% of the

issued share capital of the Company as beneficial owner.

2. YYT (PTC) Limited was deemed to be interested in 744,755,200
shares of the Company held by YY Holdings Limited, the entire
issued share capital of which is held by YYT (PTC) Limited.

3. YY Holdings Limited pledged all its 744,755,200 shares of
the Company to Wealth Field Global Limited in respect of a
term loan facility granted by Wealth Field Global Limited to
YY Holdings Limited. Wealth Field Global Limited is wholly
owned by VMS Finance Group Limited, which in turn wholly
owned by VMS Holdings Limited, a company wholly owned by
Ms. Mak Siu Hang Viola. (All these shares pledged to Wealth
Field Global Limited were released on 27 January 2016.)

Save as disclosed above, no other party, other than the directors or
chief executives of the Company, has notified the Company that he
had any interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares
of the Company as recorded in the register kept under Section 336
of the SFO as at 31 December 2015.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME
At the Company’s annual general meeting held on 6 June 2014, the

shareholders of the Company approved the adoption of a new share

option scheme currently in force (the “New Scheme”) after the old

share option scheme, which was previously adopted on 4 June 2004,

lapsed on 3 June 2014 for the purpose of providing incentives to

participants for their contribution to the Group. During the year

ended 31 December 2015, there was no option granted, cancelled

or lapsed under the New Scheme.

The major terms of the New Scheme are as follows:

5.

The purpose of the New Scheme is to enable the Group to
grant options to the eligible participants as incentives or

rewards for their contribution to the Group.

The eligible participants include any employee (whether full-
time or part-time, including any executive director), any non-
executive director, any shareholder, any supplier and any
customer of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or any
entity in which any member of the Group holds any equity
interest, and any party having contributed to the development

and growth of the Group.

Under the New Scheme, the total number of shares available
for issue is 167,264,305 which represents approximately 10%
of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of

adoption of the New Scheme.

The maximum entitlement of each participant under the New
Scheme in any 12-month period should not exceed 1% of the

issued share capital of the Company.

The exercisable period of an option granted may be
determined by the directors and should not end later than 10

years after the date of offer.
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6. Any offer for the grant of an option may be accepted by
the participant within 21 days from the date of offer with a
consideration of HK$1 paid.

7. The exercise price may be determined by the directors provided
that it should not be less than the highest of:

the closing price of the shares of the Company as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date

of offer;

ii.  the average closing price of the shares of the Company as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for
the five business days immediately preceding the date of

offer; and
iii.  the nominal value of a share of the Company.

8.  The New Scheme is valid and effective for a period of 10 years
from 6 June 2014, the date on which the New Scheme was

adopted.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement,
which enables any of the directors or chief executives of the
Company or their spouses or children under the age of 18 to acquire
benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the

Company or any other body corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
During the year, the Group paid approximately HK$885,000 as
rental expenses to Mr. Jiang Quanlong for the use of his office

premises.

During the year, the Group paid approximately HK$65,000 as rental
expenses to Wuxi Pan-Asia Environmental Protection Technologies
Limited, a related company in which Ms. Qian Yuanying and
Mr. Jiang Quanlong were deemed to have beneficial interests, for

the use of its office premises.

Save as disclosed above and in note 33 to the financial statements,
no director had a beneficial interest, either direct or indirect, in
any contract of significance to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party at the year-end date or at any time during

the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS
During the year, none of the directors had any interest in any
business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or

indirectly, with the business of the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

During the year, the Company has in force indemnity provisions as
permitted under the Cayman Islands Companies Law for the benefit
of the directors of the Company. The permitted indemnity provisions
are provided for in the Company's Articles of Association and in
the directors and officers liability insurance maintained in respect
of potential liability and costs associated with any proceedings that

may brought against the directors.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No contract concerning the management and administration of

the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group was

entered into or existed during the year.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES
There has been no purchase, sale or redemption of any of the

Company'’s listed securities by the Group during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
The percentages of sales and purchases for the year attributable to

the Group’s major customers and suppliers are as follows:

Sales
- the largest customer 6%
- five largest customers combined 23%
Purchases
— the largest supplier 37%
— five largest suppliers combined 64%

None of the directors, their respective close associates or any
shareholders who own more than 5% of the Company’s issued
share capital to the knowledge of the directors, have any interest in
the share capital of any of the five largest customers or suppliers of

the Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to developing and maintaining robust
corporate governance practices to safeguard the interests of
its shareholders and to enhance corporate value, accountability
and transparency of the Company. Information on the principal
corporate governance practices adopted by the Company is set
out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 18 to 30 of the

annual report.
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BUSINESS REVIEW
A review and prospects of the business of the Group are discussed in

the Chairman’s Statement on pages 6 to 13 of the annual report.

1. Principal risks and uncertainties
Business environment changes continuously and the Group
is facing significant risks and uncertainties associates to it.
Instabilities in the global economy, especially in China, led to
fluctuation in the market demand of rare earth products and
refractory materials products. In addition, the attitude and
the policies implemented by the Chinese Government will
have great impact on the markets and which will fluctuate the
prices and demand. Moreover, the development of advanced
technology will also lead to new application of rare earth
and it may also derive new demand for rare earth. The Group
will closely monitor the market trends and derive appropriate

strategies to cope with the changes ahead.

2. Key financial performance indicators
Analysis of key performance indicators including gross profit
ratios are set out in the Business Review section of Chairman’s

Statement on pages 8 to 11 of the annual report.

3.  Environmental policies and performance
The Group is fully aware of the importance of environment
protection on the Group’s sustainability and future
development. The Group devotes to minimize the release
of water, air and sound pollutants to the production
environments. All wastage are discharged and handled by
appropriate entities. The Group had undergone a series of
energy-savings and anti-pollution innovations to maintain its
leadership status in environment protection among the peers in
the industry. The Group did not aware of any non-compliance
of the laws or regulations on environment protection during

the year.
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Compliance with laws and regulations

Most of the Group’s operations are situated in China and so
all of those laws and regulations can affect foreign invested
enterprise’s operation in China, including the Company Law,
Law of Foreign-Capital Enterprises and Regulation on the
Administration of the Import and Export of Goods are critical
to the Group. In addition, those provisions implemented by
the Chinese Government in relation to the rare earth industry
such as “Several Opinions of the State Council on Promoting
the Sustainable and Healthy Development of the Rare Earth
Industry” and “Rare Earth Industry Access Conditions” also
have significant influence to the Group’s operation. The
Group did not aware of any violations on the above laws and

regulations during the year.

Relationship with key stakeholders

The Group shares a view that its staff is critical to its success.
The Group has provided a comprehensive staff remuneration
and welfare system. It also provided regular training and study
opportunities to employees to assist them in maintaining
professional competence. All staff had entered into appropriate
employment contract with the Group so as to be protected by

relevant labour laws.

The Group accumulated a large number of customer bases all
over the world. The Group has always focused on maintaining
good customer relationship. Every year, the management and
sales team will visit customers and listen to their needs so as to

adjust its sales strategy.

The Group sources different materials with different suppliers.
The Group would not depend on a single supplier to avoid the
concentration risk. The Group maintains a healthy procurement
system and maintains good cooperation relationship with

suppliers.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Memorandum and Articles of Association and the Cayman Islands
Companies Law in relation to the issue of new shares by the

Company.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the directors, the Company has maintained
sufficient public float as required under the Listing Rules during the

year.

AUDITOR

At the close of the 2013 annual general meeting held on 6 June
2013, CCIF CPA Limited retired as auditor of the Company upon
expiration of its term of office and because of business combination,
Crowe Horwath (HK) CPA Limited was appointed as new auditor of
the Company to hold office until the conclusion of the 2014 annual

general meeting.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2015 have been audited by Crowe Horwath (HK) CPA
Limited.

Crowe Horwath (HK) CPA Limited, who was re-appointed in the
2015 annual general meeting, will retire and, being eligible, offer
itself for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment
of Crowe Horwath (HK) CPA Limited will be proposed at the

forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Jiang Quanlong

Chairman
Hong Kong, 30 March 2016
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Crowe Horwath (HK) CPA Limited
Member Crowe Horwath International

& RS 1SIEE77HE SEP 09
9/F Leighton Centre,

77 Leighton Road,

Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA RARE EARTH HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Rare Earth Holdings Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries set
out on pages 48 to 183, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 December 2015, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting

policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITY
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated

financial statements based on our audit. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms
of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the

contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are

free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the

consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient

and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the financial position of the Company and
its subsidiaries as at 31 December 2015, and of their financial
performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of

the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Crowe Horwath (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 30 March 2016

Sze Wing Chun
Practising Certificate Number P06035
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

BE-_F-RFT=-A=1+—ALHFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

—B-4fF —E-mEF
2015 2014
B 5 FExT FB T
Note HK$’'000 HK$’ 000
(BE351)
(Restated)
KA Revenue 5 843,110 1,183,786
8 & B AR Cost of sales (943,575) (1,292,332)
EE Gross loss (100,465) (108,546)
H At Y A Other income 6 5,600 6,098
HERDHER Selling and distribution expenses (28,075) (46,194)
EREHR Administrative expenses (73,321) (78,097)
ME - WE REE Impairment loss on property,
ZREEBE plant and equipment 17(iii) (94,916) =
KERNTRENS LA S Impairment loss on prepaid lease payments
ZREEE on land under operating leases 18(ii) (14,753) =
HEAELEMEZ ZIWE  Gain on disposal of interest in
a joint venture 21 - 11,974
WEEHEALMEREZ  Gain on deemed disposal of interest
2 Wz in a joint venture 34(b) - 2,750
ZEBEMNBARER Gain on bargain purchase of interest
Z Wz in a subsidiary 34(c) = 24,225
HE B AR 2 W Gain on disposal of a subsidiary 35(c) - 77,379
HAth I 55 0% B Other net gain 7 43,283 12,543
REEBREER Loss from operations (262,647) (97,868)
B 76 B A Finance costs 8(a) (1,436) (3,337)
BEDERMNZ HE Share of profits of joint ventures = 2,583
BRBLATE R Loss before taxation 8 (264,083) (98,622)
B fi s Income tax charge 9 (3,535) (3,406)
AEEEE Loss for the year (267,618) (102,028)
THATEMERFERE: Loss for the year attributable to:
VIN/NETET PN Owners of the Company (256,650) (92,972)
FEPEAR Non-controlling interests (10,968) (9,056)
(267,618) (102,028)
BRER Loss per share
ERNEE Basic and diluted 14 HK 11.98 centsi&fll  HK 463 centsi

F56H 2 183E M sE A M IR Hp — 217 o The notes on pages 56 to 183 form part of these financial

statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

BZ-F-AF+=-A=1+—RALHFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

—B-4fF —E-mEF
2015 2014
=3 FTHT FAT
Note HK$' 000 HK$" 000
(B &E51)
(Restated)
rEEESR Loss for the year (267,618) (102,028)
AEEHMEEEE Other comprehensive loss for the year
(MBREHERE (net of nil tax and reclassification
DERE) adjustments)
RAEZEDEZ B  Items that may be reclassified
HIEE - subsequently to profit or loss:
—MREINEEME®REZ - Exchange differences on translation of
ZIEN =5 financial statements of foreign operations (173,020) (25,293)
—BEALLMEMKRAE - Exchange differences on translation
ZERE5 of financial statements of joint ventures = (816)
—EH HEERES — Fair value gain on available-for-sale
D EME equity securities 22 18,931 7,600
—HEAHBE®ERES - Release of fair value reserve upon
R EFEED disposal of available-for-sale
equity securities 22 (29,491) -
—HEALDERERIEN - Release of translation reserve upon
FEEE L disposal of interest in a joint venture = (2,399)
—WEEHEASBEREZ  — Release of translation reserve upon
BEE 5 A 8 deemed disposal of interest in
a joint venture 34(b) - (8,706)
—HEMB AR #ER — Release of translation reserve upon
&5 FEEE L disposal of interest in a subsidiary 35(c) = (17,927)
(183,580) (47,541)
rEERXHEBEAE Total comprehensive loss for the year (451,198) (149,569)
THALEEAREERE  Total comprehensive loss for the year
BEAE: attributable to:
KRAREB A Owners of the Company (439,038) (139,524)
AR = Non-controlling interests (12,160) (10,045)
(451,198) (149,569)

Fo6E £ 183H 2 MK IS RE E b — (1) o The notes on pages 56 to 183 form part of these financial
statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

R-Z-RF+=-A=+—H8 As at 31 December 2015

R-B-R2F RIT—@OF RZT-NF
+=A=+-B +t=ZA=+—A —A—H
At At At
31 December 31 December 1 January
2015 2014 2014
B & TERT T THT
Note HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
GE2) (EE3)
(Restated) (Restated)
ERBEE Non-current assets
Gk Goodwill 16 - = =
ME - BEREE Property, plant and equipment 17 400,936 595,362 456,574
meEROTEM LS Prepaid lease payments on land
under operating leases 18 153,358 182,725 183,844
BVEE Intangible asset 19 = = =
EELE ER Interests in joint ventures 21 = = 105,087
AN ERRES Available-for-sale equity securities 22 - 17,280 9,680
BRETIHEE Deferred tax assets 30(b) 4,695 5,465 4,749
HiIEne & E Other non-current asset 23 18,100 19,222 19,288
577,089 820,054 779,222
hRBEE Current assets
LERNTES LS Prepaid lease payments on land
under operating leases 18 4,379 4,651 4,587
7E Inventories 24 341,221 474,341 567,908
JFE L5 B R e L A U R Trade and other receivables 25 416,580 439,782 510,922
BANFERES Prepayments and deposits 25 414,840 59,273 48,919
A e E Tax recoverable 30(a) 1,258 3,010 2,774
X IR #IRITER Restricted bank deposits 27 36,178 3,296 -
RekReEBEER Cash and cash equivalents 28 1,396,365 1,386,003 1,369,054
2,610,821 2,370,356 2,504,164
REARE Current liabilities
ERERRENRER Trade and bills payables 29 166,894 91,119 103,652
FE&T I8 R E M TR Accruals and other payables 29 78,248 95,430 25,650
ENEEZE Amounts due to directors 26 2,804 2,313 1,557
eI T8 Tax payable 30(a) 2,554 2,976 4,938
250,500 191,838 135,797
REEERE Net current assets 2,360,321 2,178,518 2,368,367
EELERRDAE Total assets less current liabilities 2,937,410 2,998,572 3,147,589
Ebiok B=K i Non-current liabilities
BRERBEAR Deferred tax liabilities 30(b) 886 962 410
EEFE NET ASSETS 2,936,524 2,997,610 3,147,179
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

R-ZB-RF+=-A=+—H8 As at 31 December 2015

R=B-HF R-_T-NF R-_T-OF

+=A=+-HBH+=ZRA=1+—H —A—H
At At At
31 December 31 December 1 January
2015 2014 2014
ik THET FTET FTET
Note HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
(BE3) (BE3)
(Restated) (Restated)
EXR B CAPITAL AND RESERVES 31
AR AR Share capital 234,170 167,264 167,264
f Reserves 2,688,629 2,804,461 2,943,985
PR EEAEEESR Equity attributable to owners
of the Company 2,922,799 2,971,725 3,111,249
FERES Non-controlling interests 13,725 25,885 35,930
EREE TOTAL EQUITY 2,936,524 2,997,610 3,147,179

FASBEEFIBBE LR BERELRAEETER The consolidated financial statements on pages 48 to 183 were
—E—RNE-A=+BHREREETRE . W HB approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 30

TALTRERESE - March 2016, and are signed on its behalf by:
& REE BT Jiang Quanlong Qian Yuanying
EF EZE Director Director

F56E £ 1838 Z BBt iRz E AR —ZR) o The notes on pages 56 to 183 form part of these financial
statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

BE-_F-RFT=-A=1+—ALHFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

FNARAARMEER
Attributable to owners of the Company
REEH/
B RitER KGR STERER HERR EXff  AVERR  (RHER) Mt FBRER i
Retained
Buildings Fair profits/ Non-
Share Share Capital revaluation Statutory Translation value  (Accumulated controlling
capital premium reserve reserve Teserves reserve reserve losses) Sub-total interests Total
Tin Tin Tian Tin TEn TEn TEn TEn TEn TEn Thn
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS'000
HZ%-BE-A-8 At1 January 2014
(R%25) (originally stated) 167,264 1,770,100 038 13,865 258,795 636,235 1,960 157,288 3,138,855 36,540 31753%
SEHHRE(Hb3() Change n accounting policy (note 3() - - - (23,869) - (4831 - 1,090 (27,606) (610) (28,216)
H=Z-ME-A-R(BE5)  At1January 2014 (restated) 167,264 1,770,100 038 = 258,795 631,404 2,960 258378 311249 35,930 3147179
FoE-REVERES: Changes in equity for 2014:
TEEER Loss for the year - - - - - - - (%297) (%29m) (9,056) (102,028)
A2 (F8) /i Other comprehensive (loss)/income,
AheHERE BRE net of il tax and reclassifcation
adjustments
-BESNERIEERL - Exchange diferences on tranlaton
(3533 of financial statements
of foreign operations - - - - - (25,200 - - (25,200 (®3) (25.293)
LS v - Exchange diferences on trarlaton
Efz2 of fivandal statements
of oint ventures - - - - - (816) - - (816) - (816)
-t EERES - Fair value gain on avallable-forsale
AFBkE equity securites - - - - - - 7600 - 7600 - 7600
-HEAELERRES - Release of translation resenve upon
Blap disposal ofinerest i a ointventure - - - - - (23%9) - - (23%9) - (23%9)
~BRELEARRZRAES - Release of translaion reserve upon
B (H40) deemed disposal of nterestin a
Joint venture (note 34(o)) - - - - - (8,706) - - (8,706) - (8,706)
- HERRATERES - Release of trandlation resenve upon
1 R2) disposal of nterestn a
subsidiary (note 351c)) - - - - - (17,031) - - (17,031) (896) (17,921)
KEE2EERLE Total comprehensive loss for the year - - - - - (54,15) 7460 (%2,972) (139.524) (10045) (149569)
ARBETRE Appropriations o statutory reserves - - - - 383 - - (383) - - -
HERRATREEL Release o reerves upon disposal
of a subsidiary - - - - (1.30) - - 130 - - -
RZF-BETZA=1-A At 31 December 2014 167,264 1,770,100 0348 = 151,948 577,25 10,560 172,23 2911725 25,885 2997610
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

BE-Z-RHF+=-A=+—HBLEE For the year ended 31 December 2015

KATRAARREER
Attributable to owners of the Company
e/
i RrER KGR BTERER HERR EXRR AVERR (BtE8) it FERER #g
Retained
Buildings Fair profits/ Non-
Share Share Capital ~ revaluation Statutory Translation value  (Accumulated controlling
capital premium reserve reserve Teserves reserve reserve losses) Sub-total interests Total

Tin Tin Thn Thn Tin Tin Tin Tin Tin Tin Tin
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 KS'000 KS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 KS'000 HK§'000 HKS'000

HZ%-EF-F-B At January 2015
(B%27) (originally stated) 167,264 1,770,100 0388 19961 251,948 581,943 10,560 170,848 2994972 2631 3021344
S3HHRE (b3 Change in accounting polcy (note 3(i) - - - (19.961) - (4,697) - 1405 3 (487) 3734
W-E-Z5-A-R(BEZ)  At1January 2015 (restated) 167,264 1,770,100 038 - 251,048 577,252 10,560 172,253 2911,725 25,885 2,997,610
ZE-REVERRY: Changes n equit for 2015:
LERER Loss for the year - - - - - - - (256,650) (256,650) (10,968) (267,618)
A2 (F8) /i Other comprehensive (loss)/income,
NKERERENERE et of nil tax and redlassifcation
adjustments
-BESNEREERRL - Bxchange diferences on tranlaton
EjER of financial tatements
of foreign operations - - - - - (171,828) - - (171,828) (1,192) (173,020)
-t ERERS - Fair value gain on avalable-for sale
LFENE quity securites - - - - - - 18931 - 18931 - 18931
~HETHLEERIFNTE - Releaseof farvalue reserve upon
- disposal of avalable-forsale
equity securities - - - - - - (29,491) - (29,491) - (29.491)
AEER2AERAE Total comprehensive loss for the year - - - - - (171,828) (10,560) (256,650) (839.038) (12,160) (451,198)
BR (1) Rightsste of shars noe 311 66906 358 - - - - = - LR - sk
RREH AR Transacton coss attibutable t isue
RS (H31(0) of new ordinary shares from
rights isues {note 31(b) - (11302) - - - - - - 3 - m3n
R=2-1F+ZA=1-R At 31 December 2015 BLIT0 2,093,306 038 - 251948 40544 - (84.397) 292,799 13725 2,936,524

ES6EE183E 2 MBSz EF —50 - The notes on pages 56 to 183 form part of these financial

statements.



Annual Report 2015 F4§

mOREMER

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

BE-_F-RFT=-A=1+—ALHFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

—B-4fF —E-mEF
2015 2014
B & FHET FiBT
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
(BEEF)
(Restated)
RETH Operating activities
KR A E 18 Loss before taxation (264,083) (98,622)
ARIER - Adjustments for:
B 75 B AR Finance costs 8(a) 1,436 3,337
FEHA Interest income 6 (5,600) (6,098)
Mz - BERFZAE Depreciation of property,
ZITE plant and equipment 8(c) 78,443 75,975
AN TIERN T Amortisation of prepaid lease payments
T 2 8 on land under operating leases 8(c) 4,511 4,791
JE W BR 50 2 R (B 5 48 Impairment loss on trade receivables 7 1,686 10,030
H it UK 2 R E &8 Impairment loss on other receivables 7 191 253
JRE W2 BR 5% 2 R (B 5 18 Reversal of impairment loss
[0l on trade receivables 7 (10,146) (6,305)
Hth EU K 2 R B B 18 Reversal of impairment loss
o on other receivables 7 (224) (124)
At EERE S Gain on disposal of available-for-sale
Z W= equity securities 7 (29,491) =
PEEErE 2 W Gain on disposal of a joint venture = (11,974)
WHRIELHESE SR Gain on deemed disposal of interest
s 2 Was in a joint venture 34(b) = (2,750)
HEBEMNBLRER Gain on bargain purchase of interest
Z Wz in a subsidiary 34(c) = (24,225)
HEKE ARz K Gain on disposal of a subsidiary 35(c) = (77,379)
FE bR Write down of inventories 24(b) 86,223 121,929
7 & Bk 5 [ Reversal of write down of inventories 24(b) = (9,684)
ME - HEREEZ Impairment loss on property,
AR plant and equipment 17(iii) 94,916 =
EERAIE RN i Impairment loss on prepaid lease payments
e 2 BEEE on land under operating leases 184(ii) 14,753 =
BEBPFRRMNZHE Share of profits of joint ventures - (2,583)
(27,385) (23,429)
EEESHD Changes in working capital
FERD/(Em) Decrease/(increase) in inventories 22,463 (967)
JEURBR N H it BULFUR 4> Decrease in trade and other receivables 6,869 66,733
TR RRIB R iR & 18 0 Increase in prepayments and deposits (369,721) (10,535)
FE S BR R % B R Increase/(decrease) in trade and bills
#n,/ CRd) payables 83,266 (77,935)
JE 5T R I8 B H A & < 3K (Decrease)/increase in accruals
G ) /#n and other payables (12,251) 7,533
[ & E FRIB AN Increase in amounts due to directors 623 762
KEFRNRES Cash used in operations (296,136) (37,838)
REIFTER Income tax refunded 30(a) 1,624 -
EfFEE Income tax paid 30(a) (3,493) (4,663)
KRETEFERANRSFE Net cash used in operating activities (298,005) (42,501)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

BZ-F-AF+=-A=1+—RALHFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

—E-AE —HF
2015 2014
B FHET FBT
Note HK$' 000 HK$'000
(BEF)
(Restated)
REEE Investing activities
S2BR I $R 17 17 518 0 Increase in restricted bank deposits (34,067) (3,296)
BEVE BERZE Purchase of property, plant and equipment (8,893) (70,124)
HE R EEmE S Proceeds from disposal of
FT{S 5/ 1A available-for-sale equity securities 22 36,211 =
B E Interest received 5,600 6,098
g @A a2 Net cash outflows on acquisition
e FE of a subsidiary 34(d) = (11,162)
EEECEMSHE Proceeds from disposal of a joint venture 21 = 71,300
HEMRBARIZERS Net cash inflows on disposal of
mMAAERR a subsidiary 35(d) - 161,701
REZE (ER) FiB Net cash (used in)/generated
WIREFE from investing activities (1,149) 154,517
MEEE Financing activities
AR 2 PS5/ I8 Proceeds from rights issue of shares 31(b) 401,434 =
SRR BT L A Payment for transaction costs attributable
B 19 2 2 5 Bk AR to issue of new ordinary shares
from rights issue 31(b) (11,322) -
I IRITEE Z TSR Proceeds from new bank borrowings 71,919 =
BERITER Repayment of bank borrowings (73,346) (85,068)
2R FE Interest paid (1,436) (3,337)
BMEEEFE, (ER) Net cash generated from/(used in)
WEEFE financing activities 387,249 (88,405)
ReRkBESEHEER Net increase in cash and cash
B EE equivalents 88,095 23,611
FURERASEEER Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of the year 1,386,003 1,369,054
EREH s wE Effect of changes in exchange rate (77,733) (6,662)
FERBEeRAELEEHER Cash and cash equivalents at
end of the year 28 1,396,365 1,386,003

F56 A E 1838 Z MBI MR E P — & 1D

statements.

The notes on pages 56 to 183 form part of these financial
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE=

F—HF+=-HA=1+—ALFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

—RER
RERTERERABR(TARAE]) RAE
ﬁ%?ﬁﬁ}ﬂiiﬁ*?ﬂg%ﬁaﬁ’ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁfg
A HROREBEERSMARA R ([
R Lo ARBIAMMEEREEEHE
255 Bl ACricket Square, Hutchins Drive,
P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands &z 2 A RAH£AE ([ E )
IEEEHEMT &iE -

RARZEBERSRAIREEERALTAYY
Holdings Limited ([YY Holdings]) @ #% 2 &
RIEE R L BB ML © YY Holdings it £
BAAERBALERAZTBRE -

ARBREMBAR (WA AEE]) RE
SUERIHE ﬁﬁi?uu(aﬁ-ﬁ NEE M) Rt K

Em(BERRREERMED) ARIKERE
A& o

AiEREMBRERAB T (ET])JR - B
RRAREREBEL 2B AR 28
B - MARR R B2 KERE 2T

E?ﬁ@‘ﬁ/\ﬁ?ﬁ%(f}\ﬁ?ﬁ%b ARBEES
BA RN RERARERE M BERR
DA&FEUYY Holdings (KX Ihae E# M AB L)
WEME MBI TERUBHRRERF

=i

GENERAL

China Rare Earth Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability and its shares are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The
addresses of the Company’s registered office and principal
place of business are Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O.
Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, the Cayman Islands and
Dingshu Town, Yixing City, Jiangsu Province, the People’s

Republic of China (the “PRC"), respectively.

The immediate parent and the ultimate controlling party of the
Company is YY Holdings Limited (“YY Holdings”), which was
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. YY Holdings does not

produce financial statements available for public use.

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Group”) are engaged in manufacturing and sales of rare
earth products (including fluorescent products) and refractory
products (including high temperature ceramics products and

magnesium grains), and investment holding.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is the functional currency of
the Company and its subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong,
while the functional currency of the Company’s subsidiaries
established in the PRC is Renminbi (“RMB"). The directors
of the Company consider that presenting the consolidated
financial statements in Hong Kong dollars is preferable when
controlling and monitoring the performance and financial
position of the Group and in reporting to YY Holdings whose

functional currency is also Hong Kong dollars.
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B 5 ¥R % B 5E
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BZ-F-AF+=-A=1+—RALHFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

a)

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term
includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASs") and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong
and the applicable disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance (“CQO"). These financial
statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). A summary
of the significant accounting policies adopted by the

Group is set out below.

The provisions of the new Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622) regarding preparation of accounts
and directors’ reports and audits became effective for
the Company for the financial year ended 31 December
2015. Further, the disclosure requirements set out
in the Listing Rules regarding annual accounts have
been amended with reference to the new CO and to
streamline with HKFRSs. Accordingly, the presentation
and disclosure of information in these financial
statements for the financial year ended 31 December
2015 have been changed to comply with these new
requirements. Comparative information in respect of the
financial year ended 31 December 2014 are presented
or disclosed in these financial statements based on the
new requirements. Information previously required to be
disclosed under the predecessor CO or the Listing Rules
but not under the new CO or amended Listing Rules are

not disclosed in these financial statements.



Annual Report 2015 F4§

B 5 ¥k & Bt 5E

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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F—HF+=-HA=1+—ALFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

FTESHBE M)

a)

b)

BIBHGE)

EEEHMAGTHME TH RE
BRIz BBHBREED  AREL
BAEE /A S 5t 5 R £ ks A
HIRATIRA - AR L EAZEER
85 & 5 B T 2 B 2 AR A
3R A ZEERIR L SEH B RE
iR zBEAERBESHHMERE
EEBEARR -

BRBREREE
BE-_Z-AFt_A=1t—HL#F

E2EAMBRROEALTREM
BAF -
BTG S E R (RN R T

X B A 3 2 3 B 5
UM BRI A2 EERBE
EARAE -

RENENSBTEMBREER 28
BHRRFEZEEEHELHE - B R
e - M FHE - At hBReEFE
BRZEARMERCEE  AfF K
ALRXEHRE ZEhFAREER
ROBBBELRNEREBHENZ
FBERTHBAEZRAEMEARS
EEMEL  MEERBREEE
BRI RBECEMRRMSHNEER
BEZEEEMELGEZEE-B
BREFRE A RN ETF -

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

a)

b)

Statement of compliance (Continued)

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs
that are first effective or available for early adoption
for the current accounting period of the Group. Note
3 provides information on any changes in accounting
policies resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to
the Group for the current and prior accounting periods

reflected in these financial statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2015 comprise the Company and its

subsidiaries.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis, except
that the available-for-sale equity securities are stated at
their fair value as explained in the accounting policies set

out below (see note 2(f)).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application
of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
income and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making judgements about the carrying values
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ from these

estimates.
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B 5 ¥R % B 5E
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BZ-F-AF+=-A=1+—RALHFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

b)

)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
(Continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision

affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application
of HKFRSs that have a significant effect on the financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty

are discussed in note 4.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the entity. When assessing whether the
Group has power, only substantive rights (held by the

Group and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that
control commences until the date that control ceases.
Intra-group balances, transactions and cash flows and any
unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions
are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting from
intra-group transactions are eliminated in the same way
as unrealised gains but only to the extent that there is no

evidence of impairment.
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BE-_F-RFT=-A=1+—ALHFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

2.
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2(f)) 3 (B ) 115 RN E R A
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

<)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (Continued)
Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has not
agreed any additional terms with the holders of those
interests which would result in the Group as a whole
having a contractual obligation in respect of those
interests that meets the definition of a financial liability.
For each business combination, the Group can elect to
measure any non-controlling interests either at fair value
or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of

the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position within
equity, separately from equity attributable to owners of
the Company. Non-controlling interests in the results of
the Group are presented on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as an allocation of the total profit or loss and
total comprehensive income for the year between non-
controlling interests and owners of the Company.
Loans from holders of non-controlling interests and
other contractual obligations towards these holders
are presented as financial liabilities in the consolidated
statement of financial position in accordance with notes

2(m) or 2(n) depending on the nature of the liability.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that
subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised
in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is recognised
at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair value
on initial recognition of a financial asset (see note 2(f))
or, when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of
an investment in an associate or a joint venture (see note
2(d)).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BZ-F-AF+=-A=1+—RALHFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

)

d)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (Continued)
In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any

impairment losses (see note 2(j)).

Joint ventures

A joint venture is an arrangement whereby the Group
and other parties contractually agree to share control of
the arrangement, and have rights to the net assets of the

arrangement.

An investment in a joint venture is accounted for in
the consolidated financial statements under the equity
method, unless it is classified as held for sale (or included
in a disposal group that is classified as held for sale).
Under the equity method, the investment is initially
recorded at cost, adjusted for any excess of the Group’s
share of the acquisition-date fair values of the investee’s
identifiable net assets over the cost of the investment
(if any). Thereafter, the investment is adjusted for the
post acquisition change in the Group's share of the
investee’s net assets and any impairment loss relating to
the investment (see note 2(j)). Any acquisition-date excess
over cost, the Group's share of the post-acquisition,
post-tax results of the investees and any impairment
losses for the year are recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, whereas the Group’s share of
the post-acquisition post-tax items of the investees’ other
comprehensive income is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income.
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BE-_F-RFT=-A=1+—ALHFE For the year ended 31 December 2015
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

d)

Joint ventures (Continued)

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest
in the joint venture, the Group’s interest is reduced
to nil and recognition of further losses is discontinued
except to the extent that the Group has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf
of the investee. For this purpose, the Group’s interest is
the carrying amount of the investment under the equity
method together with the Group's long-term interests
that in substance form part of the Group's net investment

in the joint venture.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its joint venture are eliminated
to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee,
except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred, in which case they

are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

If an investment in a joint venture becomes an investment
in an associate, retained interest is not remeasured.
Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for

under the equity method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have joint
control over a joint venture, it is accounted for as a
disposal of the entire interest in that investee, with a
resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.
Any interest retained in that former investee at the date
when joint control is lost is recognised at fair value
and this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial

recognition of a financial asset (see note 2(f)).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BZ-F-AF+=-A=1+—RALHFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
e)(i) Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values
of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are

generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair

values, except that:

o a deferred tax asset or liability arising from the
assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business
combination and the potential tax effects of
temporary differences and carryforwards of an
acquiree that exist at the acquisition date or arise
as a result of the acquisition are recognised and
measured in accordance with HKAS 12 “Income

Taxes"”;

e  assets or liabilities relating to employee benefit
arrangements are recognised and measured in

accordance with HKAS 19 “Employee Benefits”;

e liabilities or equity instruments related to share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree or
share-based payment arrangements of the Group
entered into to replace share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree are measured in
accordance with HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment” at
the acquisition date; and
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
e)(i) Business combinations (Continued)

J assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held
for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations”

are measured in accordance with that Standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value
of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed. If, after re-assessment, the net of
the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of
the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if
any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss

as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation
may be initially measured either at fair value or at the
non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on a
transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-
controlling interests are measured at their fair value or,

when applicable, on the basis specified in another HKFRS.
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Where the consideration transferred by the Group in a
business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting
from a contingent consideration arrangement, the
contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-
date fair value and included as part of the consideration
transferred in a business combination. Changes in the
fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify
as measurement period adjustments are adjusted
retrospectively, with the corresponding adjustments
against goodwill. Measurement period adjustments
are adjustments that arise from additional information
obtained during the “measurement period” (which
cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about
facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition
date.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value
of the contingent consideration that do not qualify
as measurement period adjustments depends on how
the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured
at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent
consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is
remeasured at subsequent reporting dates in accordance
with HKAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement”, with the corresponding gain or loss being

recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group's previously held equity interest in the acquiree
is remeasured to its acquisition date fair value and the
resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or
loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree
prior to the acquisition date that have previously been
recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified
to profit or loss where such treatment would be

appropriate if that interest were disposed of.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
e)(i) Business combinations (Continued)

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which
the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional
amounts for the items for which the accounting is
incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
during the measurement period (see above), or additional
assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new
information obtained about facts and circumstances that
existed at the acquisition date that, if known, would have

affected the amounts recognised at that date.

e)(ii) Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried
at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the

business less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units
(or groups of cash-generating units) that is expected to

benefit from the synergies of the combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more
frequently whenever there is an indication that the unit
may be impaired. If some or all of the goodwill allocated
to a cash-generating unit was acquired in a business
combination during the current annual period, that unit
shall be tested for impairment before the end of the
current annual period. If the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to
the other assets of the unit pro rata based on the carrying
amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss
for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in

subsequent periods.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
e)(ii) Goodwill (Continued)

f)

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the
attributable amount of goodwill is included in the

determination of the profit or loss on disposal.

Other investments in equity securities
The Group's and the Company’s policies for investments
in equity securities, other than investments in subsidiaries

and joint ventures, are as follows:

Investments in equity securities are initially stated at
fair value, which is their transaction price unless it is
determined that the fair value at initial recognition
differs from the transaction price and that fair value
is evidenced by a quoted price in an active market for
an identical assets or liability or based on a valuation
technique that uses only data from observable markets.
Cost includes attributable transaction costs, except
where indicated otherwise below. These investments are
subsequently accounted for as follows, depending on

their classification:

Investments in securities held for trading are classified
as current assets. Any attributable transaction costs are
recognised in profit or loss as incurred. At the end of
each reporting period, the fair value is remeasured with
any resultant gain or loss being recognised in profit or
loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss does
not include any dividends earned on these investments as
these are recognised in accordance with the policies set

out in note 2(s)(iii).
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

f)

9)

Other investments in equity securities (Continued)

Investments in securities which do not fall into securities
held for trading or held-to-maturity securities are
classified as available-for-sale securities. At the end of
each reporting period, the fair value is remeasured with
any resultant gain or loss being recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in
equity in the fair value reserve. As an exception to this,
investments in equity securities that do not have a quoted
price in an active market for an identical instrument and
whose fair value cannot otherwise be reliably measured
are recognised in the statement of financial position
at cost less impairment losses (see note 2(j)). Dividend
income from equity securities are recognised in profit or
loss in accordance with the policies set out in note 2(s)

(iii).

When the investments are derecognised or impaired
(see note 2(j)), the cumulative gain or loss recognised
in equity is reclassified to profit or loss. Investments are
recognised/derecognised on the date the Group commits

to purchase/sell the investments or they expire.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated

impairment losses (see note 2(j)).

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant and
equipment includes the cost of materials, direct labour,
the initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs of
dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site
on which they are located, and an appropriate proportion
of production overheads and borrowing costs (see note

2(u)).



Annual Report 2015 £

2. EREFEHE®S)

9)

M BERRE ()
WESAHENE BERRBEBM
EEzWaEHER  HAHEMSHK
HEERBRRAECZREE ¥
MBSk & A ENERER -

ME BEEKRERBZFEDER
HARRE T A E A 62 A 4 B
HRAMER ST RS EE(MA)

- FEERZzETF 20%F
- HMRREE 104
- WAEREREE 54
- A= 54

E-EVE BEARXEIEHBNE
TRMAERFEH  LHBZBHZ
RAERZGEERDE  MEHH
HIEERIFTE BEZAERFHR
HRAREEWA) @BFETRA -

ERTIZEEZAMEFLENYE
BN RE BRERARRFREESR
(mA) 518k (REE2()) - RABIEE
FTRERK BERRBRRARE
Bl KRAANBAKEZEE
ERERRMELNFNSER -2
TEBEAREERR KA A EHR
ERENTGFRITE -FHEER
FRERGRE  ZENASHEBHEAM
ME - BB RRERR - Wiz £
HBRATE -

B 5 ¥R % B 5E
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BZ-F-AF+=-A=1+—RALHFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

9)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of
an item of property, plant and equipment are determined
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the item and are recognised in

profit or loss on the date of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment, less their estimated
residual value, if any, using the straight-line method over

their estimated useful lives as follows:

-~ Buildings held for own use 20 years
- Machinery and equipment 10 years
- Office equipment and fixtures 5 years
- Motor vehicles 5 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of the item is
allocated on a reasonable basis between the parts and
each part is depreciated separately. Both the useful life
of an asset and its residual value, if any, are reviewed

annually.

Construction-in-progress represents property, plant and
equipment under construction and pending installation
and is stated at cost less accumulated impairment
losses (see note 2(j)), if any. Cost includes the costs of
construction of buildings, the costs of machinery and
equipment and interest charges arising from borrowings
used to finance the acquisition of these assets during
the period of construction or installation and testing.
No provision for depreciation is made on construction-
in-progress until such time as the relevant assets are
completed and are available for their intended use. When
the assets concerned are ready for intended use, the costs
are transferred to other categories of property, plant and
equipment and depreciated in accordance with the policy

as stated above.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

h)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred. Expenditure
on development activities is capitalised if the product
or process is technically and commercially feasible and
the Group has sufficient resources and the intention
to complete development. The expenditure capitalised
includes the costs of materials, direct labour, and an
appropriate proportion of overheads and borrowing
costs, where applicable (see note 2(u)). Capitalised
development costs are stated at cost less accumulated
amortistation and impairment losses (see note 2(j)). Other
development expenditure is recognised as an expense in

the period in which it is incurred.

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group
are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation (where
the estimated useful life is finite) and impairment losses
(see note 2(j)). Expenditure on internally generated
goodwill and brands is recognised as an expense in the

period in which it is incurred.

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
assets’ estimated useful lives. The following intangible
assets with finite useful lives are amortised from the date
they are available for use and their estimated useful lives
are as follows:

— Technical know-how for rare 10 years
earth metal products

Both the period and method of amortisation are reviewed

annually.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

i)

Lease assets

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series
of transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group
determines that the arrangement conveys a right to use
a specific asset or assets for an agreed period of time
in return for a payment or a series of payments. Such
a determination is made based on an evaluation of
the substance of the arrangement and is regardless of

whether the arrangement takes the legal form of a lease.

i) Classification of assets leased to the Group
Assets that are held by the Group under leases
which transfer to the Group substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership are classified as
being held under finance leases. Leases which do
not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the Group are classified as
operating leases except for land held for own use
under an operating lease, the fair value of which
cannot be measured separately from the fair value
of a building situated thereon at the inception of
the lease, is accounted for as being held under a
finance lease, unless the building is also clearly held
under an operating lease. For these purposes, the
inception of the lease is the time that the lease was
first entered into by the Group, or taken over from

the previous lessee.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

i)

Lease assets (Continued)

ii)

jif)

Operating lease charges

Where the Group has the use of assets held under
operating leases, payments made under the leases
are charged to profit or loss in equal instalments
over the accounting periods covered by the lease
term, except where an alternative basis is more
representative of the pattern of benefits to be
derived from the leased assets. Lease incentives
received are recognised in profit or loss as an
integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
made. Contingent rentals are charged to profit
or loss in the accounting period in which they are

incurred.

The cost of acquiring land held under an operating
lease is amortised on a straight-line basis over the

period of the lease term.

Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building
elements, the Group assesses the classification of
each element as a finance or an operating lease
separately based on the assessment as to whether
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of each element have been transferred
to the Group, unless it is clear that both elements
are operating leases in which case the entire lease
is classified as an operating lease. Specifically, the
minimum lease payments (including any lump sum
upfront payments) are allocated between the land
and the building elements in proportion to the
relative fair values of the leasehold interests in the
land element and building element of the lease at

the inception of the lease.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

i)

)

Lease assets (Continued)

iii)

Leasehold land and building (Continued)

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments
can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land that
is accounted for as an operating lease is presented
as "prepaid lease payments on land under operating
leases” in the consolidated statement of financial
position and is amortised over the lease term on a

straight-line basis.

Impairment of assets

i)

Impairment of investments in equity securities and
other receivables

Investments in equity securities and other current
and non-current receivables that are carried at cost
or amortised cost or are classified as available-
for-sale securities are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period to determine whether there
is objective evidence of impairment. Objective
evidence of impairment includes observable data
that comes to the attention of the Group about one

or more of the following loss events:

- significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or

delinquency in interest or principal payments;

- it becoming probable that the debtor will
enter into bankruptcy or other financial

reorganisation;

- significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that

have an adverse effect on the debtor; and

— a significant or prolonged decline in the fair
value of an investment in an equity instrument

below its cost.



Annual Report 2015 F4§

B 5 ¥k & Bt 5E

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE-_F-RFT=-A=1+—ALHFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

2.

FEEHBER M
) AEREE

i)

BmiB 5 REREMENK R
5 (&)

MEEEA LREE  ASEE
RERBEBENAT

- RERMBmERAERIES

ReRaeEbEZRE(R
BiE2(d) - HBEERIR
18 BT EE2() ()R B4R & AT IR
[ & %8 B H R EEFLL BT
/i - REBEEREEE
2 B E2() (i) B /Y AT 4 [
ERRAfhFT IR R BB
B[ o

- BMIREEAEARSRR Z AR AR
FREMEREEMNS @ i
MRV EEN  BIRERS
BhOREEZREAEES
REEREERME (A&
N ERZEEERTELZ
BEBRME) FRZEFREK
RengREAZEZHE:T
B - MIRBHERANEZE
BmEEALFBRURRSE
B LA EER - AR
BRI G ARE - AlFit
EITERA L o KRB
BEZEREEZRKR S
mE - HIREEEEARIE
ERRFBAUZEEZ B
EBBEREL -

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

)

Impairment of assets (Continued)

i)

Impairment of investments in equity securities and
other receivables (Continued)
If any such evidence exists, any impairment loss is

determined and recognised as follows:

—  For investments in joint ventures accounted for
under the equity method in the consolidated
financial statements (see note 2(d)), the
impairment loss is measured by comparing the
recoverable amount of the investment with its
carrying amount in accordance with note 2(j)
(ii). The impairment loss is reversed if there
has been a favourable change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount in

accordance with note 2(j)(ii).

—  For trade receivables and other financial assets
carried at amortised cost, the impairment
loss is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of the estimated future cash flows,
discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest
rate computed at initial recognition of these
assets), where the effect of discounting is
material. This assessment is made collectively
where financial assets carried at amortised cost
share similar risk characteristics, such as similar
past due status, and have not been individually
assessed as impaired. Future cash flows
for financial assets which are assessed for
impairment collectively are based on historical
loss experience for assets with credit risk

characteristics similar to the collective group.
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B 5 ¥ & B 5E

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BZ-F-AF+=-A=1+—RALHFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

)

Impairment of assets (Continued)

i)

Impairment of investments in equity securities and

other receivables (Continued)

If in a subsequent period the amount of an
impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be linked objectively to an event occurring
after the impairment loss was recognised, the
impairment loss is reversed through profit or
loss. A reversal of an impairment loss shall not
result in the asset’s carrying amount exceeding
that which would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised in prior

years.

For available-for-sale equity securities, the
cumulative loss that has been recognised in
the fair value reserve is reclassified to profit or
loss. The amount of the cumulative loss that
is recognised in profit or loss is the difference
between the acquisition cost (net of any
principal repayment and amortisation) and
current fair value, less any impairment loss on
that asset previously recognised in profit or

loss.

Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss
in respect of available-for-sale equity securities
are not reversed through profit or loss. Any
subsequent increase in the fair value of such
assets is recognised in other comprehensive

income.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

)

Impairment of assets (Continued)

i)

Impairment of investments in equity securities and
other receivables (Continued)

Impairment losses are written off against the
corresponding assets directly, except for impairment
losses recognised in respect of trade debtors,
bills receivables and other receivables included
within trade and other receivables, whose recovery
is considered doubtful but not remote. In this
case, the impairment losses for doubtful debts
are recorded using an allowance account. When
the Group is satisfied that recovery is remote,
the amount considered irrecoverable is written
off against trade debtors, bills receivables and
other receivables directly and any amounts held
in the allowance account relating to that debt
are reversed. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously charged to the allowance account are
reversed against the allowance account. Other
changes in the allowance account and subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off directly

are recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BZ-F-AF+=-A=1+—RALHFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
)] Impairment of assets (Continued)

ii)

Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to
identify indications that the following assets may
be impaired or, except in the case of goodwill, an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer

exists or may have decreased:

- goodwill;

—  property, plant and equipment;

-  prepaid lease payments on land under
operating leases;

—  intangible asset;

—  investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s
statement of financial position; and

- other non-current asset.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. In addition, for goodwill,
intangible assets that are not yet available for
use and intangible assets that have indefinite
useful lives, the recoverable amount is estimated
annually whether or not there is any indication of

impairment.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

)

Impairment of assets (Continued)

ii)

Impairment of other assets (Continued)

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. Where an asset does not
generate cash inflows largely independent
of those from other assets, the recoverable
amount is determined for the smallest
group of assets that generates cash inflows

independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or
loss if the carrying amount of an asset, or
the cash-generating unit to which it belongs,
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses recognised in respect of cash-generating
units are allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-
generating unit (or group of units) and then,
to reduce the carrying amount of the other
assets in the unit (or group of units) on a
pro rata basis, except that the carrying value
of an asset will not be reduced below its
individual fair values less costs of disposal (if

measurable), or value in use (if determinable).
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B 5 ¥R % B 5E
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BZ-F-AF+=-A=1+—RALHFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

)

Impairment of assets (Continued)

ii)

iii)

Impairment of other assets (Continued)

—  Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not

reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited
to the asset’s carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals
of impairment losses are credited to profit
or loss in the year in which the reversals are

recognised.

Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Listing Rules, the Group is required to
prepare an interim financial report in compliance
with HKAS 34 “Interim Financial Reporting”, in
respect of the first six months of the financial
year. At the end of the interim period, the Group
applies the same impairment testing, recognition,
and reversal criteria as it would at the end of the

financial year (see notes 2(j)(i) and (ii)).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

)

k)

Impairment of assets (Continued)

jif)

Interim financial reporting and impairment
(Continued)

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period
in respect of goodwill and available-for-sale equity
securities are not reversed in a subsequent period.
This is the case even if no loss, or a smaller loss,
would have been recognised had the impairment
been assessed only at the end of the financial year
to which the interim period relates. Consequently,
if the fair value of an available-for-sale equity
securities increase in the remainder of the annual
period, or in any other period subsequently, the
increase is recognised in other comprehensive

income and not profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net

realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost

formula and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of

conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the

inventories to their present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the

ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of

completion and the estimated costs necessary to make

the sale.
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BZ-F-AF+=-A=1+—RALHFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

k)

m)

Inventories (Continued)

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in
which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of
any write down of inventories to net realisable value and
all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in
the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount
of any reversal of any write-down of inventories is
recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories
recognised as an expense in the period in which the

reversal occurs.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised
at fair value and thereafter stated at amortised cost
using the effective interest method less allowance for
impairment of doubtful debts (see note 2(j)), except
where the receivables are interest-free loans made to
related parties without any fixed repayment terms or
the effect of discounting would be immaterial. In such
cases, the receivables are stated at cost less allowance for

impairment of doubtful debts.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at
fair value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent
to initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are
stated at amortised cost with any difference between
the amount initially recognised and redemption value
being recognised in profit or loss over the period of the
borrowings, together with any interest and fees payable,

using the effective interest method.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

n)

0)

p)

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value. Except for financial guarantee liabilities measured
in accordance with note 2(r)(i), trade and other payables
are subsequently stated at amortised cost unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case

they are stated at cost.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, having been within three months of maturity
at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’'s cash
management are also included as a component of cash
and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated

statement of cash flows.

Employee benefits

i) Short-term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans
Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement
plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits are
accrued in the year in which the associated services
are rendered by employees. Where payment or
settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present

values.
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B 5 ¥R % B 5E
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BZ-F-AF+=-A=1+—RALHFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

p)

Employee benefits (Continued)

ii)

Share based payments

The fair value of share options granted to
employees is recognised as an employee cost with
a corresponding increase in a share option reserve
within equity. Where the employees have to meet
vesting conditions before becoming unconditionally
entitled to the options, the total estimated fair value
of the options is spread over the vesting period,
taking into account the probability that the options

will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share
options that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any
resulting adjustment to the cumulative fair value
recognised in prior years is charged/credited to
profit or loss for the year of the review, unless the
original employee expenses qualify for recognition
as an asset, with a corresponding adjustment to
the share option reserve. On vesting date, the
amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to
reflect the actual number of options that vest (with
a corresponding adjustment to the share option
reserve) except where forfeiture is only due to
not achieving vesting conditions that relate to the
market price of the Company’s shares. The equity
amount is recognised in the share option reserve
until either the option is exercised (when it is
included in the amount recognised in share capital
for the shares issued) or the option expires (when
it is released directly to accumulated losses/retained

profits).
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

9)

q)

Employee benefits (Continued)

iii)  Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier
of when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits and when it recognises
restructuring costs involving the payment of

termination benefits.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities
are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that
they relate to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case the relevant
amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive

income or directly in equity respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period,
and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous

years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being
the differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their
tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax

losses and unused tax credits.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BZ-F-AF+=-A=1+—RALHFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

a)

Income tax (Continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal
of existing taxable temporary differences, provided those
differences relate to the same taxation authority and
the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse
either in the same period as the expected reversal of
the deductible temporary differences or in periods into
which a tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset can
be carried back or forward. The same criteria are adopted
when determining whether existing taxable temporary
differences support the recognition of deferred tax assets
arising from unused tax losses and credits, that is, those
differences are taken into account if they relate to the
same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and
are expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in which

the tax loss or credit can be utilised.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

a)

Income tax (Continued)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the
initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither
accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not part
of a business combination), and temporary differences
relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that,
in the case of taxable differences, the Group controls
the timing of the reversal and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or
in the case of deductible differences, unless it is probable

that they will reverse in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based
on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of
the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not

discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and is reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow the related tax benefit to
be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent
that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits

will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution
of dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the

related dividends is recognised.
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B 5 ¥R % B 5E
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BZ-F-AF+=-A=1+—RALHFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

a)

Income tax (Continued)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset
against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets
against deferred tax liabilities, if the Group has the
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the following additional

conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities,
the Group intends either to settle on a net basis,
or to realise the asset and settle the liability

simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities,
if they relate to income taxes levied by the same

taxation authority on either:

—  the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each
future period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to
be settled or recovered, intend to realise the
current tax assets and settle the current tax
liabilities on a net basis or realise and settle

simultaneously.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

r)

Financial guarantees issued, provisions and

contingent liabilities

(i)

Financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require
the issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make specified
payments to reimburse the beneficiary of the
guarantee (the “holder”) for a loss the holder incurs
because a specified debtor fails to make payment
when due in accordance with the terms of a debt

instrument.

Where the Group issues a financial guarantee, the
fair value of the guarantee is initially recognised as
deferred income within trade and other payables.
The fair value of financial guarantees issued at the
time of issuance is determined by reference to fees
charged in an arm’s length transaction for similar
services, when such information is obtainable, or
is otherwise estimated by reference to interest rate
differentials, by comparing the actual rates charged
by lenders when the guarantee is made available
with the estimated rates that lenders would have
charged, had the guarantees not been available,
where reliable estimates of such information can be
made. Where consideration is received or receivable
for the issuance of the guarantee, the consideration
is recognised in accordance with the Group's
policies applicable to that category of asset. Where
no such consideration is received or receivable, an
immediate expense is recognised in profit or loss on

initial recognition of any deferred income.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

r)

Financial guarantees issued, provisions and

contingent liabilities (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Financial guarantees issued (Continued)

The amount of the guarantee initially recognised
as deferred income is amortised in profit or loss
over the term of the guarantee as income from
financial guarantees issued. In addition, provisions
are recognised in accordance with note 2(r)(ii) if
and when (i) it becomes probable that the holder of
the guarantee will call upon the Group under the
guarantee, and (ii) the amount of that claim on the
Group is expected to exceed the amount currently
carried in trade and other payables in respect of that
guarantee (i.e. the amount initially recognised less

accumulated amortisation).

Other provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of
uncertain timing or amount when the Group
has a legal or constructive obligation arising as
a result of a past event, it is probable that an
outflow of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be
made. Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the

expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the amount
cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is

remote.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

s)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration

received or receivable. Provided it is probable that the

economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue

and costs, if applicable, can be measured reliably, revenue

is recognised in profit or loss as follows:

i)

fii)

Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when goods are delivered
at the customers’ premises which is taken to be
the point in time when the customer has accepted
the goods and the related risks and rewards of
ownership. Revenue excludes value added and other
sales taxes and is after deduction of any goods

returns and trade discounts.

Interest income
Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the

effective interest method.

Dividend income
Dividend income from unlisted investments is
recognised when the shareholder’s right to receive

payment is established.

Dividend income from listed investments is
recognised when the share price of the investment

goes ex-dividend.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

t)

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit

or |oss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates. Non-monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair
value are translated using the foreign exchange rates

ruling at the dates the fair value was determined.

The results of foreign operations are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates approximating
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the
transactions. Statement of financial position items,
including goodwill arising on consolidation of foreign
operations acquired on or after 1 January 2005, are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the closing foreign
exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting period.
The resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated separately
in equity in the translation reserve. Goodwill arising on
consolidation of a foreign operation acquired before 1
January 2005 is translated at the foreign exchange rate
that applied at the date of acquisition of the foreign

operation.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative
amount of the exchange differences relating to that
foreign operation is reclassified from equity to profit or

loss when the profit or loss on disposal is recognised.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

u)

V)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready
for its intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in

the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost
of a qualifying asset commences when expenditure for
the asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being
incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare
the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress.
Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or ceases
when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are

interrupted or complete.

Related parties
(@) A person, or a close member of that person’s family,

is related to the Group if that person:

i) has control or joint control over the Group;

i) has significant influence over the Group; or

iii) is a member of the key management personnel

of the Group or the Group's parent.
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BZ-F-AF+=-A=1+—RALHFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
v) Related parties (Continued)

(b)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the

following conditions applies:

iii)

vi)

vii)

viii)

The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the

other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same

third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third

entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the

Group or an entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by

a person identified in note 2(v)(a).

A person identified in note 2(v)(a)(i) has
significant influence over the entity or is a
member of the key management personnel of

the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the

Group's parent.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

V)

w)

Related parties (Continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the

entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements,
are identified from the financial information provided
regularly to the Group’s chief operating decision maker
for the purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing
the performance of, the Group'’s various lines of business

and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type or
class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are
not individually material may be aggregated if they share

a majority of these criteria.
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3. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(i)

Adoption of new and revised HKFRSs
The HKICPA has issued the following amendments to
HKFRSs that are first effective for the current accounting
period of the Group:
Amendments to HKAS 19 Employee Benefits: Defined
Benefit Plans: Employee
Contributions
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2011-2013 Cycle

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year has had no material impact on the Group's
financial performance and positions for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these

financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 19 “Employee Benefits: Defined
Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions”

The amendments introduce a relief to reduce the
complexity of accounting for certain contributions from
employees or third parties under defined benefit plans.
When the contributions are eligible for the practical
expedient provided by the amendments, a company is
allowed to recognise the contributions as a reduction of
the service cost in the period in which the related service
is rendered, instead of including them in calculating the
defined benefit obligation. The amendments do not have
an impact on these financial statements as the Group

does not operate any defined benefit plans.
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3.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Adoption of new and revised HKFRSs (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs “Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle and 2011-2013 Cycle”

These two cycles of annual improvements contain
amendments to nine standards with consequential
amendments to other standards. Among them, HKAS
24 "Related Party Disclosures” has been amended to

expand the definition of a “related party” to include
a management entity that provides key management
personnel services to the reporting entity, and to require
the disclosure of the amounts incurred for obtaining
the key management personnel services provided by the
management entity. These amendments do not have an
impact on the Group’s related party disclosures as the
Group does not obtain any key management personnel

services from management entities.

Change in accounting policy for buildings held for
own use elected by the Group
In accordance with HKAS 16 “Property, Plant and
Equipment”, buildings held for own use can either be
accounted for using the cost model or the revaluation
model after their initial recognition. The Group accounted
for its buildings held for own use using the revaluation

model in previous years.
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CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(ii)

Change in accounting policy for buildings held for
own use elected by the Group (Continued)

Given the fact that most of the buildings held for own
use held by listed companies in Hong Kong in the
manufacturing industries are accounted for using the cost
model, the Group has decided to align its accounting
policy with the industry practice and stated its buildings
held for own use at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any accumulated impairment losses with effect from
1 January 2015. The Group also applied this change
in accounting policy retrospectively. In addition, the
Group’s buildings held for own use are not expected
to be sold in the normal course of business, instead,
the future economic benefits embodied in the buildings
will be recovered principally through use in the Group’s
operations. In the opinion of directors of the Company,
this change in the accounting policy enables the Group
to provide reliable and more relevant information in the

financial statements about its financial performance.

In assessing this change in accounting policy, the Group
has considered the requirements set out in HKAS 8
“Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates
and Errors”. HKAS 8 specifies that, amongst other things,
for an entity to justify a change in accounting policy that
is not mandatorily required by a new accounting standard
or amendment to an existing accounting standard issued
by the HKICPA, the entity must demonstrate that the
change will result in the financial statements providing
reliable and more relevant information about the effects
of transactions, other events or conditions on the entity’s
financial position, financial performance or cash flows.
The Group is satisfied that this change in accounting
policy is justified by the relevant circumstances and

therefore complies with HKAS 8.
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3.

ENBE2EE (8) 3. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(i) *&EEMEEEBESEFEAEFZE (i) Change in accounting policy for buildings held for
STHERRE (8) own use elected by the Group (Continued)
I EA R RS R E Summary of the effect of the above change in accounting
policy
EXFiiBERFIES BT 25T EOR The financial impact of the change in accounting policy
FEHEARNRNR_ZT—NFE—H—H for buildings held for own use as described above on the
F—E-—NWE+-_A=t—B2&HA Group’s consolidated statement of financial position as at
HERARARAEBRHE-_Z—N 1 January 2014 and 31 December 2014, and the Group’s
F+ZA=+—HALFEZ&HEER consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated
ERGEERREMEERERZH statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
BREHIIMT : income for the year ended 31 December 2014 are as
follows:
BHBREE
RE250 258 ENDE 2E3l
Impact
As of change in
previously accounting
reported policy Reclassification As restated
THET THET TET THET
HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
BE-z-—mE Consolidated statement of
+ZA=t+-HL profit or loss for the year
FEZREBRER ended 31 December 2014
A Revenue 1,183,786 — - 1,183,786
HEKA Cost of sales (1,297,045) 4,713 - (1,292,332)
EY Gross loss (113,259) 4,713 = (108,546)
Het A Other income 6,098 - - 6,098
HERDHER Selling and distribution expenses (46,194) = = (46,194)
EEE M Administrative expenses (81,951) = 3,854 (78,097)
HESECEER Gain on disposal of interest in
A E a joint venture 11,974 = = 11,974
WRIEHES & Gain on deemed disposal of
¥R IS interest in a joint venture 2,750 = = 2,750
SEBEMBEAR Gain on bargain purchase of
a2 W interest in a subsidiary 24,225 - - 24,225
HEMRB ARz WS Gain on disposal of a subsidiary 76,961 418 - 77,379
H a5 E Other net gain 16,397 - (3,854) 12,543
REEKRER Loss from operations (102,999) 5,131 = (97,868)
B AR Finance costs (3,337) = = (3,337)
BECERENZNE Share of profits of joint ventures 2,583 = = 2,583
BR B AT B 18 Loss before taxation (103,753) 5,131 - (98,622)
FiEH i Income tax charge (2,612) (794) - (3,406)
rEERR Loss for the year (106,365) 4,337 - (102,028)
T3 A+ FEfk Loss for the year
rEEFHR: attributable to:
ARREBA Owners of the Company (97,191) 4,219 - (92,972)
R Non-controlling interests (9,174) 118 = (9,056)
(106,365) 4,337 — (102,028)
BRER Loss per share
BN () * Basic and diluted (HK cents)* 4.84 (0.21) = 4.63
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B 5 ¥R % B 5E
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE-Z-RHF+=-A=+—HBLEE For the year ended 31 December 2015

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(ii)

Change in accounting policy for buildings held for
own use elected by the Group (Continued)

Summary of the effect of the above change in accounting
policy (Continued)

# With a review of the financial statements presentation,
impairment loss on trade receivables, impairment loss on
other receivables, reversal of impairment loss on trade
receivables and reversal of impairment loss on other
receivables were reclassified from administrative expenses
to other net gain which would result in a more appropriate
presentation of events or transactions. Accordingly, certain
comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with
the current year's presentation.

* The denominator for the purpose of calculating basic and
diluted loss per share for the year ended 31 December
2014 has been adjusted to reflect the bonus element of
the rights issue in August 2015 on the basis of two rights
shares for every five existing ordinary shares.
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BE-_F-RFT=-A=1+—ALHFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

3. BIEXZ28 @) 3.
(i) *EBREREREFERETZE
AR E (F)

AR BEREE FEYE (F)

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(i) Change in accounting policy for buildings held for
own use elected by the Group (Continued)
Summary of the effect of the above change in accounting

policy (Continued)

B HEREE
REZ25 A2 BE5
Impact
As of change in
previously accounting
reported policy As restated
HK$’000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
THIT T T
Bz-2-M%F Consolidated statement of profit or
+ZA=+-HL loss and other comprehensive
FERGREBER income for the year ended
Hit2EikER 31 December 2014
REEFA Loss for the year (106,365) 4,337 (102,028)
rEEHMEZEER Other comprehensive loss for the
(NBREHERE year (net of nil tax and
2ERR) reclassification adjustments)
IREGRED R R m e Items that may be reclassified
HIEE subsequently to profit or loss:
—REBIMERH R - Exchange differences on translation
ZERES of financial statements
of foreign operations (25,383) 90 (25,293)
—HRERECEMBRE — Exchange differences on translation
ZERER of financial statements
of joint ventures (816) - (816)
—AHHEREES ~ Fair value gain on available-for-sale
AFEWRER equity securities 7,600 - 7,600
—HEAE b EER ~ Release of translation reserve upon
X FERET disposal of interest in a joint
venture (2,399) - (2,399)
- BRELESERE ~ Release of translation reserve upon
BmlE L e deemed disposal of interest in
a joint venture (8,706) - (8,706)
~HEMRB R #ER ~ Release of translation reserve upon
EHEESED disposal of interest in a subsidiary (17,982) 55 (17,927)
(47,686) 145 (47,541)
rEEREBREAE Total comprehensive loss for the year  (154,051) 4,482 (149,569)
TH AL EEREE Total comprehensive loss for the
2HERAE: year attributable to:
AREEEA Owners of the Company (143,883) 4,359 (139,524)
e g Non-controlling interests (10,168) 123 (10,045)
(154,051) 4,482 (149,569)
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BE-Z-RHF+=-A=+—HBLEE For the year ended 31 December 2015

3. BIfEXRZE8 @) 3. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(i) *5EFMEEEEBIEFERAEFZE (i) Change in accounting policy for buildings held for
TR EE (E) own use elected by the Group (Continued)
L EAB S S EE (&) Summary of the effect of the above change in accounting
policy (Continued)
ENRELE
RE251 A% 2E3l
Impact
As of change in
previously accounting
reported policy As restated
HK$' 000 HK$'000 HK$' 000
TET TET TRAT
R-Z-NE-F—H Consolidated statement of financial
ZEEHBRRE position as at 1 January 2014
Mm% - BERERE Property, plant and equipment 490,781 (34,207) 456,574
BERERAE Deferred tax liabilities (6,401) 5,991 (410)
HitBERAE Other assets and liabilities 2,691,015 = 2,691,015
EEFE Net assets 3,175,395 (28,216) 3,147,179
B Share capital 167,264 - 167,264
B fn & (B Share premium 1,770,100 - 1,770,100
BARGEE Capital reserve 22,348 = 22,348
BFEHRE Building revaluation reserve 23,865 (23,865) -
EERE Statutory reserves 258,795 = 258,795
B 5 Translation reserve 636,235 (4,831) 631,404
N ERFE Fair value reserve 2,960 = 2,960
RBEF Retained profits 257,288 1,090 258,378
3,138,855 (27,606) 3,111,249
FERER Non-controlling interests 36,540 (610) 35,930

ERERE Total equity 3,175,395 (28,216) 3,147,179
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BE-_F-RFT=-A=1+—ALHFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

3.

B BE2E (8) 3. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(i) *&EEMEEEBESIEFERAEFZE (i) Change in accounting policy for buildings held for
STEUCR 28 (&) own use elected by the Group (Continued)

FREHBEEDZE

wE (&)

Summary of the effect of the above change in accounting

policy (Continued)

BN BREE
Rx23l A% 2EJ|

Impact

As of change in

previously accounting
reported policy As restated
HK$’000 HK$' 000 HK$’ 000
TET TET THET

R=ZZB-ME+=-F=+—-H Consolidated statement of financial
ZEEHBRRE position as at 31 December 2014

mE - BE k&G Property, plant and equipment 624,116 (28,754) 595,362
EEREEE Deferred tax liabilities (5,982) 5,020 (962)
HttEERBE Other assets and liabilities 2,403,210 = 2,403,210
EEFHE Net assets 3,021,344 (23,734) 2,997,610
R Share capital 167,264 - 167,264
i & E Share premium 1,770,100 - 1,770,100
BRGEE Capital reserve 22,348 - 22,348
EFEfFEE Building revaluation reserve 19,961 (19,961) -
EERE Statutory reserves 251,948 = 251,948
R Translation reserve 581,943 (4,691) 577,252
NEERFE Fair value reserve 10,560 = 10,560
RBEF Retained profits 170,848 1,405 172,253
2,994,972 (23,247) 2,971,725
FERER Non-controlling interests 26,372 (487) 25,885
BRAE Total equity 3,021,344 (23,734) 2,997,610
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B 5 ¥R % B 5E
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BZ-F-AF+=-A=1+—RALHFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

3. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(ii)

Change in accounting policy for buildings held for
own use elected by the Group (Continued)

Summary of the effect of the above change in accounting
policy (Continued)

The change in accounting policy for buildings held for
own use has resulted in decrease of the loss for the year
ended 31 December 2014 attributable to owners of
the Company and the total comprehensive loss for the
year ended 31 December 2014 attributable to owners
of the Company by approximately HK$4,219,000 and
HK$4,359,000, respectively. The basic and diluted
loss per share for the year ended 31 December 2014
is decreased by HKO0.21 cents to HK4.63 cents per
share. The net assets and total equity of the Group
as at 1 January 2014 are decreased by approximately
HK$28,216,000 and HK$28,216,000, respectively.
The net assets and total equity of the Group as at
31 December 2014 are decreased by approximately
HK$23,734,000 and HK$23,734,000, respectively.

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

a)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies
which are described in note 2, management has made
certain key assumptions concerning the future, and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that may have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, as

discussed below.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

(Continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

a)

i)

i)

Useful lives and residual values of property, plant
and equipment and prepaid lease payments on land
under operating leases

Management determines the estimated useful
lives and residual values for the Group’s property,
plant and equipment and prepaid lease payments
on land under operating leases in accordance with
the Group’s accounting policies stated in note 2(g)
and note 2(i) respectively. The Group will revise the
depreciation charge and the amortisation expense
where useful lives and residual values are different
from previous estimates, or will write off or write
down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets

that have been abandoned or sold.

Estimation of impairment of property, plant and
equipment

If circumstances indicate that the carrying value of
an item of the property, plant and equipment may
not be recoverable, the asset may be considered
“impaired”, and an impairment loss may be
recognised in profit or loss in accordance with
the Group’s accounting policy for impairment of
property, plant and equipment as described in
note 2(j)(ii). The carrying amounts of assets are
reviewed periodically in order to assess whether
the recoverable amounts have declined below
the carrying amounts. These assets are tested
for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that their recorded carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. When such
a decline has occurred, the carrying amount is

reduced to recoverable amount.



Annual Report 2015 £

4. BREFHERMGHATREZEZER

R ()

a) fhEFRREMZEZRIER(E)

i)

ME - BERKEREZIGE
(%)

A] Ui [e] & B8 5 A F(E R & AR
HEAEEZREE - BESA
BENK gBEEEFZHEEAR
RASHRENREHRE UE
Z I KT RAS B R AN € B AE
HEARHE - AREBFIFH A A
BEHN (REEREGERE IR
2 A ET A R MmOk R A
KA ZEA)  BETKE
CHEZABIIUSE - S M5t
BN EAERAEEE
BEAFE WAL E BN AR R
2 BBINRE X sk B BUR A o
RZZT—RF+=ZA=+—8"
ME - BELRZHBZEAELY
400,936,000/ 7T (= — U 4F :
595,362,000 L) cHE =T
—AFE+—B=t+—HALFE "
BEREANE BERZEZR
B 518 4994,916,0008 75 (= &
— W &) - FIERMIEE7G)
B -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BZ-F-AF+=-A=1+—RALHFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

a)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

ii)

Estimation of impairment of property, plant and
equipment (Continued)

The recoverable amount is the greater of the fair
value less costs of disposal and the value in use. In
determining the value in use, expected future cash
flows generated by the asset are discounted to their
present value, which requires significant judgement
relating to the level of revenue and amount of
operating costs. The Group uses all readily available
information in determining an amount that is a
reasonable approximation of recoverable amount,
including estimates based on reasonable and
supportable assumptions and projections of the
level of revenue and amount of operation costs.
Changes in these estimates could have a significant
impact on the carrying value of the assets and could
result in additional impairment charge or reversal of
impairment in future periods. As at 31 December
2015, the carrying amount of property, plant and
equipment is approximately HK$400,936,000
(2014: HK$595,362,000). During the year ended
31 December 2015, impairment loss on property,
plant and equipment amounting to approximately
HK$94,916,000 (2014: Nil) was recognised and the

details of which are disclosed in note 17(iii).
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4. BREFHERGEATEREZETER 4
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

a)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

jif)

Estimation of impairment of prepaid lease payments
on land under operating leases

The Group performs annual assessments on
whether there has been impairment of prepaid
lease payments on land under operating leases in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy
stated in note 2(j)(ii). The recoverable amounts
of cash-generating units are determined based
on value in use calculations. These calculations
require the use of estimates and assumptions
made by management on the future operation
of the business, pre-tax discount rates, and
other assumptions underlying the value in use
calculations. As at 31 December 2015, the carrying
amount of prepaid lease payments on land under
operating leases is approximately HK$157,737,000
(2014: HK$187,376,000). During the year ended 31
December 2015, impairment loss on prepaid lease
payments on land under operating leases amounting
to approximately HK$14,753,000 (2014: Nil) was
recognised and the details of which are disclosed in
notes 17(iii) and 18(ii).
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BZ-F-AF+=-A=1+—RALHFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

a)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

iv)

Estimation of impairment of receivables

The policy for recognition of impairment on
receivables is based on the evaluation of
collectibility, ageing analysis of accounts and on
management’s judgement. A considerable amount
of judgement is required in assessing the ultimate
realisation of these receivables, including the current
creditworthiness and the past collection history of
each debtor. If the financial conditions of these
debtors were to deteriorate, resulting in impairment
of their ability to make payments, additional
impairment loss may be required. As at 31
December 2015, the carrying amount of trade and
other receivables is approximately HK$416,580,000
(2014: HK$439,782,000). Details of the impairment
of receivables are disclosed in note 25(c).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

a)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

v)

Net realisable value of inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Net realisable value is determined
on the basis of the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less estimated cost
of completion and the estimated cost necessary
to make the sale. These estimates are based on
the current market conditions and the historical
experience of manufacturing and selling products
of similar nature. The directors of the Company
estimate the net realisable value for inventories
based primarily on the latest invoice prices and
current market conditions. During the year
ended 31 December 2015, the directors of the
Company performed periodic review on a product-
by-product basis and made a write down of its
inventories of approximately HK$86,223,000
(2014: HK$121,929,000). During the year ended
31 December 2014, the directors of the Company
made a reversal of write down of inventories of
approximately HK$9,684,000 (2015: Nil).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BZ-F-AF+=-A=1+—RALHFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

b)

Critical accounting judgements in applying the
Group’s accounting policies

In determining the carrying amounts of certain assets and
liabilities, the Group makes assumptions for the effects of
uncertain future events on those assets and liabilities at
the end of each reporting period. These estimates involve
assumptions about such items as cash flows and discount
rates used. The Group’s estimates and assumptions
are based on historical experience and expectations of
future events and are reviewed periodically. In addition
to assumptions and estimations of future events,
judgements are also made during the process of applying

the Group's accounting policies.

i) Income taxes and deferred taxation
The Group is subject to income tax in Hong Kong
and various taxes in the PRC. Significant judgement
is required in determining the provision for taxation.
There are many transactions and calculations for
which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. The Group
recognises liabilities for anticipated tax issues based
on estimates of whether additional tax will be
due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the income
tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in

which such determination is made.
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4. BREFHERMGEATREZEZER
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

b)

Critical accounting judgements in applying the

Group's accounting policies (Continued)

i)

i)

Income taxes and deferred taxation (Continued)
Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences are recognised as management considers
it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences
or tax losses can be utilised. Where the expectation
is different from the original estimate, such
differences will impact the recognition of deferred
tax assets and tax charge in the periods in which
such estimate is changed. In this regard, the Group
has recognised deferred tax assets of approximately
HK$4,695,000 (2014: HK$5,465,000) as at 31
December 2015.

Withholding tax arising from the distribution of
dividends

The Group’s determination as to whether to accrue
for withholding tax arising from the distribution
of dividends from certain subsidiaries according
to the relevant tax law and regulations is subject
to judgement on the timing of the payment of
dividends. The Group considers that if the profits
of these subsidiaries will not be distributed in the
foreseeable future, then no withholding tax should

be provided.
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5. WA 5. REVENUE
WAERETEFZERHEEBE (TR Revenue represents the sales value of goods supplied to
EEHRREMHEERE)  WHNKREAMRE customers which excludes value-added and other sales

REZHM AERERIBAZEEER

BT :

taxes, and is after deduction of any goods returns and trade

discounts. The amount of each significant category of revenue

recognised during the year is as follows:

—E-IF T
2015 2014
FAT FAT
HK$'000 HK$’ 000

wLEm Sales of rare earth products
(BEXKXER)HE (including fluorescent products) 500,419 842,628

i} A2 dm Sales of refractory products

(RESRBEER (including high temperature ceramics
REW)HE products and magnesium grains) 342,691 341,158
843,110 1,183,786
6. EAMIKA 6. OTHER INCOME

—B-IF T
2015 2014
T FAT
HK$’'000 HK$’ 000
RITFRHE WA Interest income from bank deposits 5,600 6,098
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E-RF+=-A=1+—RALFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

Hft 25 % E 7. OTHER NET GAIN
—E-®HF —E
2015 2014
TET FAET
HK$’'000 HK$' 000
HEREHE#RES 2 W Gain on disposal of available-for-sale
equity securities 29,491 -
PE 5 W & 5 58 Net exchange gain 5,668 16,177
JEWEBR N 2 BB 1B Impairment loss on trade receivables (1,686) (10,030)
H e W3 2 B E B Impairment loss on other receivables (191) (253)
FE U BR X 2 R (B B 1R R Reversal of impairment loss on trade receivables 10,146 6,305
H At JE WK 2 R (B B 1R [ Reversal of impairment loss on other receivables 224 124
HAh Others (369) 220
43,283 12,543
BB ARG R 8. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION
BRERIBEE NG T5&E Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging:
—E-HF —4
2015 2014
FTHERT FHT
HK$' 000 HK$" 000
a) BBRAE a) Finance costs
RITEFAEZ Interest expenses on bank borrowings
(B =E) (note) 1,436 3,337
MeE: REE-_Z—WE+_A=+—HLHF Note: During the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group obtained
B AEEZERWENREB QAR (RHE34 bank borrowings of approximately HK$85,079,000 through
B E) BUS R 1718 B 4985,079,000/8 7T ° acquisition of a subsidiary as disclosed in note 34. The bank
ﬁEﬁ%g&lmiﬂ ) F4.1%%6.9% borrowings carried fixed interest rates ranging from 4.1% to
R WERFABHEE - 6.9% per annum and were repaid in full during that year.
RBE-ZT—AF+-A=+—HL#HF During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group obtained
B AEERGRITEE#X71,919,0007 bank borrowings of approximately HK$71,919,000. The bank
TC o RITEEREEFHELI%E - B borrowings carried fixed interest rate of 4% per annum and were

RERBHREE -

repaid in full during the year.
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8. KRBLAIEGHE (4)

B 5 ¥R % B 5E
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BZ-F-AF+=-A=1+—RALHFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

8. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (Continued)

—E-h8F —ZE—mE
2015 2014
TER FHT
HK$’'000 HK$’ 000
(BEE7F))
(Restated)
b) EIMAK(BIEMEE10 b) Staff costs (including directors’
FrEcEEME)" remuneration in note 10)*
HeRkIA& Salaries and wages 63,249 67,481
R AR ET B 4K Retirement benefits scheme contributions
(BF&E12) (note 12) 6,024 6,953
69,273 74,434
o Hfm\A Other items
1% 25 A B & Auditor’s remuneration
— B %R — audit services 2,950 2,950
— H i iR 7 — other services 525 525
3,475 3,475
FERCA (K =E24(b)) ¥ Cost of inventories (note 24(b))* 943,575 1,292,332
ME - BB K& Depreciation of property, plant
ZITE and equipment? 78,443 75,975
LA TIER T3 Amortisation of prepaid lease payments
TH S on land under operating leases 4,511 4,791
HEMFELENHSE Operating lease charges on rented
X premises’ 2,690 2,723
# BE_ZE—FREt+_A=+—HIFERN b During the year ended 31 December 2015, cost of

GFEXRABEABE IRA « T8 Ki#iHFH
AR ETRLEFH#)115,023,0008 T (=
T —[O4 : 113,141,000 7T) © BEAZIEIN
ERSHEABEIALNBIEEZ B

A o

inventories included approximately HK$115,023,000 (2014:
HK$113,141,000) relating to staff costs, depreciation and
amortisation expenses, and operating lease charges, which
amounts were also included in the respective total amounts
disclosed separately above for each of these types of expenses.
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BE-_F-RFT=-A=1+—ALHFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

9.

a)

GEEBRRAZHABH 9. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF PROFIT OR LOSS

REBRRAZERE a) Income tax in the consolidated statement of profit or loss

represents:

“2-EHF —E-mF

2015 2014

TET FTAET

HK$' 000 HK$' 000

(BEE%)

(Restated)

N E-PELEFTEH  Current tax - PRC Enterprise Income Tax

AN [E B (B 5E30(a)) Provision for the year (note 30(a)) (663) (1,878)
ANEE S BF| 2 TR Withholding tax on unremitted earning
(KF&£30(a)) (note 30(a)) (2,429) -
NEFEREERS Over-provision in prior years
(FI=E30(a)) (note 30(a)) - 308
(3,092) (1,570)
ELERIR Deferred taxation
TREEZREZEER Origination and reversal of temporary
£ 1l (i 3E30(b)) differences (note 30(b)) (443) (1,836)
FTiS it 2 Income tax charge (3,535) (3,406)
AAFIEEMBATSRINESH#HSE The Company and its subsidiaries incorporated in the Cayman
REBRZEETMENH  BIER Islands and the British Virgin Islands respectively are not subject
E2 G ER 288 BB 5 - to any income tax pursuant to the rules and regulations of their
BEBNERTER - respective countries of incorporation.
HRAEEREE T —HF+_-A No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is provided for as the
=t+—HIEEYENESEEH Group has no estimated assessable profits arising in Hong
FEEFHER - B ES BB ERE Kong during the year ended 31 December 2015.

B o
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9. BEBBRAZMED (5

a)

(&)

HRASERBE_Z—HFE+=-A
Zt—BALEFERBEEL MR
A A B RO AT B SRR 2 B
FUtER BB RS TR B -

HE_ZT-—AFR-_Z-—NE+=A
=T—BIEFEAR  HECEMSEHTD
RBEARARRPBEKILZHEARZ
il 51 B SR Bt i R IR 75 € FT 18 7l 325 %
EHE o

FRECERABEHETREE —FFTN
F-A—REPENERRRLEIN
(BRREB) BRIR DR K AR5 %3k
10%7M X AR T ©

BRETPREERBEILBRL B8R
R A B KB BB BR A 8] (1 A
X)) EDBERINERE Z [RFRIE
X UEAEEMREHEISS -
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B EEF AR ERAR (7
B 1) R B AINEIRE 2 [
D% HEARISHHESMETH
TR

B 5 ¥R % B 5E
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BZ-F-AF+=-A=1+—RALHFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

9. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

a)

(Continued)

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is provided for as
the estimated assessable profits of the Group arising in
Hong Kong during the year ended 31 December 2014 are

wholly absorbed by tax losses brought forward.

PRC Enterprise Income Tax is calculated at the statutory
income tax rate of 25% on the estimated assessable
profits of the Company’s subsidiaries established in the
PRC during the years ended 31 December 2015 and
2014.

The PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law also requires
withholding tax of 5% or 10% upon distribution of
profits by the PRC subsidiaries since 1 January 2008 to its

overseas (including Hong Kong) shareholders.

Pursuant to the relevant tax laws and regulations in
the PRC, Yixing Xinwei Leeshing Refractory Materials
Company Limited (“Leeshing Refractory”) is classified as
foreign invested “New and High Technology Enterprises”

and is entitled to a preferential income tax rate of 15%.

Yixing Xinwei Leeshing Rare Earth Company Limited
(“Leeshing Rare Earth”) ceased to be a foreign invested
“New and High Technology Enterprises” during the year
ended 31 December 2015 and subject to the statutory

income tax rate of 25% subsequently.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE-_F-RFT=-A=1+—ALHFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

9. BEBBRAZMED (5

9. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

b) FERITHBESHERZEIZERR b) Reconciliation between income tax charge and
KRETEZHERMOT ¢ accounting loss at applicable tax rates is as follows:
—B-IF —TmE
2015 2014
TR FAT
HK$' 000 HK$' 000
(BE75)
(Restated)
BR A% BT E5 1R Loss before taxation (264,083) (98,622)
B 7 AT B 18 Notional tax on loss before taxation,
BEBBEEER calculated at statutory tax rates
BREEBERGFE applicable to the respective tax
ZBEHIA jurisdictions concerned 69,360 26,459
AAMEH T H 2 B 2E  Tax effect of non-deductible expenses (30,237) (5,468)
SEBERNDE Tax effect of share of profits
BB E of joint ventures = 646
BEZSHRAZREZE Tax effect of non-taxable income 3,138 46,115
RERBBEEE Tax effect of tax losses not recognised
IR E (43,626) (78,718)
A LA ABERBISEIE Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses
2GR E previously not recognised - 6,891
KRB RFBIRK 2 Withholding tax on unremitted earnings
B8 2 B 2 A BE of the Company’s subsidiary established
BN 2 B in the PRC (2,429) =
NEFREEBRS Over-provision in prior years - 308
R B A B Tax effect of tax exemptions granted
BEREIRBEE to PRC subsidiaries 259 361
PS5 3 H Income tax charge (3,535) (3,406)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE-Z-RHF+=-A=+—HBLEE For the year ended 31 December 2015

10. EEM2 10. DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS
BIERREHIE383MER AR (HBRES Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of
MaEER) ROZ2BRBNESHE LT : the CO and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information

about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as follows:

ZE-1f
2015
ESne  He EER BT EUER  AROARER
BNEA st PAGES At
Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefits Share-
Directors’  and benefit-  Discretionary scheme based
fees in-kind bonus  contributions payments Total

T Tz TR TRz TRz Thn
HKS"000 HKS"000 HKS"000 HKS"000 HKS"000 HKS"000

UrES Executive directors
BRERE Mr. Jiang Quanlong - 1430 - - - 1430
Brndnt (i) Ms. Qian Yuanying (note) - 1,984 - - - 1,984
Eimis Mr. Jiang Cainan - 213 - - - 213
- 3,627 - - - 3,627
BUFYTES Independent non-executive
directors
ERERE Mr. Huang Chunhua n - - - - n
RERE Mr. Jin Zhong 4 - - - - 4
T8V 4 Mr. Wang Guozhen 74 - - - - 74
190 - - - - 190

@it Total 190 3,627 - = = 3,817
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE-_F-RFT=-A=1+—ALHFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

10. EEM (&)

10. DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

ZE-pE
2014
EEfe  He RER ML RAER  DRHARR
BN B PAIE @t
Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefits Share-
Directors' and benefit- Discretionary scheme based
fees inkind bonus  contributions payments Total
Tk Tk Tk Tk Tk T
HK$'000 HK$" 000 HK$" 000 HK$" 000 HK$" 000 HK$"000
HiES Executive directors
ERERE Mr. Jiang Quanlong - 1430 - - - 1430
Ernant () Ms. Qian Yuanying (note) - 1,936 - - - 1936
Eimis Mr. Jiang Cainan - 255 - - - 255
- 3,621 - - - 3,621
BUFHTES Independent non-executive
directors
BEEEE Mr. Huang Chunhua 7 - - - - n
PERE Mr. Jin Zhong 46 - - - - 46
T8V 54 Mr. Wang Guozhen 76 - - - - 76
194 - - - - 194
25t Total 194 3,621 - - - 3815

Mie: BITRREIRARAEBITHAS -

HE_Z-—AFER_ZE-—NOF+_H
=+—BILFEA  BESEEAAEE
WEBERMES  ERZBIMAREER
SN A R & B 2 22 ok B I E
REZMEFE BEEEHEXRE

MEEMHE -

Note: Ms. Qian Yuanying is the chief executive of the Company.

During the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014,
no director received any emoluments from the Group as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office. No director has waived or

agreed to waive any emoluments during both years.
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BE-Z-RHF+=-A=+—HBLEE For the year ended 31 December 2015

N BEHFALRSREEAENS 11. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S EMOLUMENTS
() EEEEFAL (i) Five highest paid individuals
HE_Z-—RAF+-_A=+—HILHF During the year ended 31 December 2015, out of the
B AEERRREFALF  HHK five highest paid individuals in the Group, two (2014:
Z(ZBE—NE:=F) AARRES - three) are directors of the Company whose emoluments
HNEAKIE105E - EH=R (=% are disclosed in note 10. The aggregate emoluments in
—NEF WA RaF AT ZME 858 respect of the remaining three (2014: two) highest paid
N individuals are as follows:
—E-hF —ZE—mEF
2015 2014
TER FET
HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
HekEMHES Salaries and other emoluments 2,565 2,038
15 IEAL Discretionary bonus = =
RRTE FET B4R Retirement benefits scheme contributions 66 51
LA B& A7 72 B 1 2 <P 3R Share-based payments = =
2,631 2,089
EHB=ZF(ZZ—UF : WB)R= 5 The emoluments of the remaining three (2014: two)
ATZBENFRTIIEE : highest paid individuals are within the following band:
—B-IF T
2015 2014
A AEL
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
gE : Bands:
Z — 1,000,000/ 7T Nil = HK$1,000,000 1 1
1,000,001% 7t — 1,500,000/ 7  HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 2 1
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE-_F-RFT=-A=1+—ALHFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

1. EEFATIREREEAEMS (8) 11. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT’'S EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

() EEESHAL(E) (i)  Five highest paid individuals (Continued)
BHE-_ZT-—AFR-_ZT-—WNE+=A No emoluments were paid or payable by the Group to
=+ HALEFE AEBELER AN the five highest paid individuals as inducement to join
REa AT XN EMNERBME  (E or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss
A ENE A SR I A AR & B B /) TR of office during the years ended 31 December 2015 and
B sk B BB 12 2014.

(i) BREBAEME (i) Senior management’s emoluments
BENSENTEREEAEZHMEN The emoluments paid or payable to senior management
FR5IEE : are within the following bands:

—2-IfF —TF
2015 2014
AH N ¢
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
£E : Bands:
Z — 1,000,000 7T Nil — HK$1,000,000 5 6
1,000,0017%—1,500,000% 7T HK$1,000,001 - HK$1,500,000 2 1
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12.

13.

EERKER

a0 B A B AR B RGBT - AN BIRA R
Bk 2B AREAEZEBRERNERE
R RE B (—EAEHFRIKSFTE) #
R HABAREEAFENETEDLL ©
EERKENEFZIHEREEKE
BEXN - ZEWBARBREFHZRIN - B
BXNERERE  NMBEBEREEMNERK
BEAN BE—FT—HF+-_A=1t—81t
FE - RIREHEIME T4 735,961,00078 7T
(ZZ— M4 : 6,895,000/ 7T) ° Z &t 24
KA o

AEBE_ZTTEF+_A—HEE 2 HR
s AEEE ([RESTE) - ZatElA
RERFRREE - XEEFTARES

AEEETEALMZTEIHRK - BEZT
—AF+-A=+—HLEFE AEERR
fadat 8l 57 4963,0008 L (Z T — W4 :
58,000 7T) - BN EERANEENE
ENHRZEE UHBUSEASKEERE -

Lt FIRRE -

L)
ARAESTRBRNRE-F 25+
A=+-BILFEZRE (ZF—MEF ) -

B 5 ¥R % B 5E
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BZ-F-AF+=-A=1+—RALHFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

12. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

13.

As stipulated by the relevant rules and regulations in the PRC,
the Company’s subsidiaries established in the PRC are required
to contribute to a state-sponsored retirement plan, which is a
defined contribution pension scheme, for all of their employees
based on certain percentages of the employee’s basic salary.
The state-sponsored retirement plan is responsible for the
entire pension obligations payable to retired employees and
these subsidiaries have no further obligations for the actual
pension payments or other post-retirement benefits beyond the
annual contributions. For the year ended 31 December 2015,
the retirement plan contributions amounted to approximately
HK$5,961,000 (2014: HK$6,895,000). Contributions to the

plan vest immediately.

The Group has participated in Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (“MPF Scheme"”), which is a defined contribution
pension scheme, since 1 December 2000. The Group makes
monthly contributions to the scheme based on certain
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries. For the year ended
31 December 2015, the Group's contributions to the MPF
Scheme were approximately HK$63,000 (2014: HK$58,000).
The assets of the fund are held separately from the Group and
are managed by independent professional fund managers.

Contributions to the scheme vest progressively.

DIVIDENDS
The directors of the Company do not recommend the payment

of a dividend for the year ended 31 December 2015 (2014:
Nil).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE-_F-RFT=-A=1+—ALHFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

14.

BREBR

BREXEE
ARBHEBAZGRERBEIRETIE
BEtE

14.

LOSS PER SHARE
Basic loss per share
The calculation of the basic loss per share to owners of the

Company is based on the following data:

—B-EF —TmF
2015 2014
FHT FAT
HK$’' 000 HK$' 000
(BE&E31)
(Restated)
HAEGRERERE Loss for the year attributable to owners
ZARABER A of the Company for the purpose
(R FEEEE of basic loss per share 256,650 92,972
Number of shares
&1 gt B
—E-HfF —E-mEF
2015 2014
TR T
‘000 000
(B&E5)
(Restated)
SFTEEREAEEZ Weighted average number of ordinary shares
I3 % e 2 15 25 for the purpose of basic loss per share 2,141,900 2,007,172

[i

HEEE_T-NEF+-A=+—RHILEE
ZERERNEBZHSFEEARE  URER
T -RAFN\ARSHEARBAA ARG
MR RAR D 2 B EETHR Z A FE
%o

SREBEER
HRARRARBE-_Z—RAFER-_Z—HF
TZASTHIEFERMYERRTEL
BEHELER AL SRESEERGR
HABEER -

The denominator for the purpose of calculating basic loss per
share for the year ended 31 December 2014 has been adjusted
to reflect the bonus element of the rights issue in August 2015
on the basis of two rights shares for every five existing ordinary

shares.

Diluted loss per share

Diluted loss per share equals to the basic loss per share as the
Company has no potential dilutive ordinary shares outstanding
during the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014.
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B 5 ¥R % B 5E
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BZ-F-AF+=-A=1+—RALHFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

15. SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which
are organised by business lines. On adoption of HKFRS 8
“Operating Segments”, and in a manner consistent with the
way in which information is reported internally to the Chief
Executive Officer, who has been identified as the Group's
chief operating decision maker (“CODM"), for the purposes
of resource allocation and performance assessment, the
Group has presented two reportable segments. No operating
segments have been aggregated to form the following

reportable segments:

Rare earth: Manufacture and sales of rare earth products

(including fluorescent products)

Refractory: Manufacture and sales of refractory products
(including high temperature ceramics products

and magnesium grains)

a) Segment results, assets and liabilities
For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the Group's
CODM monitors the results, assets and liabilities
attributable to each reportable segment on the following

bases:

Segment assets include all tangible and intangible
assets, and current assets with the exception of deferred
tax assets, tax recoverable, unallocated cash and cash
equivalents, and other corporate assets which are
unallocated to an individual reportable segment. Segment
liabilities include trade payables, accruals and other
payables attributable to the manufacturing and sales

activities of the individual segments.
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15. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

a)

Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to sales generated by those
segments and the expenses incurred by those segments
or which otherwise arise from the depreciation or

amortisation of assets attributable to those segments.

The measure used for reporting segment profit/(loss) is
“adjusted profit before interest and taxes” ("”Adjusted
EBIT”). To arrive at the Adjusted EBIT, the Group's
profit/(loss) further adjusted for items not specifically
attributed to an individual reportable segment, such as
interest income, interest expenses and other unallocated

corporate expenses.

In addition to the receiving of segment information
concerning the Adjusted EBIT, the CODM is provided
with segment information concerning revenue (including
inter-segment sales), interest income and expense from
cash balances and borrowings managed directly by the
segments, depreciation, amortisation, impairment losses,
gain on disposal and acquisition of equity interests, share
of results of joint ventures and additions to non-current
segment assets used by the segments in their operations.
Inter-segment sales are priced with reference to prices

charged to external parties for similar orders.
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DEW|E (&) 15. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)
a) DHEE BERAE(E) a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)

EW HERETEREERRARE
NEERRMEIBERAZAEEZ

Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments
as provided to the CODM for the purposes of resource

ROMBEREIN AT allocation and assessment of segment performance for
the year is as follows:
#t itk a3t
Rare earth Refractory Total
“§-1f C-%-mf CE-R1f -0 ZE-1f C-I-[Qf
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
ThR i THR ThT TiEn Thn
HKS' 000 HK$" 000 HK$" 000 HKS$' 000 HK$" 000 HK$' 000
(BE5) (BE5) (BE5)
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
REHIERZHA Revenue from external customers 500,419 842,628 342,691 341,158 843,110 1,183,786
A EERA Inter-segment revenue 35 44 - - 35 44
SHAPUA Reportable segment revenue 500,454 842,672 342,691 341,158 843,145 1,183,830
SRHHB(BR) /8 Reportable seqment (loss)/profit
(4B %eRIT) (Adjusted EBIT) (287,249) (118,844) 4,950 30,823 (282,299) (88,021)
HERA Interest income 2,607 2,801 2825 3,29 5432 6,097
HHRA Finance costs (1,436) (3337) - - (1436) (3337)
% BEREE Depreciation of property,
LiTE plant and equipment (#1,183) (35.923) (37,254) (40,044) (78,437) (75,967)
BERNTRNLTH Amortisation of prepaid lease payments
Hec8H on land under operating leases (2,027) 2. (2,484) (2,570 (@511) (4,791)
WSR2 RERE Impairment loss on trade receivables (1,207) (3,154) (479) 6,876) (1,686) (10,030)
EENFZRERR Impairment loss on other receivables = (18) (191) (235) (191) (253)
BRES 2 ABER Reversal of impairment loss
& on trade receivables 928 172 9,218 6,133 10,146 6,305
HbEURZREER Reversal of impaiment loss
0 on other receivables 160 86 64 38 24 124
% BREREE Impairment loss on property,
LREEE plant and equipment (94,916) - = - (94,916) -
BERNTEMNLHAE  Impairment loss on prepaid lease
LRBEER payments on land under operating leases (14,753) - - - (14,753) -
HEALLEES VNS Gain on disposal of interest
in a joint venture - - - 11,974 - 11,974
WEFHEASOEES  Gainon deemed disposal of interest
b 6 in a joint venture - 2,750 - - - 2750
AERENEAT Gain on bargain purchase
Ba s of interest in a subsidiary - 24,225 = - = 24,205
HEMBAT Wa Gain on disposal of subsidiary - 77,379 - - - 71,319
AEOZ(BR) BRIz Share of (osses)profits of joint ventures
box - (2377) - 4,960 - 2,583
SHAPEE Reportable segment assets 1,885,800  1,837723 1,861,815 1961327 3,747,615 3,799,050
REXRDADEE Additions to non-current segment asses:
R )ES — Property, plant and equipment 1,389 46,271 7,504 23,831 8,893 70,102
E2 R Reportable segment liabilities 675,758 652,391 172,253 174,604 848,011 827,015
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IR (B 15. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)
ERH/BUWA - BRHEE BEERE b) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue,
BZHER profit or loss, assets and liabilities
—E-EF —mF
2015 2014
FEx FET
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
(BE&E%)
(Restated)
UAIA Revenue
Ho A Reportable segment revenue 843,145 1,183,830
thﬁﬁ S EEBA Elimination of inter-segment revenue (35) (44)
tra A Consolidated revenue 843,110 1,183,786
?éﬂ:ﬁﬁﬂﬁ Profit or loss
HKoHBEE Reportable segment loss (282,299) (88,021)
T?hﬁ% 5 50w Fl e 18 Elimination of inter-segment profit or loss = =
REAEEBHIIE P Reportable segment loss derived from
ZERDPEE Group's external customers (282,299) (88,021)
H i A Other income 5,600 6,098
HEMHDEERSS Gain on disposal of available-for-sale
g equity securities 29,491 =
B 75 B AR Finance costs (1,436) (3,337)
AR ERL Unallocated corporate expenses (15,439) (13,362)
RE KR AT EE Consolidated loss before taxation (264,083) (98,622)
BTS2 Income tax charge (3,535) (3,406)
REBRTEER Consolidated loss after taxation (267,618) (102,028)
BE Assets
ERDPEE Reportable segment assets 3,747,615 3,799,050
$il $5 7 3P el FE W 5k 7B Elimination of inter-segment receivables (605,313) (642,897)
3,142,302 3,156,153
AOBEHRERRELEEEE Unallocated cash and cash equivalents 38,693 7,560
ARG EEE Unallocated corporate assets 962 18,222
EEFIBEE Deferred tax assets 4,695 5,465
AU E A Tax recoverable 1,258 3,010
HAEERE Consolidated total assets 3,187,910 3,190,410
=R Liabilities
EROBAE Reportable segment liabilities 848,011 827,015
Jih $5 45 26 R & 15F 3K Elimination of inter-segment payables (605,313) (642,897)
242,698 184,118
RAAMEEEE Unallocated corporate liabilities 5,248 4,744
EERIEA R Deferred tax liabilities 886 962
e IE Tax payable 2,554 2,976
REBEEE Consolidated total liabilities 251,386 192,800
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15. 8|S (5) 15. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)
o HEER ¢) Geographical information
() KEEHINIESZ KA (i) Revenues from external customers
TREHBAAEE KRB HINE The following table sets out information about the
FZWAFEERHER - BF geographical location of the Group's revenues from
et REE R T EmEE S - external customers. The geographical location of

customers is based on the location at which the

goods were delivered.

—E-AHfF —T—F

2015 2014

FTERT FHET

HK$’ 000 HK$' 000

hE (G Eh) The PRC (place of domicile) 616,089 888,541
HO Europe 83,785 67,037
A Japan 73,638 107,237
eS| The United States of America 40,520 61,504
H Others 29,078 59,467
227,021 295,245

843,110 1,183,786
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15. D EBI|E (&)

9]

d)

HEER(E)

(i) HEHFRBHEE
REBZREFRRBDEE  BF
M BEREZE KEROT
BB S HtIEREE
E BRAERMEE-

ZERTERRBDEEIHRUE
TRBO)EEERIELE (L
X BELRRE KEHOTE
Nl ekEMIERDEEM
5) ¢ R B 2 2@ FRE R
(REBEVEERBEMS)ED -
R-ZB-—AFR-_FT-—MNFE+—
A=+—H FMEBEZSEHEFR
HEEHLRPE -

FREXEEFER
AEBERPERIBRREBEES
Z—ME+-—A=+—BLEFEE R
E—a2mIoBEFPZHERNR
236,171,000 7T - RSB A Z
10% 3 A = »

BE_ZT-—AF+_H=1+—HILF
R i Y i PG (=
HEREAEBBAZI0%FHIA L -

15. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

<)

d)

Geographical information (Continued)

(i) Specified non-current assets
The Group's specified non-current assets comprise
property, plant and equipment, prepaid lease
payments on land under operating leases, other

non-current asset, intangible asset and goodwill.

The geographical location of these specified non-
current assets is based on (i) the physical location
of the assets, in the case of property, plant and
equipment, prepaid lease payments on land under
operating leases, and other non-current asset and
(ii) the location of the operation to which they
are allocated, in the case of intangible asset and
goodwill. All these specified non-current assets are
all located in the PRC as at 31 December 2015 and
2014.

Information about major customer

The Group's customer base was diversified and included
only one customer in rare earth segment with whom sales
amounted to approximately HK$236,171,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2014 that amounted to 10% or

more of the Group's revenue.

There was no customer in either rare earth segment or
refractory segment with whom sales amounted to 10%
or more of the Group’s revenue during the year ended 31
December 2015.
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16. B& 16. GOODWILL
FHBIT
HK$'000
AR Cost
R-ZE—ME—-—HF—H At 1 January 2014 242,564
B B A Al R AR IEFE R (P 3E35) Derecognised on disposal of a subsidiary (note 35) (22,310)
EHRER Exchange differences (431)
R-Z—WNME&E+-_A=+—H At 31 December 2014 and 1 January 2015
r=ZF—HRF—H—H 219,823
EHER Exchange differences (4,861)
RZE—RF+=-A=+—H At 31 December 2015 214,962
Z5tRE Accumulated impairment
R-ZE—-—MNE—H—H At 1 January 2014 242,564
HEM B A R R (M 3E35) Eliminated on disposal of a subsidiary (note 35) (22,310)
EH=R Exchange differences (431)
RZZE—WF+-_A=+—8BxK At 31 December 2014 and 1 January 2015
—ZT—h¥—HA—H 219,823
EEHER Exchange differences (4,861)
RZE—RF+=-A=+—H At 31 December 2015 214,962
BRI B Carrying amount
N_E—hER_FT—EF At 31 December 2015 and 2014
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16. B8 (&)
W-Z—HE+=-A=+—8 ' KETHIHK
B F 2 100%MR R A 4 2 79 2 45 IR X
AiBBAEENUKEE B BRI A MR EE
REBEATERERZHE

16. GOODWILL (Continued)
As at 31 December 2015, the goodwill arising from the
acquisition of 100% equity interests in the following
subsidiaries represented the excess of the cost of acquisition
over the Group's interest in the fair value of the identifiable

assets and liabilities acquired at the date of acquisition:

il PNCIEE Wi B o} TEXK

Name of subsidiary Date of acquisition Segment Principal activities

EHIESREE —TETEF it X7 &P HEMHESREREER
BRAB(T2ERBE]) —A=t+hAH

Wuxi Xinwei High
Temperature Ceramics
Co., Ltd. ("High

Temperature Ceramics")

29 January 2004 Refractory segment Manufacturing and sales
of high temperature

ceramics products

YT AR S B R —TERF i K 53 #B
BRAE ([#E5E]) +-A=-+=H
Haicheng City Suhai 23 December 2005

HENHESEDEM
Refractory segment Manufacturing and sales
Magnesium Ore Co., Ltd. of magnesium products

("Suhai Magnesium")

WERRRENRR SRR REREECH
BERNNEFEZHRE -

The goodwill arising from the acquisition of equity interests in
High Temperature Ceramics and Suhai Magnesium was fully

impaired in previous years.

WEMTFHER B LAMBERAR ([HRE
ML) Z100% R ELZEE (BRI
FFER2HBE ERBE_T-—NF+=
A=+ HUEFEHERAH L 2100%K
FERFIRSH o B R E M S35 EE -

The goodwill arising from acquisition of 100% equity interest
in Heping County Dongye Rare Earth Company Limited
("Dongye Rare Earth”), which was fully impaired in previous
years, was eliminated upon disposal of 100% equity interest in
Dongye Rare Earth during the year ended 31 December 2014.

Details of the disposal are disclosed in note 35.
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

b1 BAERE
HRBTE  EBRRG R%E it ERIR aE
Buildings ~ Machinery Office
held for and  equipment Motor  Construction-
ownuse  equipment  and fixtures vehicles  in-progress Total
Tix T TR TR T AL
HKS" 000 HK$" 000 HK$" 000 HK$" 000 HK$"000 HK$" 000
A Cost
“3-B%-A-H At 1 January 2014
(R%E230) (originally stated) 175,924 868,004 9,259 14022 34,34 1,101,551
SHRREY Change in accounting policy
(Ht3E3410) (note 3(i) 146,739 - - - - 146,739
R=E-mF-A-A(ZE5) At 1 January 2014 (restated) 322,663 868,004 9,259 14,022 438 1248290
HE Additions 851 14,635 202 4240 50,196 70,124
BERIEEA Transfer from construction-in-
progress 3173 61,411 - - (64,584) -
ERNENBAAMES Acquired through acquisition
(R&E34(a) of a subsidiary (note 34(a)) 107,707 45,695 864 1,022 203 155,491
RE Disposals (414) (11,075) - - - (11,489)
HERBARRELED Derecognised on disposal
(MFzE35(0)) of a subsidiary (note 35(b)) (11,677) (3,256) (259) (873) - (16,065)
ERZE Exchange differences (1,336) (3,169) (33) (59) (94) (4,691)
RZE2-mET-A=1-H At 31 December 2014 420967 972,245 10,033 18,352 20,063 1,441,660
RZE-1%F-f-H At 1 January 2015
(B%23)) (originally stated) 253,831 972,245 10,033 18,352 20083 12745
SHHKED Change in accounting policy
(M) (note 3(i) 167,136 - - - - 167,136
RZE-RE-A-R(EEH) At 1 January 2015 (restated) 420,967 972,245 10,033 18,352 20,063 1,441,660
AE Additions - 7,263 5 234 1,391 8,893
MERTEREA Transfer from construction-in-
progress - 3,817 - - (3,817) -
RE Disposals (7,943) - 2) - - (7,945)
ERZE Exchange differences (24,339) (57,070) (562) (1,078) (1,100) (84,149)
RZE-RETZA=1-H At 31 December 2015 388,685 926,255 9,474 17,508 16,537 1,358,459
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17. ¥ - BERRE (B

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

K BOERE
HRBT  BERRG R%E hE ERIR T
Buildings ~ Machinery Office
held for and  equipment Motor ~ Construction-
ownuse  equipment  and fixtures vehicles  in-progress Total
ThEn TR TR AL T AL
HK$" 000 HK$" 000 HK$" 000 HK$"000 HKS"000 HK$"000
ZHFERAE Accumulated depreciation
and impairment
RZE-MmE-A-A At 1 January 2014
(RE25) (originally stated) - 593,734 8,587 8,449 - 610,770
SHRR LR Change in accounting policy
(Br&E3(i) (note 3(i)) 180,946 - - - - 180,946
RZE-RE-A-R(EE5) At 1 January 2014 (restated) 180,946 593,734 8,587 8449 - 791,716
REFR Charge for the year 19,769 53,058 577 2571 - 75,975
REEM Written back on disposals (414) (11,075) - - - (11,489)
HENBAARES Eliminated on disposal
(B&E35(0) of a subsidiary (note 35(b)) (3,751) (2,252) (194) (873) - (7,070)
EizR Exchange differences (660) 2,108) (30 (36) - (2,834)
RZE-MEF-A=1-A At 31 December 2014 195,890 631,357 8,940 10,111 - 846,298
RZE-15-A-H At 1 January 2015
(R%250) (originall stated) - 631,357 8,940 10,111 - 650,408
iH%E Change in accounting policy
(Pr&E3(ii) (note 3(i)) 195,890 - - - - 195,890
RZE-RE-A-R(EE5) At 1 January 2015 (restated) 195,890 631,357 8,940 10,111 - 846,298
REEHR Charge for the year 18,735 56,058 540 3110 - 78,443
&R B Written back on disposals (7,943) - ) - - (7,945)
ERRAEES (W) Impairment loss recognised
(note (i) 57,598 37,318 - - - 94,916
EizZ Exchange differences (13,424) (39,569) (515) (681) - (54,189)
RZE-RFtZA=+-H At 31 December 2015 250,856 685,164 8,963 12,540 - 957,523
RHEE Carrying amount
RZE-LF+ZA=+-R At 31 December 2015 137,829 241,091 511 4,968 16,537 400,936
RZE-MET-A=T—H(BEJ]) At 31 December 2014 (restated) 225,077 340,888 1,093 8,241 20,063 595,362
RZE-ME-A-R(EES) At 1 January 2014 (restated) 141,717 274210 672 5,573 34,342 456,574
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17. Y%
Mt

iii)

s BB RRE

R-_E—RAFR-_ZE-—NE+=_A=1+—
B BiEaBEF RS BRESHEY
BEZ T

R-ZE-—RE+-_A=+—H K&£H
HF T {8 918,822,000/ 7T (= & — U 4 :
21,573,000 L) 2 & TEFMHARBER
BFHEAEE  BHEFR EXGIARES
HEFR - ARREERE  ZSEFRER
FRAEAERTTSBERSENARBHELE
BRZEEAE BAASEEZHZEEF
FTEEz L ABHEERE - AX
FRIE E M EER 2 R -

HE-_Z-—RAF+-_A=+—HILEE " &
SEMBEAN T HERBURE S R 2R E
FETEBR LI B RLEMTRREE
T BTRMLEBZIERDEE (BIEA
REBZHE  BERSENREEROT
TBEERE) AT BRRE - REERE
FREENE AT EHAEETERHEBEY
B A BRI E RS ET A AT R
BRARBITZAETGEREELBM A
WESHE - ZetE A ERSEREIERE
KRRAE 2 A BEIRR RS FRETEE R
FATBEIR R19.5%F19.7% (RMAE /D H
ZHERR)EL AFRZESHREDNER
HET R R24%HEE - LRV RBB
BIoBReELEN((HLBEELSE
ML) EEB 2 RAFIERE o

HE-_Z-—RF+-_A=+—HLEEFE X«
ARESCETREN G MBLREEE
B2 & EREBEE#E4109,669,0007%
T(ZZE—F: B)ERNBEER - HLR
CELENZERRREBEAEEZ K
Bl & EORIREE 85 -
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Notes:

iii)

As at 31 December 2015 and 2014, the buildings held for own
use are situated on lands held under medium-term leases in the
PRC.

As at 31 December 2015, the Group has not obtained the
formal building ownership certificates for certain of its buildings
with carrying amount of approximately HK$18,822,000 (2014:
HK$21,573,000) included in buildings held for own use above.
In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the absence of
formal ownership titles of these buildings do not impair their
carrying amount at the end of the reporting period as the Group
has paid substantially the full purchase consideration of land
interests where these buildings are erected. The probability of
being evicted on the ground of an absence of formal title is
considered remote.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group noted
that the decline in demand and selling prices of its rare earth
products from rare earth segment, as a result of the changes
in national policies in the PRC and the instabilities in the
global economy, was indications that non-current assets of
the rare earth operations, comprising mainly property, plant
and equipment and prepaid lease payments under operating
leases located in the PRC, may be impaired. The Group
assessed the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
on the basis of value-in-use calculations with reference to the
valuations carried out by Vigers Appraisal & Consulting Limited,
independent qualified professional valuers not connected with
the Group. The calculations use cash flows projections with
pre-tax discount rates at 19.5% to 19.7%, which reflect
specific risks relating to the relevant segment, based on the
most recent financial budgets for the next five years approved
by the management. Cash flows beyond the five-year period
are extrapolated using the estimated growth rate at 2.4%. The
growth rate does not exceed the long term average growth rate
for the business in which the cash-generating unit of rare earth
segment (“Rare Earth CGU") operates.

The impairment assessment was conducted by the directors of
the Company and provision for impairment loss on the assets in
Rare Earth CGU amounting to approximately HK$109,669,000
(2014: Nil) was recognised in profit or loss for the year ended 31
December 2015, The impairment loss was recognised for Rare
Earth CGU for which the recoverable amount of the assets was
less than its carrying amount.
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17. ¥ - BERRE (B 17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)
Mt : (48) Notes: (Continued)
BEBERASHTIOT The breakdown of impairment loss is as follows:
—2-HF —T—mE
2015 2014
FHT FHT
HK$’' 000 HK$' 000
BIREEEE N Provision for impairment loss
WEEBBRE: in Rare Earth CGU:
M BEREE Property, plant and equipment 94,916 =
LEAHNTENEHES Prepaid lease payments on land under
(Ff7E18) operating leases (note 18) 14,753 =

“Et Total 109,669 =
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18. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS ON LAND UNDER
OPERATING LEASES

—B-IfF —E-0mEF
2015 2014
TERT FHT
HK$' 000 HK$’ 000
R—B—RZEEE Carrying amount at 1 January 187,376 188,431
AN 5 2 8H (B EE3) Amortisation for the year (note (i) (4,511) (4,791)
FiR I EN B R A &S Acquired through acquisition
(P 5E34(a)) of a subsidiary (note 34(a)) - 11,048
oS BB A R AR LETERR Derecognised on disposal of
(Kt 3E35(b)) a subsidiary (note 35(b)) = (6,635)
BRI E A (M REG)) Impairment loss recognised (note (ii)) (14,753) =
EHEZRE Exchange differences (10,375) (677)
R+—_A=+—HZEEE Carrying amount at 31 December 157,737 187,376
Rz BE i Leasehold lands in the PRC:
HHAFE 4 Medium-term leases 157,737 187,376
BEREBMMIELR 2S5 AT © Analysed for reporting purposes as:
MENEE Current asset 4,379 4,651
FERBEE Non-current asset 153,358 182,725
157,737 187,376
B Notes:
i) BE—_Z—hAF+-_A=+—HI&E i) The amortisation charges of approximately HK$823,000 (2014:
> 45 % #9823 0005 7T (= = — U HK$983,000) and HK$3,688,000 (2014: HK$3,808,000) for
4 : 983,000/ 7T) K 3,688,000 T the year ended 31 December 2015 are included in cost of sales
(:EE—@@ : 3808 OO’()%T_;:)’JJ‘}DJU% and administrative expenses, respectively, in the consolidated
AedExE ‘:P,ﬁéi%,ﬁﬁ REEEH statement of profit or loss.
7 o
i) BE-—T-RE+-A=+—BiIE ii) During the year ended 31 December 2015, impairment loss
= —= — p—

B REENEMN TS 2 RES
$84914,753,0008 7T (Z T — M4 : &)
EREmREER o BE k2 BEF
BRI 17 -

on prepaid lease payments on land under operating leases
amounting to approximately HK$14,753,000 (2014: Nil) was
recognised in profit or loss. The details of basis of impairment
assessment are disclosed in note 17(iii).
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19. B EE

19. INTANGIBLE ASSET

HrEeBERZ
Bt B = A
Technical
know-how

for rare earth
metal products

TER
HK$’ 000
DS Cost
RZT—ME—HF—H At 1 January 2014 129,924
o 5 B B A AR 4% L TR (P 3E35(b)) Derecognised on disposal of a subsidiary (note 35(b)) (129,087)
EREE Exchange differences (837)
RZE-—WE+ZA=+—8H" At 31 December 2014, 1 January 2015
—E-RF—A—BRK and 31 December 2015
—Z-—RFE+-A=1+—H -
Rt EERRE Accumulated amortisation and impairment
RZZE—M$E—H—H At 1 January 2014 129,924
S KT E D R R 8 (BT EE35(b)) Eliminated on disposal of a subsidiary (note 35(b)) (129,087)
MEHER Exchange differences (837)

RZE—NOF+=—A=+—8 "
—T—AF—A—HEk
—E—hAf+=ZA=+—H-H

SREE

R_E—AFR-_ZT—NF
+ZA=+—R

AEMEXNBELESB R LERL
RIiTER  YERAKEREE_TZE/N\F
T-A=+t—BLEFERBBREHLES
RO ZHEKED - AKBERNEE—T O
FT_A=+T-BLFERRHLEREH
T - HEFBRHTE3HE -

At 31 December 2014, 1 January 2015
and 31 December 2015

Carrying amount

At 31 December 2015 and 2014

The technical know-how related to the technology on
manufacturing of rare earth products in metal form and was
acquired by the Group as part of the business combination of
Dongye Rare Earth during the year ended 31 December 2008.
Dongye Rare Earth was disposed of by the Group during the
year ended 31 December 2014. Details of the disposal are
disclosed in note 35.
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20. HBLARZRE 20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
NRZZE—RE+-_A=+—8  x2aKE As at 31 December 2015, the particulars of the Company’'s
NAIZFHBUWT - subsidiaries are as follows:

gt b4
Proportion of ownership interest
AL/ KL BRTREAR 558 AR -BKE
il RS ZHHRAH EEBE Rrz#t  ERER K& DARE IEXE
Place and date Particulars of Effective Held Held
of incorporation/ Place of issued and  interest of by the by a
Name of subsidiary establishment business paid up capital  the Group  Company subsidiary Principal activities
ARERARAT EBRAER GEL) WRERAE 100% 100% - REBR
“AANETZAZE XL EBR
Lee Shing Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands Note (d) 20 ordinary 100% 100% - Investment holding
3 December 1998 shares of US$1 each
ENMERES (LB ERAT il HE iR 100% 100% - B5Btatn
(HHiEGQ) ZRERF-A-TMA 2000000
Wellfire (Shanghai) Company Limited The PRC The PRC Registered capital 100% 100% - Trading of rare earth
(note (a)) 24 February 2000 15$200,000 oxide products
Dynamic Goal Worldwide Inc. EERLHE Hz() WEREE 100% - 100% &ELR
Z33TERA=T-H 1ZnEBR
Dynamic Goal Worldwide Inc. British Virgin Islands Note (d) 2 ordinary shares 100% - 100%  Investment holding
31 May 2000 of US$1 each
FlH + (b)) E G AR 95% - 9% RERHE
“NAZELATEA 15,660,000 ¢ HIElhER
Leeshing Rare Earth (note (b)) The PRC The PRC Registered capital 95% - 95%  Manufacturing and sales
17 July 1993 US$15,660,000 of rare earth oxide
products
FIREA (Hza) hi hE AR 100% - 100% HERHE
“hANELR=1R 17,000,000 % ftAER
Leeshing Refractory The PRC The PRC Registered capital 100% - 100%  Manufacturing and sales
(note (a)) 30 July 1999 U5$17,000,000 of refractory products
ERMRIOLTHERAR hE hE AR 100% - 100% EEXH
(a) S S S 8,520,000
Wuxi Xinwei Fluorescent The PRC The PRC Registered capital 100% - 100%  Dormant

Materials Co., Ltd. (note (a)) 20 December 2001 15$8,520,000
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20. BB ZRE (5) 20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
it L A0
Proportion of ownership interest
ARAL/ AT BEAREMR A58 ARE -EKE
Gl e ZHEREH EEnY Rkaewf  ERER KE DAKE ZERH
Place and date Particulars of Effective Held Held
of incorporation/ Place of issuedand interest of by the bya
Name of subsidiary establishment business paid up capital  the Group  Company subsidiary Principal activities
HMERERAA B B 2k 100% - 100% ERBLath
“hANETRZt=H Vi
Microtech Resources Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% - 100%  Trading of rare earth
23 October 1998 HK$2 oxide products
HERLESERAR &% &% Lk 100% - 100% EEEE
ZEETE=A-10A BT
China Rare Earth Trading Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% - 100%  Dormant
24 March 2000 HKS2
BERE (W) HE hE iR 100% - 100% BEREE
“EEEMA-A 30,000,000/ RREAER
High Temperature Ceramics The PRC The PRC Registered capital 100% - 100%  Manufacturing and sales
(note (a)) 1 April 2002 HK$30,000,000 of high temperature
ceramics products
§is5E (i) G hE iHfER 100% - 100% BEREE
“ZECEMACHLA AR25,000,0007 EYER
Suhai Magnesium (note (c)) The PRC The PRC Registered capital 100% - 100%  Manufacturing and sales
27 April 2002 RMB25,000,000 of magnesium
products
ERFIBEFERITHERAR i ile Rl 100% - 100% HREREE
(H(a) ZERRERAZTLA 3,000000£7C WARBER
Yixing Wellfire Nonmetal Materials The PRC The PRC Registered capital 100% = 100%  Manufacturing and sales
Co., Ltd. (note (a)) 27 September 2006 1S§3,000,000 of refractory related

products
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20. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Lt 5504
Proportion of ownership interest
HRAYL/ BT BEAREMR AEE  ARE -EKE
HEARAR ZHEREH EEBY Rkaewf  ERER KE LUKE ZEXH
Place and date Particulars of Effective Held Held
of incorporation/ Place of issued and interest of by the bya
Name of subsidiary establishment business paid up capital  the Group ~ Company subsidiary Principal activities
BRAHNREERARAT hE T EMAR 100% - 100% HERHE
(K@) ZETRENAZTNR 3,500,000%7 BUER
Hai Cheng Xinwei Leeshing The PRC The PRC Registered capital 100% - 100%  Manufacturing and sales
Magnesium Resources Co., Ltd. 28 September 2006 U5$3,500,000 of magnesium products
(note (a))
BRERRAMHERAT ilei T AR 100% - 100% RERHE
([EEEK]) () X570y 14,500,008 70 REEm
Yixing Silver Mile Fluorescent The PRC The PRC Registered capital 100% - 100%  Manufacturing and sales
Materials Co., Ltd. 20 May 2010 Euro14,500,000 of fluorescent products
("Yixing Silver Mile")
(Note (a))
REERARAT B () 3ele 100% - 100% RERR
“2Z/\§-A-T=R 187
Silver Mile Holdings Limited Hong Kong Note (d) Ordinary share 100% - 100%  Investment holding
23 January 2008 HK$1
EREREAERERAT hE hE iR 100% - 100% EEEE
(Ha) Z5-EF+-AI15H 200,000,000%70
Yixing Changrong The PRC The PRC Registered capital 100% - 100%  Dormant
Trading Development 26 November 2010 HK$200,000,000
Co., Ltd. (note (a))
SRERARAA B Hf3E() Lk 100% - 100% RESRK
“E2-TETZARA 187
Golden Mile Holdings Limited Hong Kong Note (d) Ordinary share 100% - 100%  Investment holding

6 December 2010 HKS1
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21.

F—HF+=-HA=1+—ALFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

WEARZRE ()
GEE

a)  ZERARBREHEEGIEMALAINEGEER
-

b) RARBRETEVAFIEMALATIIG &R

*

O FZARREBHEEAFMKIAEREEL
Ej o

d ZERAARUEFEFELEME I KRER
AT

PPN B D R A (TR F 45 B S F RS
BRFEERZERES -

E-F-AFR-F—
BIEFE
ERRRE RS ©

ME+=—A=+—
AREVRMEARFEEAFE

EhEIER

T—=FhA=++tHB FAEEHESZ—
ZEBHI S WKETERE (K&
Rt FTENERERFEERN
EMmER) 2B T501%K#E  HERELD
#315,133,0008 7T - BB ERNEE_T

%nb

—HEF-—A=t—HILEFEZK  EER
KBERRAAARZ2ZEMBRR  FEH

R EE34 ©

RZE-—NELANR  AEFEZ—FE
BRI N EEREBHEFIER
ZERAR(ERBWTF]  AEEZHA
BhE FERFRERHEMAERE
%) 240%B%# - 34 KB4 A71,300,000
BT BEBEHEERBE-_T—NFE+_A
S+—BLEFERR  YRBE=-T—MF
T A=t HUEFEEGEBERERY
& Wz 4911,974,00078 7T °

20.

21.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Notes:

a)  These companies are registered under the laws of the PRC as
wholly-owned foreign enterprises.

b)  This company is registered under the laws of the PRC as a sino-
foreign equity enterprise.

¢)  This company is registered under the laws of the PRC as limited
liability enterprises.

d)  These companies are investment holding companies which have
no specific principal place of business.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting at

the end of the year or within any time during the year.

The Group had no subsidiary which has material non-
controlling interests for the years ended 31 December 2015
and 2014.

INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

On 27 September 2013, the Group entered into an agreement
with the other joint venturer to acquire the remaining 50.1%
equity interest of Yixing Silver Mile, the Group’s former joint
venture, which was engaged in manufacture and sales of
fluorescent products, at a cash consideration of approximately
HK$15,133,000. The acquisition was completed during the
year ended 31 December 2014 and Yixing Silver Mile became
the wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company thereafter. The

details of which are set in note 34.

On 9 July 2014, the Group entered into an agreement with
the other joint venturer to dispose of its 40% equity interest
in Yixing AGC Ceramics Co., Ltd. (“Yixing AGC"), the Group's
former joint venture, which was engaged in manufacture
and sales of refractory products, at a cash consideration of
approximately HK$71,300,000. The disposal was completed
during the year ended 31 December 2014 and a gain on
disposal of approximately HK$11,974,000 was recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss during the year
ended 31 December 2014.
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BELEIESR () 21. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)
REE-_ZT—WNF+-_A=+—HLEFEK Subsequent to the acquisition of the remaining 50.1% equity
B E R 2 82 T50.1% M & HE B EE interest of Yixing Silver Mile and the disposal of 40% equity
BEF240% kiR AEER-_Z—HFK interest in Yixing AGC during the year ended 31 December
—E-NF+-_fB=+—HUEFERFNEED 2014, the Group did not have any joint ventures as at 31
¥ o December 2015 and 2014.
AHEERERES 22. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE EQUITY SECURITIES
—E-—AE —HF
2015 2014
FTHER FATT
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
BRAFENEZEE LT Listed equity securities in Hong Kong,
&S at fair value - 17,280

tiRREs 2 A FEDRERRATRE
MEEAERESERE -

BE-_T—AF+-A=1+—HLEFE "7
HHERERES A TFEREZEA18,931,000
: 7,600,000/ 7T,) B A H
i 2 T MR s FE A o

HE-_T—AF+-A=1+—BLEE"
AEEHER EMERES 2 2R -
B4 536,211,000 - REE-ZT—RF
TZRA=T—HIEFE BEAHEEER
HH 2 W5 #929,491,000/ L E RIS R FE

=7
s ©

RZZE-—NF+=ZA=+—8 ARAFABY
FHTEFTEFTERERATREESZ £
MRARZEIER -

The fair value of the listed equity securities were determined
based on the quoted market bid prices available on the Stock

Exchange.

The fair value gain on available-for-sale equity securities of
approximately HK$18,931,000 (2014: HK$7,600,000) was
recognised in other comprehensive income during the year
ended 31 December 2015.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group
disposed of its entire interest in the listed equity securities at a
consideration of approximately HK$36,211,000 and a gain on
disposal of available-for-sale equity securities of approximately
HK$29,491,000 was recognised in profit or loss during the year
ended 31 December 2015.

As at 31 December 2014, Mr.

independent non-executive director of the Company, was

Huang Chunhua, an

the deputy chairman of the listed company for these equity

securities.
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23.

HtbkRBEE
AEEEMIRDEER] FREARBA

(ITEBRFDETHEEZ —EBRELHZK
K o

REBEE—Z——F+-_A=+—BLFE
RRE 2 M8 A RFIBCH £ W B T ST HE
2 BMEBUSHERE - FEMA B
WEEREME2BETH - WAS B+
whETHREEREE - BEREERNUE
FEEEUE

RZZE-—RAF+ZA=+—08 TEHBFE
BEMRLHZMUE  EAKRBNAFEEA
HERLEA L HEREE - AAREER

RORZE-—RAFTA=T—BEFR®ER

EMEMIERBEE ZRERBE -

23. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSET

Other non-current asset of the Group represents the cost of
piece of leasehold land to be compensated by Dingshu Town

People’s Government (“Dingshu Government”).

During the year ended 31 December 2012, Leeshing Rare
Earth, the Company’s subsidiary, received an order from
Dingshu Government to confiscate a piece of leasehold
land, on which a factory for polishing powder production
plant was located, due to a new government town plan with
compensation for another piece of land and certain amount of

cash. Cash consideration was received in full in previous years.

As at 31 December 2015, the location for the new piece of
land has been ascertained by Dingshu Government but the
grant of the formal land use right certificate from respective
government authority to the Group is still in progress. In the
opinion of the directors of the Company, no impairment loss
on the other non-current asset should be recognised as at 31
December 2015.



Annual Report 2015 £

24. &

a)

RAMBIMARIFERR

B 5 ¥R % B 5E
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE-Z-RHF+=-A=+—HBLEE For the year ended 31 December 2015

24. INVENTORIES
z a) Inventories in the consolidated statement of financial

position comprise:

—E-AF —E-{mEF

2015 2014

TERT FHT

HK$’' 000 HK$' 000

= Raw materials 55,745 92,068

E8m Work in progress 92,756 129,574

EXm Finished goods 192,720 252,699

341,221 474,341

ERARS ZFEESBEZOMMT b)  The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as
an expense is as follows:

—E-AF —E-mEF

2015 2014

TERT FHET

HK$' 000 HK$' 000

(B&E7))

(Restated)

BEEFEZEREE Carrying amount of inventories sold 857,352 1,180,087

17 & #i Br Write down of inventories 86,223 121,929

FEMEkER Reversal of write down of inventories = (9,684)

943,575 1,292,332

ELXTEEMBGELD YRR ERNTT N EE The reversal of write down of inventories arose due to an

EYETERZGETA &IRF B - increase in the estimated net realisable value of certain

products during the year as a result of change in market

conditions.
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25.

YRR R EMERR  BNRER

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS

e AND DEPOSITS
= —T-@mEF
2015 2014
FERT FHBT
HK$'000 HK$'000
JE K BR R % W ZE Trade debtors and bills receivables 368,912 401,179
B EWERR R ERRE 2 Less: Impairment loss on trade debtors
RAEEE () and bills receivables (note (c)) (30,318) (40,920)
JE U BR R R R M R R B Trade debtors and bills receivables,
(Hi (b)) net (note (b)) 338,594 360,259
H b & I 5K Other receivables 11,029 11,515
& B ENGR 2 Less: Impairment loss on other
A E B (K E«) receivables (note (c)) (1,595) (1,728)
U 5k F RE Other receivables, net 9,434 9,787
fEULBAE N F1 3 (MisE(e))  Amount due from a related company (note (e)) 5,293 5,621
B % e WGR Loan and receivables 353,321 375,667
H b 7] iR [B] 3B Other tax refundable 63,259 64,115
JFE Ut IR 3R % L A B W SR Trade and other receivables 416,580 439,782
HREER I MEREER Prepayments to suppliers for purchase
T8~ 3038 (T #E()) of rare earth materials (note (f)) 403,843 37,794
HthFENFIBRIEZS Other prepayments and deposits 10,997 21,479
BRI HIERR® Prepayments and deposits 414,840 59,273
L Total 831,420 499,055
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25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS

25. BUIRR R HMEYR  BARER

ok AC) AND DEPOSITS (Continued)
B et Notes:
a)  PTARBERF R E MUK - TR FRIE KR a)  All of the trade and other receivables, prepayments and deposits

RPN - FARDHERRFA -

FEW BRI B 3 H A R R R AR 3 B AR
(BRI ATER B HRE) 25 2 ik 5 i 10
T

are expected to be recovered or recognised as expense within
one year.

The presentation of ageing analysis of the trade debtors based on
the invoice date and the bills receivables based on the issuance
date, which is approximate to the revenue recognition date, is as
follows:

—E-EF —F-AmF

2015 2014

FER FAT

HK$’ 000 HK$' 000

61E A LAR Less than 6 months 208,747 253,291
6B E1FEURN 6 months to less than 1 year 46,823 99,690
122 AR 1 year to less than 2 years 84,816 18,951
2F LAk Over 2 years 28,526 29,247
368,912 401,179

W MR N EUZE  Less: Impairment loss on trade debtors and

2R B bills receivables (30,318) (40,920)
338,594 360,259

REBEZE-_Z—AFER_ZT-—NFE+_A
=+—HIEFE  AEELTEEF0E180
BZ¥HEES-

ARBEERFEEP OB N AR
ERERY - ARERMEEFPHEREER
HOEEEEEZHATIABBEER
# o BEETEE AN BUCRTREK
SR IR W B 5% 5 A ROR -

During the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014, the Group
allows an average credit period of 0 to 180 days to its customers.

Credit is offered to customers following an assessment of their
financial abilities and payment track record. Credit limits are set
out for all customers and these can be exceeded only with the
approval from management. Management also monitors overdue
trade debtors and bills receivables, and follows up the collection
of these receivables.
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25. BUIRRREMEYRR BARER

25.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS

®Be @) AND DEPOSITS (Continued)
MisE : () Notes: (Continued)
o R FEWREE AN E (W R E c)  Impairment of trade debtors and bills receivables, and other
receivables
REBEZEHUOT : The movements of allowance for doubtful debts is as follows:
Impairment of trade Impairment of
debtors and bills receivables other receivables
FE W BR TR K FE W R 4B 2 BB Hith BRI R Z R E
—E-HF —T—mF —E-HfF —T—mF
2015 2014 2015 2014
FET FHT TER FHET
HKS$’ 000 HK$' 000 HK$’ 000 HK$'000
n—H—H At 1 January 40,920 37,329 1,728 1,604
EREZRERIE  Impairment loss recognised 1,686 10,030 191 253
B E R R B Reversal of impairment loss (10,146) (6,305) (224) (124)
EHZER Exchange differences (2,142) (134) (100) (5)
W+ =-HA=4+—H At 31 December 30,318 40,920 1,595 1,728

JRE W BR R T FE MK BR 4 DA e EL At PR UK R 2 R B
BREEBEGRIE  BRIESRERBZR
R WEMESF R BT - RERS
18 7E M AR TR % B MR SR AR DA I L At B R
B R (RMEE2()0) °

R MR A I R M R 4 A T Lt P MR ORI S
BREELHRATUREZZE R Z
EIRE Y - BIEFE R % F R RIEL 2
EBIARE T AR -

R-ZE—RFE+_A=+—H x&E£EH
Bl & £ 4930,318,000/ 7T (= & — U 4 :
40,920,000 7T) }&1,595,0008 7t (= &
—PH4F ¢ 1,728,00078 7T) 2 FE W BR 78 2 FE LR
ZEAREMERRENEEARELE
FH2HEE - ZEERRERKRER
HRMEE R RBIEFNAEERRRER
B AR SRR E S A 2 508 - Bt - EUER
T PE MR AR DA R E A MR 2 R E R BR
Y 5 Bl 491,686,000 7T (= — P 4 -
10,030,000/ 7T) 191,000/ 7T (= F —
4 :253,000/870) ERF AR - AEE
ERZEEHEEEMERER -

Impairment loss in respect of trade debtors and bills receivables,
and other receivables is recorded using an allowance account
unless the Group is satisfied that recovery of the amount is
remote, in which case the impairment loss is written off against
trade debtors and bills receivables, and other receivables directly
(see note 2(j)(i)).

Reversal of impairment loss on trade debtors and bills receivables,
and other receivables represents the recovery of debts due from
these debtors previously considered to be impaired. An allowance
for these receivable amounts that had been made in previous
years was reversed back accordingly.

As at 31 December 2015, trade debtors and bills receivables, and
other receivables amounting to approximately HK$30,318,000
(2014: HK$40,920,000) and HK$1,595,000 (2014:
HK$1,728,000), respectively, were individually determined to be
impaired and full allowance had been made. These individually
impaired receivables had been outstanding for over one year as
at the end of the reporting period or were due from debtors with
financial difficulties. Accordingly, specific allowances for doubtful
debts of trade debtors and bills receivables, and other receivables
of approximately HK$1,686,000 (2014: HK$10,030,000) and
HK$191,000 (2014: HK$253,000), respectively, were recognised
during the year. The Group does not hold any collateral over
these balances.
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25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS

AND DEPOSITS (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

d)

Trade debtors and bills receivables that are not impaired

The ageing analysis of trade debtors and bills receivables that are
neither individually nor collectively considered to be impaired are
as follows:

—E-REF —E—F

2015 2014

TET FHET

HK$' 000 HK$'000

RiEH B RBE Neither past due nor impaired 186,974 217,859
#6127 > 1A 61 A Less than 6 months past due 68,109 135,098
B BB A6 ME A B D14 More than 6 months but less than 1 year past due 82,154 4,547
BEBRIF More than 1 year past due 1,357 2,755
151,620 142,400

338,594 360,259

RABRARBREZEBEFTES RIHEE
BREBCEFER -

BEAMERREEBKRES R EREERR
RRETEDZRZBLEFPAR - ZRBHE
B BEEMRGE ARNEEERYLEEXR
28 AZFHERDRER/AT2EMKE - K
BAGA MERELRERE - ARELE
BT BB A EAERR

R EARES T DRRRBERA R
(MEHZ 0 ) FIEABEERR - 8 RIZEX
FEE - ARRIEERRELEENAEST
DZBE - NEE_T-—AE+_A=+—
BIEFE @ REEHSRIEL A5,621,000
BT (ZZ—M4 : 18,297,000 7T) °

R-_FE—RAF+_A=+—H X&EEHR
BERIMBEMZEEEREMNEGED
403,843,000 70 ( —Z— P04 : 37,794,000
BIT) o ZETEMNRIEEBRERN — FRER
BRAZ -

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a
wide range of customers for whom there was no recent history of
default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a
number of independent customers that have a good track record
with the Group. Based on past experience, management believes
that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of these
balances as there has not been a significant change in credit
quality and the balances are still considered fully recoverable. The
Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

The amount due from a related company, Wuxi Pan Asia
Environmental Protection Technologies Limited (“Wuxi Pan-Asia”)
is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. Mr. Jiang
Quanlong, a director of the Company, is also a director of Wuxi
Pan-Asia. The maximum amount outstanding during the year
ended 31 December 2015 is approximately HK$5,621,000 (2014:
HK$18,297,000).

As at 31 December 2015, the Group prepaid an aggregate
amount of approximately HK$403,843,000 (2014:
HK$37,794,000) to several suppliers for purchase of rare earth
materials. These prepayments are expected to be recognised as
expenses within one year.
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26. ENESHE

26. AMOUNTS DUE TO DIRECTORS

“B-AfF —ZE—mEF

2015 2014

FHT FAT

HKS$’ 000 HK$' 000

BRBELAE Mr. Jiang Quanlong 2,592 2,141
BT R+ Ms. Qian Yuanying 45 45
BrmEE Mr. Jiang Cainan 167 127
2,804 2,313

RNESFKAREEN 28 RIRBREE

%o
27. ZRHEBITEFER

ZRREIRITERIERITRRME T HEFE
ERFEFRG 2 RITFER © ZIRHIRITIER
BN FEFR03%E2.75% (ZZF— P04 :
0.35%%2.75%) 2 FEFFEFE °

The amounts due to directors are unsecured, interest-free and

repayable on demand.

27. RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS
The restricted bank deposits represents bank deposits restricted
by banks for issuance of letters of credit to certain suppliers.
The restricted bank deposits carried variable interest rates
ranging from 0.3% to 2.75% (2014: 0.35% to 2.75%) per

annum.

28. B4 RBELZEER 28. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
“B-AF —ZE—mEF
2015 2014
FER FAT
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
RITHER R Bank balances and cash 1,396,365 1,386,003

BehBEEeESEBREREASERA RS
MEBEBROITSEFENENT0%ZE03% (=ZF
—PO4% : 0%%E0.35%) 5t B 2 SRIT4E R ©

MRZZ—RFE+=-A=+—8 ' "&EETT
ERER/AESTPEINEE G 2 RITHE
B RIRE441,337,639,0008 L (=T —1
4 1 1,366,498,000/8 L) °

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash held by the Group
and bank balances at prevailing market interest rates ranging
from 0% to 0.3% (2014: 0% to 0.35%) per annum.

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had bank balances and
cash that were either not freely convertible or were subject
to exchange controls in the PRC amounting to approximately
HK$1,337,639,000 (2014: HK$1,366,498,000).
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29. ENRAREMNREE B RERH 29. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES, ACCRUALS AND

tb B 15 X OTHER PAYABLES
—B-IfF —E-mEF
2015 2014
THER FET
HK$' 000 HK$’ 000
FE ST BR R % B R R Trade and bills payables 166,894 91,119
TBRE R kA M ENR Accrued expenses and other payables 74,959 87,177
RGO Receipts in advance 3,289 5,496
H A fE AT IR Other tax payables - 2,757
JEE 5t /IR f H Ath FE 15 3R Accruals and other payables 78,248 95,430
k] Total 245,142 186,549
ERERFUREZER A REN RREE T A The ageing analysis of trade and bills payables presented based
ZHRE DTN ¢ on the invoice date of trade payables and the issuance date of

bills payables is as follows:

—B-IfF —ZE—mEF
2015 2014
FTERT TET
HK$' 000 HK$' 000
618 A LA A Less than 6 months 143,233 81,729
68 A E1F A 6 months to less than 1 year 16,135 4,957
1226 UA 1 year to less than 2 years 4,869 1,109
26 F Over 2 years 2,657 3,324

166,894 91,119
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30.

RESMBRRERZHE

30. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

OF FINANCIAL POSITION
FA - HEMBRARZEN, (TR a)
E)RBZEBHFHINWT

The movement of tax payable/(recoverable) in the

consolidated statement of financial position during the

year are as follows:

—E-HF —T-mF

2015 2014

TR FHET

HK$’'000 HK$' 000

wn—A—H At 1 January (34) 2,164
RNEE R E (TFE9a)) Provision for the year (note 9(a))

— B EREH - PRC Enterprise Income Tax 663 1,878
REEH BF 2 B Withholding tax on unremitted earning

(Bt 3E9(a)) (note 9(a)) 2,429 -
NEEERERS Over-provision in prior years (note 9(a))

(FT5E9(a))

— B EMRER — PRC Enterprise Income Tax = (308)
FREREER Income tax refunded during the year 1,624 -
RNEEBMAEHR Income tax paid during the year (3,493) (4,663)

1,189 (929)
i & BT B A Al EE Derecognised on disposal of a subsidiary

£ HER (M FE35(b)) (note 35(b)) - 887
=R Exchange differences 107 8
R+=—R=+—H At 31 December 1,296 (34)
REFATHEMRREXRER  Tax recoverable recognised in the

2 AT U B R IR consolidated statement of financial position (1,258) (3,010)
RERE MM N KRR Tax payable recognised in the

Z eI consolidated statement of financial position 2,554 2,976
JERT/ (ATUe [E) FR T8 % {E Net tax payable/(recoverable) 1,296 (34)
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30. REREHBRRRZAER (40 30. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)
b) ERIAZELEBEEERAER b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised
RAREMER E—EREHED # The major components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities)
PEEFRIELE /(BB 2 TBAK recognised and movements thereon during the current

SHREBST - and prior reporting period:
ap 70 MA R e
gg
B 0% BE BATEN
BRgT kit bk BRERx

2Eff ATERE AVERR REf aE
Fair value
Fairvalue  adjustment on
Revaluation adjustment prepaid lease
of buildings on property, payments on Deferred
held for plant and land under expenditures
own use equipment  operating leases and others Total
Thr AT Thn TAL Thr
HK$"000 HK$'000 HK$" 000 HK$'000 HK$" 000
SETFIRBESE ZRIEHE - Deferred tax arising from:
RZE-MmF-A-A At 1 January 2014 (originally stated)
(Rx230) (5,991) (410) 233 2414 (1,652)
SHREEE (H3H30) Change in accounting policy
(note 3(ii) 5,991 - - - 5,991
RZZ—ME-A—-A(BEJ) At 1 January 2014 (restated) - (410) 2,335 2414 4339
BaxitA/ (513 Credited(charged) to profit
(B 9(a)) or loss (note 9(a)) - 9 (25) (1,820) (1,836)
WERBARMES Arising from acquisition
(B 3¥34(a) of a subsidiary (note 34(a)) - 4,968 (990) - 3978
HENERARR LR Derecognised on disposal
(F7E35(0)) of a subsidiary (note 35(b)) - 375 2,269) (61) (1,955)
Eize Exchange differences - (6) (13) 4 (23
RZZ-METZA=T-H  At31 December 2014 - 4936 (%62) 529 4,503
R-E-1%-f-H At 1 January 2015 (originally stated)
(R%231) (5,020) 4936 (%2) 529 (517)
SHBEED (H30) Change in accounting policy
(note 3(ii) 5,020 - - - 5,020
RZZ-RE-A—A(BE5) At 1 January 2015 (restated) - 4,936 (962) 529 4503
BaxiA/ (I3 Credited(charged) to profit
(Fi9(a)) or loss (note 9(a)) - 49 2 (513) (443)
ERZE Exchange differences - (290) 55 (16) (251)

WoE-RETA=+-8  At31 December 2015 - 4,695 (386) - 3,809
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30. REEMBRRRZAER (&)
b) ERRIZEEHEEEREE(H)

ATt iE B E’Jﬁﬁ ZIEER

. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

b)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised
(Continued)

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax assets/

BHEE/(BFE)HY (liabilities) for financial reporting purposes:
i JiN N
—E-hfF — T PO —ZE—mEF
+t=A=+t—-HA+=ZR=+—-H —A—H
At At At
31 December 31 December 1 January
2015 2014 2014
THER FHT FHT
HK$’'000 HK$' 000 HK$'000
(B&E3) (BE5)
(Restated) (Restated)
Rir & BB & Deferred tax assets recognised
MR ZELEFIEEE  in the consolidated statement
of financial position 4,695 5,465 4,749
NGNS Deferred tax liabilities recognised
BRZEERIEBME  in the consolidated statement
of financial position (886) (962) (410)
3,809 4,503 4,339

0 HMABRRZEEZHELEE
RZB—RFF+ZA=+—8 KR
ZEMBREERE AT EBRZ A
HIR B = 249 41,425,690,0007 7T
(ZZ— g4 : 1,285,259,000/ 7T ) °
F P B LA 78R R 3R U A SRR - B A
FREBUMBE R EZZERELHE

BE- FMlB ABAAEESAF

Z T IBE 18 47989,047,0008 T (=&

—P44F : 851,517,000/ 7T) ° HAEE

] £ IR HA 4

)

Deferred tax assets not recognised

As at 31 December 2015, deductible temporary
differences in respect of tax losses not recognised
in these financial statements were approximately
HK$1,425,690,000 (2014: HK$1,285,259,000). No
deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect
of such deductible temporary differences due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in the
above are tax losses of approximately HK$989,047,000
(2014: HK$851,517,000) which can only be carried
forward for a maximum period of five years. Other losses

may be carried forward indefinitely.
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30. A&

d)

MBRRRZAER (&)

AERELEHRBEEE
BRER-ZENE—FA—BRERZ
BRI - AR BRI
BEEBZEEEDERR P R KL
ok R EBE R ANIFEERER
MBI K SR EBER - R AER
EEHEHRA (WREFE 2K E) &
10%BEHMBMMER - R=ZFTZ
NE-_A-+=-B HBEBRERH
5 48 B4 B $(2008)15% » Bt - R
—ZTLFE+ A=+ —HAIENE
1 2R 5 FE H 2 B B2 R 5 & A
REMNTEHPTISH

RZZE—RF+ZA=+—H @R
K ZHBARIE —TENFZE
2 Be s A 2 B R = 2 4 /5458,651,000
L (ZZ — M4 : 495,759,000/
JC) c ARAEE I TR ER 2 &
@H?yﬁzﬂ ! EﬁéﬂﬁﬂﬂiT\Kﬂm%&@
URNEZE HEAARZEETRERRE
RIEEF B & 54945,865,0007%8 70 (=
T — 04 : 49,576,000 7T) °

31. RAER &

a)

AEBHFEREZERBNNFIR
FRZHRENGAREEHRA -
BRARREZ ZBERNBORFNE
FREBMZEHHE  #HWT -

B 5 ¥R % B 5E
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BZ-F-AF+=-A=1+—RALHFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

30. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

d)

Deferred tax liabilities not recognised

Under the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law with effect
from 1 January 2008 onwards, non-resident enterprises
without an establishment or place of business in the PRC
or which have an establishment or place of business but
the relevant income is not effectively connected with the
establishment or a place of business in the PRC, will be
subject to withholding income tax at the rate of 10%
on various types of passive income such as dividends
derived from sources in the PRC. On 22 February 2008,
the Ministry of Finance and State Administration of
Tax approved Caishui (2008) No.

dividend distributions out of retained profits of foreign

1, pursuant to which

investment enterprises prior to 31 December 2007 will be

exempted from withholding income tax.

As at 31 December 2015, temporary differences relating
to the undistributed profits of subsidiaries established
in the PRC since 2008 amounted to approximately
HK$458,651,000 (2014: HK$495,759,000).
tax liabilities of approximately HK$45,865,000 (2014:
HK$49,576,000) have not been recognised in respect

Deferred

of these temporary differences as the Group is able
to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the temporary

differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

31. CAPITAL AND RESERVES

a)

The reconciliation between the opening and closing
balances of each component of the Group’s consolidated
equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity. Details of the changes in the Company’s
individual components of equity between the beginning

and the end of the year are set out below:
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31. RAR@E (&) 31. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)
a) (&) a) (Continued)
Ba REE AV ERE ZiEE &
Share Share Fair value Accumulated
capital premium reserve losses Total
TR Thn AT T TR
HK$" 000 HKS' 000 HK$" 000 HK$" 000 HK$" 000
RZE-WmE-A-A At 1 January 2014 167,264 1,920,050 2,960 (11,839) 2,078,435

ZE-ME7EREY Changes in equity for 2014:

TEEEE Loss for the year - - - (4,629) (4,629)
b2 Es Other comprehensive income
- EERES - Fair value gain on
A ENE available-for-sale equity
(Rz£22) securities (note 22) = = 7,600 = 7,600
rEERENEARE Total comprehensive income
for the year - - 7,600 (4.629) 2,971
RZZ-ME+-F=1—H At31December 2014 and
k=%-1%4-F-A 1 January 2015 167,264 1,920,050 10,560 (16,468) 2,081,406
ZE-REIERRY Changes in equity for 2015:
RER T Profit for the year - - - 14,108 14,108
LT Other comprehensive income
-ARHERER S - Fair value gain on
NFERE available-for-sale equity
(2) securities (note 22) - - 18,931 - 18,931
-HEARLEREES ~ Release of fair value reserve upon
APERESD () disposal of available-for-sale
equity securities (note 22) - - (29,491) - (29,491)
REERANGER Total comprehensive income
for the year - - (10,560) 14,108 3,548
5% (M 331(0)) Rights issue of shares (note 31(b)) 66,906 334,528 - - 401,434
RRRETERRR Transaction costs attributable
RABA(HE31(0)) to issue of new ordinary shares
from rights issues (note 31(b)) - (11,322) - - (11,322)

RZE-RETZA=T-H  At31 December 2015 234170 2,243,256 = (2,360) 2,475,066
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31. RARHE (@) 31. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)
b) ZEEREBRITBRA b) Authorised and issued share capital
ZREEO. 108 T2 ZAR Rin 8B |
Number
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of shares Amount
T FAT
"000 HK$’ 000
EE Authorised
RZZ—WMF—A—H+ At1January 2014, 31 December 2014
—ZT—NF and 1 January 2015
+TZA=+—HEkK
“Z-HF¥—HA—H 2,000,000 200,000
BAE E B (M EG)) Increase in authorised share capital (note (i) 2,000,000 200,000
RZZE—AHF At 31 December 2015
+=—A=+—H 4,000,000 400,000
ERTRAE Issued and fully paid
M-Z—MME—HF—H " At1January 2014, 31 December 2014
—ET-NF and 1 January 2015
TZA=+—HEK
—ZE-hf—H—H 1,672,643 167,264
A% (BT =) Rights issue of shares (note (ii)) 669,057 66,906
RZZE—h%F At 31 December 2015
+=—A=+—H 2,341,700 234,170
LBRRIEBEAGRESTETIREZR The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive
BERRARAGEZELZEAER—RZ dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled
BERE B L AREARA 2 FER to one vote per share at meetings of the Company.
BEHNZEHEER - All ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the

Company'’s residual assets.

it 3 Notes:

() ARBZEERKEBER ()  The Company's authorised share capital was increased
2,000,000,0000% & ik ® {£0.10 to HK$4,000,000,000 by creation of an additional
BT HENLTERG BEREME 2,000,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each. The
4,000,000,0005 7T ° ANA &) Z B 0% increase in the authorised share capital of the Company
ERAER_ZT—HFLA-HET was approved at the extraordinary general meeting held on

ZREFFRI ARG LB - 2 July 2015,
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31. RARFEE (&)
EERCRTRA ()
EREC )

b)

(9]

(ii)

R-Z—RFENALH  ARFEE
BEARBEAR L BRI EEMRABRMR
BRRR (D 2 B % - RRBETRERK
20.6078 7T B 669,057,222 % & ik
EE0. 108 T 2 HIRR %D - REEE
849390,112,000/% 7T (KR EEFH X
#911,322,000/7T) * ERRAEE 2
—BEEES -

EEZEEREN

i)

i)

iif)

Vg y
BRERASEERAEKER)
P £ 31 8 B P 41 20 R F AR A R AR
ROHEREBZENKRSZAE
Hiig - ARRIBARENNBEEE
BBREFEEERBRE

KRB Z RO REREEHRE G
#9149,950,000 7T + BIAAQFIR
HRFKIERE R QR 2 BT
BRDFAETRD 2EE @ HAR
AR—NAANERAZTAAK
AR ZERBRARMEEN B
NEE A REZHBETFEEREE
ZER -

B fE
EXNREASERESEEA
MEBEAMEZ DEEEXREREZ
M o

B TE W
BRERMNBEELEFET IR
BE R BRI R AR A R A
RAINPEKRLZHMBRRZA
AEEMEL  TEEEEZE
EEHE -

31.

CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)
b) Authorised and issued share capital (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(ii)

On 7 August 2015, the Company allotted 669,057,222
rights shares of HK$0.10 each at a subscription price of
HK$0.60 per rights share on the basis of two rights shares
for every five existing ordinary shares held. The Company
raised approximately HK$390,112,000 (net of directly
attributable expenses of approximately HK$11,322,000)
which was used for general working capital of the Group.

¢) Nature and purpose of reserves

i)

ii)

fii)

Share premium

Under the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman
Islands, the share premium account is distributable
to the shareholders of the Company provided
that immediately following the date on which the
dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company
will be in a position to pay off its debts as they fall
due in the ordinary course of business.

The share premium of the Company included
the contribution surplus of approximately
HK$149,950,000 which represented the difference
between the nominal value of the shares of the
Company issued in exchange for the entire issued
share capital of Lee Shing Holdings Limited and the
value of the underlying net assets of the subsidiaries
held by Lee Shing Holdings Limited at the date they
were acquired by the Company on 29 September
1999.

Capital reserve
The capital reserve represents the capitalised
aggregate appropriations to the statutory
reserves made by the Group as a result of group
reorganisation.

Statutory reserves

Transfers from retained earnings to statutory
reserve fund were made in accordance with the
relevant PRC rules and regulations and the articles
of association of the Company’s subsidiaries
established in the PRC and were approved by the
respective boards of directors.
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31. RARGEE (&)
0 HEZHEREHE)

1)

v)

v)

EE R (E)
EERBSTARNEHEBEFE
ZEB(A) WA ERAEHE
A ERETZERE EER
BEEHRTBIONEEEMER
225% °

ARBETRFEZMBEARZA
REREREEREERZP
BestRAURRPIBEE MM
10% @ HEE %A AR EEEM
BEARZ50%M1E o fEH 2 EHZA
REEEAD KBS 2 BT

(ES
EXFEERERERIMEEE
BeHBEREMEL ZAAER
EH o ARBTIRBH 20T
ZEFBR T ARE -

AFIER

NP ERBRERARARNGEE
AR ERSEESZA
FEZRFEEFR - WREM
E2(PT# 2 GET R T AR -
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31. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)
¢) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

fif)

iv)

v)

Statutory reserves (Continued)

Statutory reserve fund can be used to offset
previous years' losses, if any, and may be converted
into paid-up capital provided that the balance of the
statutory reserve fund after such conversion is not

less than 25% of the entity’s registered capital.

The Company’s certain subsidiaries in the PRC are
required to transfer a minimum of 10% of their net
profits, as determined in accordance with the PRC
accounting rules and regulations to the statutory
reserves until the reserve balances reaches 50% of
the registered capital. The transfer must be made

before distribution of dividends to owners.

Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of foreign operations.
The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the

accounting policy set out in note 2(t).

Fair value reserve

The fair value reserve comprises the cumulative
net change in fair value of available-for-sale equity
securities held at the end of the reporting period
and is dealt with in accordance with the accounting

policies in note 2(f).
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31. RARFEE (&) 31.

d REZATEHIIRER
R-ZE—HE+-_F=+—08 A/t
DIRFARABERAZ AR AIHER
28 4) 52,240,896,000/8 7T (Z & — [T
F:1,914,142,000/8 L) + HF 8
&N 2 Al B 0 i (8 492,243,256,000
B (ZZF — M4 :1,920,050,000
BIL) ATEREEBENTELT(ZT
— [ : 10,560,000/ 7t) K& R &t &
18 492,360,000 T (ZF — W& :
16,468,000 7T) ° ZEREAIEL H
- MEEZEZERREZA - ARA
VWEBRENEENBEEELF BN
B - HRefEH AR ©

o

e) BEAXRERE
AEEEREAZEZHEDNRER
SEBELEZENNABRRESERE
HREHMBRESA AR WS
BILZEREBIURDESKA o

rEEgREBERENEHMNERESE
SRE NERARRESBRDRE
BREEARRNAET ZREEHRKTE
TRNFERREZBRETE XL
HAEGERRZ EBEEARRBEL
HE - RERYARBEARRE  ~&H
EBEREARRINZRESHE
BITHE REBEATHRRILEER
ELARUE °

CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

d)

e)

Distributability of reserves

As at 31 December 2015, the aggregate amount
of the Company’s reserves available for distribution
to owners of the Company was approximately
HK$2,240,896,000 (2014: HK$1,914,142,000) which
included the Company’s share premium of approximately
HK$2,243,256,000 (2014: HK$1,920,050,000), fair value
reserve of approximately HK$Nil (2014: HK$10,560,000)
and accumulated losses of approximately HK$2,360,000
(2014: HK$16,468,000). These reserves are available for
distribution provided that immediately following the date
on which the dividend is proposed, the Company will be
able to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary

course of business.

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeqguard the Group's ability to continue
as a going concern in order to provide returns for
shareholders and benefit for other stakeholders and to
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost

of capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between the
higher stakeholder returns that might be possible with
higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and
security afforded by a sound capital position, and makes
adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in
economic conditions. In order to maintain or adjust the
capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of
dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares, return

capital to shareholders or sell assets to reduce debt.
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31. RARGEE (&)

e) BAXEHE(F)
HEREO—B - REBAEEBELL
RERBREE - ZHLEAREEZ R
TEFRREEREFBEEB KUK
RAHEANELEEZLEENE - A5
ER=—E—HEER-_FT—NMF+=A
=E+—BUEEER -#HE-ZT -1
FH+-—A=T—ALFEEHE &%
Bz RIEE - T —IFEER o

AN F) R B AR B B A ) B 7R 58 57 A1
REELENKRTE °

32. BBIRESE

ElERETE
RZTETMFSALBRITZREBFAR
2 & RNARRRESE AN — AR 2
([EERESE]) HERZZ—WFRA
=HE® e

REEBERENE ARRIEETRERE
HALKERMAERMIBE R ZAREZR
EE (BEARAMEMNBARZES)
AR HER TP EXER  BRAR
AEBHRELH BEERBET SRR
R ZHRRTEZBRERBARRRD
RERZEERRBRARL CBRESNR
HBARE - BREUTRESRERDEORMR
BEREETEARAZBERE M ERH
76 BENSEASBRERL AR +F
ZHE R E IR E R LR B T IAR B
e c

BE_Z-ME+-_A=+—RALFER"
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R ARTTE
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. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

e) Capital management (Continued)

Consistent with industry practice, the Group monitors its
capital structure on the basis of the gearing ratio. This
ratio is calculated as the Group’s bank borrowings less
cash and cash equivalents over its total equity attributable
to owners of the Company. There was no net debt for
the Group as at 31 December 2015 and 2014. During the
year ended 31 December 2015, the Group’s strategy was
unchanged from year 2014.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are

subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Old Share Option Scheme

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 4 June
2004, the shareholders of the Company approved the adoption
of a share option scheme (the “Old Share Option Scheme”)

and expired on 3 June 2014.

Under the Old Share Option Scheme, the directors of the
Company may, at their discretion, invite full-time employees
of the Group, including directors of the Company and its
subsidiaries, any of its shareholders, suppliers, customers,
consultants, advisers and joint venture partners or business
alliance who have contributed or will contribute to the Group
to take up options to subscribe for shares in the Company
subject to the terms and conditions stipulated therein. A
nominal consideration will be paid by the eligible participants
for each lot of share options granted. An option may be
exercised at any time during a period to be determined and
identified by the directors to each grantee at the time of
making the offer, but in any event, shall not exceed the period
of ten years from the date of grant of the particular option,
subject to the early termination of the Old Share Option

Scheme.

There were no share options granted, exercised, forfeited nor
outstanding under the Old Share Option Scheme during the
year ended 31 December 2014,
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32.

fERESE (8

A R R A
RZE-—MESARNBRITZBRRBFR
B L ARERRELER A — BB 2
(IFERER ) - BRRAR R TF
BR -

REFBEERES S ARREETRHAE
BrERIEREMEMIBEERZEE
RAL(BREARRLKEAMNBARZES
AR HEH TP FXEH  BFN
RAERH R B AT &R R G
ZHRBTEZBRERERNRGRLN - 8 &
B2RERIERAROZBREINRER
RE - BRETRARRAETERLENR
PITES T8 B 18 78 T % AR A 2 B ) A3 (R AT s
7 ETNSHRASBERER L AR +F
ZHARE - MR R R R B T IAR B R
ke

HE_Z—RAFER_ZT-—NE+-_A=+—
HIEFER @ WEFERETSET 2 EBR
R - 176~ RIS M ARATHE

A

32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

New Share Option Scheme

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 6 June
2014, the shareholders of the Company approved the adoption
of a share option scheme (the “New Share Option Scheme"),

which will be valid for 10 years from the date of its adoption.

Under the New Share Option Scheme, the directors of
the Company may grant share options to eligible persons,
including directors of the Company and its subsidiaries, any
of its shareholders, suppliers, customers, consultants, advisers
and joint venture partners or business alliance who have
contributed or will contributed to the development and growth
of the Group, to take up options to subscribe for shares in
the Company subject to the terms and conditions stipulated
therein. A nominal consideration will be paid by eligible
participants for each lot of share options granted. An option
may be exercised at any time during a period to be determined
and identified by the directors of the Company to each grantee
at the time of making the offer, but in any event, shall not
exceed the period of ten years from the date of grant of the
particular option, subject to the early termination of the New

Share Option Scheme.

There were no share options granted, exercised, forfeited nor
outstanding under the New Share Option Scheme during the
years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014.
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33. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

a)

Transactions with related parties

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed

BRZETHERREMBAIHEEZR
SRESIN  KRRAREZRE - T A
BHE-_Z—RFR-_Z—NF+=A
=+—BULEFEALREEVZEAN

elsewhere in these financial statements, the directors

of the Company consider that the followings are the

material related party transactions entered into by the

BEALRS: Group during the years ended 31 December 2015 and
2014
—B-1F “Z-mE
BEALER HAKE B RHME 2015 2014
Relationship Nature of TET TET
Name of related party with the Group transaction HK$' 000 HK$' 000
BRELE ARAMTES AEEXNHEEER 885 914
Mr. Jiang Quanlong Executive director Payment of rental
of the Company expenses by the Group
Bz KRRES FEEXNESER 65 67
BREXETAR
HEZE QA
Wuxi Pan-Asia A company of which Payment of rental
Mr. Jiang Quanlong, expenses by the Group
a director of the
Company, is also
a director
B BRI (M) FEEERNAELE REEHEE T - 10,381
Yixing Silver Mile (note (i) The Group's joint Sales of goods by the Group
venture at the time
B ERASF (B (i) FEEERNGERE AEEHEERR - 8,683
Yixing AGC (note (ii)) The Group's joint WEmMIE

venture at the time

() EHEEKRXR-ZF-—OF-ARAKELA

AZ2EMBRA -

(i) EEEHFR-Z-—EOENATER

ARAZABLE -

Sales of goods and
proceeding fees received
by the Group

Notes:

(i) Yixing Silver Mile became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the

Company in January 2014.

(i) Yixing AGC ceased to be a joint venture of the Group in

August 2014.
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33. EXRBEAERS (8) 33.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

a) HEBEEATZXZ(E) a) Transactions with related parties (Continued)
ARREZEZRE LARFGTIR—K The directors of the Company are of the opinion that the
(XEBEFREREZER I 2 HE above transactions were entered into under the normal
I&FRETSL o course of business and in accordance with the terms of

the agreements governing such transactions.

b) HEXETEAEZRE b) Transactions with key management personnel
FTEEBABZME (BREINFHFE Emoluments for key management personnel, including
10T BB ARAES KM F11FE amounts paid to the Company's directors as disclosed
BrERTHMALRESRERAEZ in note 10, and the highest paid employees and senior
SE)WMT ¢ management as disclosed in note 11 are as follows:

—E-hF — T PusE

2015 2014

THERT FET

HK$' 000 HK$’ 000

% E B R A Short-term employee benefits 6,731 6,214
RN T Post-employment benefits 71 56

6,802 6,270
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34. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 27 September 2013, the Group entered into an agreement
with the other joint venturer of Yixing Silver Mile to acquire
the remaining 50.1% equity interest in Yixing Silver Mile at
a cash consideration of approximately HK$15,133,000. The
directors of the Company considered that the acquisition of
the remaining equity interest in Yixing Silver Mile is beneficial
to the Group as there are business potentials in fluorescent
materials market in the PRC. Consolidating and increasing
the Group's interest in Yixing Silver Mile will provide a good
opportunity for the Group to further strengthen its presence in
the fluorescent materials market and to enhance the Group's
competiveness and expanding its business coverage. The
acquisition was completed in January 2014 and subsequent to
the acquisition, the Group’s equity interest in Yixing Silver Mile
increased from 49.9% to 100%. Details of the acquisition are

as follows:

a)  Fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Yixing

Silver Mile at the date of acquisition:

FHAT

HK$' 000

ME - HEREE Property, plant and equipment 155,491
LAY TEN LIS Prepaid lease payments on land under operating leases 11,048
RERIBEE Deferred tax assets 3,978
"E Inventories 38,504
FEURBR R R E L fEULZR  Trade and other receivables 79,250
RekBFEEFEEE Cash and cash equivalents 3,971
JE 5 BR 3R Trade payables (66,170)
JEETFHRIBREMMEMNZR  Accruals and other payables (62,433)
IRITER Bank borrowings (85,079)

DHERFEE2AF[E  Fair value of the net assets recognised 78,560
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34. WM B AR (&)
b) WRIEHEALLOEREY K

K

34. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued)
b)  Gain on deemed disposal of interest in a joint venture:

FAIT
HK$' 000
NERA &L 1%49.9% Fair value of 49.9% equity interest in
N AN S ) a joint venture previously held 39,202
T A 49.9% R A Less: Carrying value of 49.9% equity interest
ZREE previously held (45,158)
EFTEAL D ERISIBMEE  Loss from re-measurement of interest in
a joint venture (5,956)
M: WERIEHESE D EER Add: Release of translation reserve upon deemed
BEE 3 A

B

N

WRIEHERELEER 2K

o HEBENBARERZWE:

disposal of interest in a joint venture 8,706
Gain on deemed disposal of interest in a joint venture 2,750

¢)  Gain on bargain purchase of interest in a subsidiary:

FAT

HK$' 000

WHEEEFRBELATE Fair value of net assets acquired 78,560

B REEE Less: Consideration transferred

- HeREZH — Cash consideration paid (15,133)
—AEHEE499% B AEE 2 — Fair value of 49.9% equity interests

~TE previously held (39,202)

(54,335)

ZEBENB AR ERD 2 W Gain on bargain purchase of interest in a subsidiary 24,225

AEARBE-_T—NF+=_A=1+—
BIEFEBEPRIAZEREE k&
#924,225,0008 L TEZREEH B
HEEZREMRHRZFA o

The Group recognised a gain on bargain purchase of
approximately HK$24,225,000 in profit or loss during
the year ended 31 December 2014, which was primarily
attributable to the incentive given by the vendor for its

desire to exit the investment.
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34. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued)
d)  An analysis of cash flows in respect of the acquisition:

FET

HK$' 000

WERekReEEER Cash and cash equivalents acquired 3,971
wBENEeRE Less: Cash consideration paid (15,133)

W 2 & 7 F
WEHAEBEREZZE
REEBREZ-T—NF+-_A=1—
BIEFEZWAREBEBETKKE
ke BEERK 2 W AL138,131,000
75 7L K 518 #923,360,00078 7T ©

HEER S —mFE—A—HE®R K
SERBE_Z—HWNF+A=+—
HEFEZRAREBEED AR
1,192,639,000/% 7T % 106,226,000/%
T ARAEFRAUZIEZIHFT
RREMHEEBRFELEESAZZMR
WEE WRAMERERRABLER 2
DERE o

HRBRNAFENEUBERRKXN
BEAKBZHEIRARERE
ARBEECHENE BERKB
CHENRMBKBEEHEOTENL
wHez#E EEREAERREL
NrestREMELZ R FEFE
0 JE B B B T SRR PSR 2 AR TENE

Net cash outflows on acquisition (11,162)

e) Impact of the acquisition on the results of the Group
Included in the revenue and the loss of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2014 is a revenue
of approximately HK$138,131,000 and a loss of
approximately HK$23,360,000 from Yixing Silver Mile

since the date of completion of the acquisition.

Had the acquisition been effected on 1 January 2014,
the revenue of the Group and the loss of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2014 would have been
approximately HK$1,192,639,000 and HK$106,226,000
respectively. The directors of the Company consider
these ‘pro-forma’ numbers to represent an approximate
measure of the performance of the combined group on
an annualised basis and to provide a reference point for

comparison in future periods.

In determining the ‘pro-forma’ revenue and loss of
the Group had Yixing Silver Mile been acquired at the
beginning of the current year, the directors of the
Company have calculated depreciation of property,
plant and equipment, and amorisation of prepaid lease
payments on land under operating leases acquired on the
basis of the fair values arising from the initial accounting
for the acquisition rather than the carrying amounts

recognised in the pre-acquisition financial statements.
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35. HEMB AT 35. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

R-Z—HmE+—A-+N\B AEEHR
—EBUE=FFUBENBEESREYN
161,759,000/ 7T HH & 58 # - 2 100%%
BoRAMTTENFEERHER LR
EmET o

a) BWKE

On 28 November 2014, the Group entered into an agreement
with an independent third party to dispose of its 100%
equity interest in Dongye Rare Earth at a cash consideration
of approximately HK$161,759,000. Dongye Rare Earth is
principally engaged in manufacturing and sales of rare earth

metal products.

a) Consideration received
FHBIT
HK$’ 000

RekBFeEEHEE 2B WRE Consideration received in cash and cash equivalents 161,759

b) REEFEEERERDINT

b) Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control

was lost

FATT

HK$' 000

(B &5)

(Restated)

[ Goodwill -
ME - BB KRE Property, plant and equipment 8,995
KERNTREMN LA S Prepaid lease payments on land under operating leases 6,635
B EE Intangible asset =
FEFRHIBE E Deferred tax assets 1,955
RekRELEFEEBEE Cash and cash equivalents 58
JFEE U IR 3 e L i IR Trade and other receivables 72,218
CIEEE Tax recoverable 887
e Inventories 12,039

JE -} BR 3% B H 4t FE - 3R Trade and other payables (480)

HEBEFE Net assets disposed of 102,307
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35. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued)
¢) Gain on disposal of a subsidiary

T
HK$’ 000
(B&E5)
(Restated)
Bl E Consideration received 161,759
HEEESEE Net assets disposed of (102,307)
MAREMBAR ZEdEHER Cumulative exchange gain in respect of the
ENHERBER I MEBRAREBE net assets of the subsidiary reclassified from equity
FE 2 RETHE N e to profit or loss on loss of control in the subsidiary 17,927
REZPHERAHENBARZHKEE  Gain on disposal of a subsidiary recognised in
profit or loss 77,379
d) HEMBARZRERAZHE d) Net cash inflows on disposal of a subsidiary
T
HK$’ 000
BekR&FEELH 2BRNKE Consideration received in cash and cash equivalents 161,759
B HEZRERFSEEEA Less: Cash and cash equivalents disposed of (58)
HEZHEERANFE Net cash inflows on disposal 161,701

R-E-—MNFEF-—A-BEHETKAHH
- RamIIBEARERZKA - RER
RenEWREXNER -

During the period from 1 January 2014 to the date of
completion of the disposal, Dongye Rare Earth did not have
any significant contribution to the Group's revenue, results and

cash flows.
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36. EiE 36.

a) RHERPRLEER AKERZEY a)
BHRERAEEDE  BERRB2ZR
BREEZCINERBENE K

COMMITMENTS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had capital
commitments in respect of acquisition and construction

of property, plant and equipment contracted but not

BT provided for in these financial statements as follows:
—E-AF —ET—mEF
2015 2014
FTHERT FET
HK$' 000 HK$’ 000

ERN TN E Acquisition and construction of property,

2 WU K i AR plant and equipment 9,364 10,705
by RERBHEAEER AEERET b) At the end of each reporting period, the Group had

AREctHEETREBENAR
PRGN & IEE 2 B REZ 2 H

operating lease commitments for future minimum lease

payments under non-cancellable operating leases in

BT : respect of land and buildings which fall due as follows:
—E-HF —E—OF
2015 2014
FTERT FET
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
1A Within one year 2,203 2,687
1F&ESFR After one year but within five years 944 3,262
3,147 5,949

REAENFEAKRBEREETHA
EEffzEE HORESTIBBE
BEE RY—E=0F - HEHESR
EREE

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by
the Group for certain of its offices. Leases and rentals are
negotiated and fixed for a period of one to five years.

None of the leases includes contingent rentals.
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36. &IE (&) 36. COMMITMENTS (Continued)
by (&) b)  (Continued)
FRAEBERNNEBMEEZERA The above commitments included future lease payments
AESERETERBEATESZE to Mr. Jiang Quanlong, a director of the Company, and
Z AR LN FK%1,866,0007% 7T (= Wuxi Pan-Asia, a related party as disclosed in note 33,

T —JU4F : 2,962,000/8 7T )

» BIHAE 0 of approximately HK$1,866,000 (2014: HK$2,962,000)

T~ which fall due as follows:
—B-IF T
2015 2014
TER FAIT
HK$'000 HK$' 000
JENT FRREELLEZ Future lease payments to
AAKMHE T Mr. Jiang Quanlong
—15FR — Within one year 859 913
—1F&EFER — After one year but within five years 859 1,825
1,718 2,738
JENT THELS)ZE.2 Future lease payments to
KK Wuxi Pan-Asia
—1FR - Within one year 63 67
—1F&ESFER — After one year but within five years 85 157
148 224




170

Annual Report 2015 £

B 5 R % B 5E
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE-_F-RFT=-A=1+—ALHFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

37. ZERE s zEMIA

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORIES

“B-AfF —ZE—mEF
2015 2014
FHET FHET
HK$' 000 HK$'000
cREE Financial assets

JFE K BR 3R % W R 4R Trade and bills receivables 338,594 360,259
H g Wk Other receivables 9,434 9,787
JE U [ 2 1 B FRE Amount due from a related company 5,293 5,621
TR FIRITER Restricted bank deposits 36,178 3,296
ReFkFeFEBEEE Cash and cash equivalents 1,396,365 1,386,003
B R B R Loans and receivables 1,785,864 1,764,966
A EERES Available-for-sale equity securities = 17,280

REBERATEZSHEAE Financial liabilities measured

at amortised cost

JE 15 BR 5% % FE T R 4R Trade and bills payables 166,894 91,119
TBRE R KE M ENR Accrued expenses and other payables 74,959 87,177
JEftEE Amounts due to directors 2,804 2,313
244,657 180,609
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38.

BREREERERIACZNTE

ERMIAZRRBEAKREERTEXERBIE

FELZEERR

7N

B WA AR RRG EHEER -

a)

mBESRELE - FEKE

FERE
FERBRERZUFEEBETENE
TEFAKEMBER 2 EAR - NEE
RPN RREEGERRIZRS
HFETEE YRS EHERH
B URBREEETANETEHR
MHERZRR -

A 2R B R K B MR R N L R MR
EERR ERECDIY-BEER
R UHEBEERBRETHEERS -
AEBEETHERIERP 2HBMR
AREAFETEENE - ZFHEHY
EPBEXNIBFELESE KA A
ZXIEEN  UEBEFRHEERME
FREMEKERREZEN - AKHE
WERESEEERFEMERD -

REBBEAZZEERBREIEZES
BEZERESRMTE - BPEET
ERBERzZERXARTEHEERR
HAEE  ARERK - NS HRHAM
BEH  AEEAZKREBESEARFER
AAREPREWEREE 2SR EER
DRI AE27% (ZZF—W4F : 34%) &
47% (ZZ—M4F : 51%) °

B 5 ¥R % B 5E
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BZ-F-AF+=-A=1+—RALHFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The risks associated with the financial instruments include

credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk, currency risk and

equity price risk arises in the normal course of the Group's

business.

a)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will
default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial
loss to the Group. The Group has adopted a policy of only
dealing with creditworthy counterparties and obtaining
sufficient collateral, where appropriate, as a means of

mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults.

In respect of trade and other receivables, in order to
minimise credit risk, the management has a credit policy
in place and the exposures to these credit risks are
monitored on an ongoing basis. Credit evaluations of its
customers’ financial position and condition are performed
on each major customer periodically. These evaluations
focus on the customers’ past history of making payments
when due and current ability to pay, and take into
account information specific to the customers as well as
pertaining to the economic environment in which the
customers operate. The Group does not require collateral

in respect of its financial assets.

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly
by the individual characteristics of each customer. The
default risk of the industry and the country in which
customers operate also has an influence on credit risk but
to a lesser extent. At the end of each reporting period,
the Group has concentration of credit risk as 27% (2014:
34%) and 47% (2014: 51%) of the total trade debtors
was due from the Group’s largest customer and the five

largest customers respectively.
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38.

BHEREEREMIA N TE

(&)

a)

b)

EERE (E)

B A & B3R A FE R AR AR % L b FE UK
FZEERBZE—TECRERBEHR
B 5525 ©

MRBITRE - RITFERRZRHE
TERDERREHEEFRRIFZ
RIT AUZSERBAEZEERR
B - R BMEREHEERR

R—ZZE—RFR-_ZT—NF+=A
=+—8 AEEIEREEAER
BRAEBEAECZERR -

RBES R R

AEEETZBYEEERARAL
FEEZHEEEE  BRASBEHZE
PRERSEEERARNCTHARSF
Ko MAREEGHAR - HAEE -
ARBIBRBERERE R KB
ZRBELFER  URETERR -
BRAEEEESTHNRS RIEE
ZLRBBRGREANFHEEERE
KRR RRENRDESTE -

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

a)

b)

Credit risk (Continued)
Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade and other

receivables are set out in note 25.

The credit risk for cash at banks, bank deposits and
restricted bank deposits is considered minimal as these
amounts are placed with various banks with good credit
ratings and there is no significant concentration of credit

risk.

As at 31 December 2015 and 2014, the Group did not
provide any guarantees which expose the Group to credit

risk.

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including
the short-term investment of cash surpluses and the
raising of loans to cover expected cash demands, subject
to the approval from board of directors. The Group's
policy is to regularly monitor current and expected
liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants to ensure that it maintains sufficient amount
of cash and adequate committed lines of funding
from major financial institutions to meet its liquidity

requirements in the short and longer term.



Annual Report 2015 F3§ 173

B 5 ¥R % B 5E
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE-Z-RHF+=-A=+—HBLEE For the year ended 31 December 2015

38. MERAKEEREMIAZATE 38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
(#8) OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
b) HRBELRAR(E) b) Liquidity risk (Continued)
TRETIAREE 2 © /& ER B R The following table set out the remaining contractual
HEH ERAGORTERACRZ (8 maturities at the end of the reporting period of the
FEEAENFENGZFESM K Group’s financial liabilities based on contractual
WIRZ R Rl B BAEAEE R 2 7 undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
Ret) RAGE A EKERZREH computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on
BB 2B TE4H rates at the end of the reporting period) and the earliest

date the Group can be required to pay:

It it “E-pE
2015 2014
AHATRALHE ANATRALRE
Contractual Contractual
undiscounted cash flow undiscounted cash flow
-FR —EM
REXRE Bz FEE  REXEE % RaE
Within Within
1 year or Carrying 1 year or Carrying
on demand Total amount on demand Total amount
THT THT TET Tix ThL TR
HK$" 000 HK$" 000 HK$" 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HK$' 000
iTESREE Non-derivative financial
liabilities
EUESRERSE Trade and bills payables 166,894 166,894 166,894 91,119 91,119 91,119
BREARAMERR Accrued expenses and
other payables 74,959 74,959 74,959 87,177 87,177 87177
EREZHA Amounts due to directors 2,804 2,804 2,804 2313 2313 2313

244,657 244,657 244,657 180,609 180,609 180,609
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38.

BHEREEREMIA N TE

(&)

(9]

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

R E R 9]
ARBZHEAREIERERERAS
FERARZBHRITER - ARELS
EReEERE RXRERTERE
BRZAERERIEEAEY  Fit A%
EEHME T e HRE MRS FHEER
RERERITEFEREANEER -

) FEEE
TRFAMEIAESENRS KRB
¢ EEER RZRHIRITERIR
HRARMAEEANFIRAS

Interest rate risk

The Group's interest rate risk arises primarily from cash
and cash equivalents and restricted bank deposits. The
Group does not anticipate significant interest rate risk to
cash and cash equivalents and restricted bank deposits
because the interest rates of these balances are not

expected to change significantly.

i) Interest rate profile
The following table details the interest rate profile
of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents and

restricted bank deposits at the end of the reporting

period:
“E-F1F —T-mE
2015 2014
BIRF= TET BRI % TET
Effective Effective
interest rate HK$'000 interest rate HK$' 000
BeLBESEHEE  Cash and cash equivalents 0%-0.3% 1,396,365 0%-0.35% 1,386,003
XBHBRTER Restricted bank deposits 0.3%-2.75% 36,178  0.35%-2.75% 3,296
e Total balance

1,432,543 1,389,299
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38. BIXEREERESMIAECZATE

(&)

o R=EmEEE)

i)

R E DT
RZZE—RFE+=ZA=+—8"
EMAEMESRFETENBER
T {HET A R EH RS0
EEB R DGR EE AR E
EBRBEEBEERRD LR E
25T E18495,671,0008 T (=
T—IF RS EMAEER
DA R NS
2 %8 # 495,718,000/ 7T) ° & =
EE A TREGREERNE
b DI IR -

LRGRERE DT TIRER B
R R B ATASE 2 A R R m &
E o BB REN B RS
BHZABEESRITAREBESF
BHAREEMARS - SOEER £
AETHRARNSAETEERAR
ERF =B AERER X
REBEBHANENAEAEESD
M - —E—WEEUARE
BB o
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
c¢) Interest rate risk (Continued)

i)

Sensitivity analysis

As at 31 December 2015, it is estimated that a
general increase/decrease of 50 basis points in
interest rates, with all other variables held constant,
would decrease/increase the Group’s loss after
taxation for the year and decrease/increase the
Group's accumulated losses by approximately
HK$5,671,000 (2014: decrease/increase the
Group’s loss after taxation and increase/decrease
the Group's retained profits by approximately
HK$5,718,000). Other components of consolidated
equity would not change in response to the general

increase or decrease in interest rates.

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
based on the exposure to interests rates at the end
of the reporting period. The analysis is prepared
assuming the financial instruments outstanding at
the end of the reporting period were outstanding
for the whole year. The 50 basis points increase
or decrease is used when reporting interest rate
risk internally to key management personnel
and represents management'’s assessment of the
reasonably possible changes in interest rates. The
analysis is performed on the same basis for year
2014.
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38. MERAKEEREMIAZATE

(&)

d) E¥ER
AEBTERNEEHEEEEN
BREBIAIE R ETEERE LR
Y3 ENREREERSSEEL
MAYEERKR EREERARIE
MITBRBTRET -

D) REZ BEEE
TRFFAEEFR ARG AEEE
ERABZINEEENINE BT
BEZERREEREBREMEZE
B R o

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through

sales and purchases which give rise to receivables,

payables, and cash and cash equivalents that are

denominated in a currency other than the functional

currency of the group entities to which they relate. The

currencies giving rise to currency risk are primarily HK$
and United States dollars (“US$").

Exposure to currency risk

The following table details the Group’s exposure
to currency risk arising from recognised assets or
liabilities denominated in a currency other than the
functional currency of the group entities to which
they relate.

FEREzE%EAR (XTETIIE)

Exposure to currency risk (expressed in HK$' 000)

—E-If —T-mE
2015 2014
BT Y BT xT
HK$ us$ HK$ Us$
JEUBR SR - fEURZR  Trade and other receivables - 38,736 = 51,856
BekBeSHEER Cash and cash equivalents 5,500 19,175 - 15,849
H R Other payables - (1,173) = (1,179)
PRz BEEBER  Overall exposure to
currency risk 5,500 56,738 - 66,526

7 5 [ 3R B 3 4 A 0 R KR B
BERDIMEE PR - AEH
HENERIINERR - IHESR
FTEREZEHPERERAR

The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy in respect of its foreign
currency receivables and debts. The Group will
monitor its foreign currency exposure closely and
will consider hedging significant currency exposure

should the need arises.
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37. BERKREEREMIAZATE 38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
(%&) OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
d) E%¥ERE) d) Currency risk (Continued)
i) BEES i) Sensitivity analysis
TRIFZAEBZBRBEBER The following table indicates the instantaneous
(RETER) REBEFREASE change in the Group's loss after taxation and
MR RAR AT B EmHEAA (accumulated losses)/retained profits that would

Bz INEETE R A RZ B A RE 3R 2
EREHMBANEE 2T I
3 E 3 B B A

arise if foreign exchange rates to which the Group
has significant exposure at the end of the reporting
period had changed at that date, assuming all other

risk variables remained constant.

BREEER BRiieEE

MNEER  HD /(B RRF SNEEE R/ (EM) RRE

i/ (B) EERD/ (Em) #m/ (Rd) wHEm/ Cad)

Decrease/(increase) Decrease/(increase)

Increase/ in loss after Increase/ in loss after

(decrease) taxation and (decrease) taxation and

in foreign decrease/(increase) in foreign increase/(decrease)

exchange rate  in accumulated losses exchange rate in retained profits

—B-5% “TmE

2015 2014

TET T

HKS$' 000 HK$'000

BT HKS 5% 206 5% -
(5%) (206) (5%) -

£ US$ 5% 1,090 5% 1,567
(5%) (1,090) (5%) (1,567)

ERFAIRZOMBERAREARR Results of the analysis as presented in the above
AIRHBIKY 2 B ARIES table represent an aggregate of the instantaneous
B2 RS EWIRS AR effects on profit or loss after taxation and equity
MEEB CEXBRE BB TS for each of the Company’s subsidiaries established
2757 BB E S EE R in the PRC measured in their respective functional
2 AR 2R o currencies, translated into Hong Kong dollars at the

exchange rate ruling at the end of each reporting

period for presentation purposes.
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38.

MR E
(%)
d)

e)

BREMIAZATE

E¥ERE(5H)

i) HEESN(E)
E A GURE 5 AT T R ER SN BB
ZEBEAREFFEASER
RREAERMBEZE®MT
AMfEE - WEA MK =-F—H
FZHAREEEST -

IR 10 B 1% B B
AEBRARRERAFEFEZSE
TRAHREEREESMAERNDER
Bl HAFEERESFRIME
BRAZMSREFE - AKESEY
ERTREYERSREBECERE
BRTmRBEREERR

R-FB-—HFE+-HA=+—H " &5

EER LA TIR10%  FraHE A
BYERBIE sHEAKBZATE

{1 I sk Rl 4 491,728,000 7T (=
T—HE E) o

R-F-—OFt+t-A=+—8 @R
AEBEZREBARBE A LmER
Er AR AKERAHHERSE
FAEETREEREAR KNEEZ
AL ERSESAERSBERER
DRREmESEEFREEKRETS
ZEHRKE

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

d)

e)

Currency risk (Continued)

i) Sensitivity analysis (Continued)
The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in foreign exchange rates
had been applied to re-measure those financial
instruments held by the Group at the end of the
reporting period. The analysis is performed on the

same basis for year 2014.

Equity price risk

The Group was exposed to equity price risk through
certain available-for-sale equity securities that were
measured at fair value at the end of each reporting
period with reference to the quoted market prices. The
Group managed its exposure by closely monitoring the
price movements and the changes in market conditions

that may affect the value of these investments.

As at 31 December 2014, it was estimated that an
increase or decrease of 10% in equity prices, with all
other variables held constant, would have increased or
decreased the Group's fair value reserve by approximately
HK$1,728,000 (2015: Nil).

As at 31 December 2014, the Group had concentration of
equity price risk on the available-for-sale equity securities
as the Group only held one listed equity security in their
investment portfolio. The Group’s available-for-sale equity
securities were exposed to equity price risk due to the
fluctuation of prices of the listed equity security in the

relevant stock market.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

f)  Fair value measurement

i)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value
Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the
Group's financial instruments measured at the
end of the reporting period on a recurring basis,
categorised into the three-level fair value hierarchy
as defined in HKFRS 13 “Fair Value Measurement”.
The level into which a fair value measurement
is classified is determined with reference to the
observability and significance of the inputs used in

the valuation technique as follows:

e  Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using
only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted
prices in active markets for identical assets or

liabilities at the measurement date

o Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using
Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which
fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant
unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are

inputs for which market data are not available

o Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using

significant unobservable inputs
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38. BIXEREERESMIAECZATFE
(&)
f) ADTEHEE)

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

) BRAFEIEZEMEEREE i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value
(&) (Continued)
T
2014
ATEFAENER
Fair value measurement categorised into
ATE F—& F-& F=R
Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
TAT THEL FEL FEL
HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
MEWMAFESTE  Recurring fair value measurements
A E Available-for-sales
EH equity securities 17,280 17,280 - -
REBEE-_E—AFEE_T—NF During the years ended 31 December 2015 and
+—A=+—HBLEEHMHE & 2014, there were no transfers between Level 1
—AREAE AR 2 N M - ) and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3. The
BAF-ABEANED - AKH Group's policy is to recognise transfers between
ZBSR BB R 7 B R H levels of fair value hierarchy as at the end of the
HEERER L FERE 2 & - reporting period in which they occur.
BE-_Z—FRAFEt+t-_HA=+— During the year ended 31 December 2015, the
BIEFE AEBEHEHRA Group disposed of its entire interest in the listed
RN EmERES ZKE (RKFE equity securities (see note 22).
22) ©
i) BRFEUINMEEGTEZLHE i) Fair values of financial assets and liabilities carried at

ERBEZLFE
RZE-—RAFER-ZT—NF+=
A=+—8 A&ERAQEIR
KA HEK AT EZERIA
ZEHERREEZ ATENES
RER

other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s and the
Company’s financial instruments carried at cost or
amortised cost are not materially different from
their fair values as at 31 December 2015 and 2014.
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39. LITIGATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2012, Yixing Silver
Mile, the Group's former joint venture, was in dispute with
a contractor about the quality and settlement of its plant
construction. Yixing Silver Mile became a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company during the year ended 31 December
2014. As at 31 December 2014, the contractor claimed
Yixing Silver Mile for settling the remaining contract fee of
approximately HK$34,854,000 for the plant construction.
At the same time, Yixing Silver Mile counter-claimed the
contractor for returning the contract fee of approximately
HK$62,426,000 for poor construction quality that cannot meet
the relevant construction standards. As at 31 December 2014,
no judgement had been received by Yixing Silver Mile from the

court yet.

As at 31 December 2015, the directors of the Company have
sought advice from its PRC lawyers in this aspect. Based on the
legal advice, the litigation time has been expired during the
year ended 31 December 2015 and Yixing Silver Mile has been

discharged from these litigations.
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40. REIEBE 2P BMRR K 40. COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION
—E-hF —E-mEF
2015 2014
k=3 TET FAT
Note HK$’'000 HK$'000
FREBEE Non-current assets
B Equipment 21 28
MEBRARZKE Investments in subsidiaries 20 151,707 151,707
AR EERE S Available-for-sale equity securities = 17,280
151,728 169,015
REEE Current assets
BNRERES Prepayments and deposits 941 822
JE W Ff 1B A B 5k TE Amounts due from subsidiaries 2,291,433 1,911,261
Be& MBS EEBHE  Cash and cash equivalents 36,212 5,051
2,328,586 1,917,134
REEE Current liabilities
JE 5T FRIE & Accruals and other payables
H i [ 5 5K 4,843 4,407
e E E I8 Amounts due to directors 405 336
5,248 4,743
RBEETE Net current assets 2,323,338 1,912,391
BEEFE NET ASSETS 2,475,066 2,081,406
BEXR B CAPITAL AND RESERVES 31
[N Share capital 234,170 167,264
(& Reserves 2,240,896 1,914,142
BEARE TOTAL EQUITY 2,475,066 2,081,406
REEEFEeN -_E—NEF=-A=+HH#ER Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on
TR WU TATREREZ 30 March 2016, and are signed on its behalf by:
BRE F= Jiang Quanlong Qian Yuanying

EZE EZE Director Director
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POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT
NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31
DECEMBER 2015

Up to the date of issuance of these financial statements,
the HKICPA has issued the following amendments and new
standards which are not yet effective for the year ended 31
December 2015 and which have not been adopted in these

financial statements. These include the following which may be

BEMBREER RN SHIA
BRI BREENE SR REZPAHZHE'
BRGHEANZI R BTN REGEP
BEGIENS16%R ERREREBITER
B30 bibi %
A HE
BRGHEASZ R 2BTA  BUMBRR ERR
BRUBASENE0RR  RAZEABELTRAE
BiE e A F20% CERHERINEE
pA“HE
BREMBREENF R DECE e v
pAZHE SHREE
BEMBREENEIA  —F-_FE-F-RE
B2 BB RSER
ERNE

! KRB N\F-A-HRZERBRZFEH

Lilie

2 RS FHEE B Hisk 2 K Rta 2 FEHR AR

? REZB-—RFE-A-HIZERRZFEH

il A 2

AEBEEFEZE
BRERAMRESREL

CHENSEIER 3

FE-HEEEAR

Ik ARBRBARBZEN T REERTEE
MBREERTAA EH R A M BHRIEK

BEARE-

relevant to the Group.

HKFRS 9
HKFRS 15

Amendments to HKAS 1
Amendments to HKAS 16
and HKAS 38

Amendments to HKAS 27

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 11

Amendments to HKFRSs

Financial Instruments’

Revenue from Contracts with
Customers’

Disclosure Initiative®

Clarification of Acceptable
Methods of Depreciation and
Amortisation?

Equity Method in Separate
Financial Statements?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Accounting for Acquisitions of
Interests in Joint Operations?

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2012-2014 Cycle?

‘ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018

Z Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined
g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of

what the impact of these amendments and new standards

is expected to be in the period of initial application. So far it

has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a

significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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BE+t-A=t-HLEE
For the year ended 31 December
—E-RE —T—F “E-=% “E——F —T——F
2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
TER BT FAL AT AT
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
WA Revenue 843,110 1,183,786 1,488,282 2,101,918 2,213,354
HERKA Cost of sales (943,575) (1,292,332) (1,701,158) (2,540,035) (1,163,362)
(£8)/E7 Gross (loss)/profit (100,465) (108,546) (212,876) (438,117) 1,049,992
BRI (B18) /5% (Loss)profit before taxation (264,083) (98,622) (375,771) (680,725) 727,457
FTfe#H () /%%  Income tax (charge)/credit (3,535) (3,406) 9,961 (13,411) (178,815)
BELEXKAEE  (Loss)profit for the year from
(B8) /A continuing operations (267,618) (102,028) (365,810) (694,136) 548,642
BRREER Profit from discontinued
gl operation = = - - 16,599
AEE (BE) /BF  (Loss)profit for the year (267,618) (102,028) (365,810) (694,136) 565,241
JEfE: Attributable to:
AREEEA Owners of the Company (256,650) (92,972) (350,847) (674,488) 533,070
FERER Non-controlling interests (10,968) (9,056) (14,963) (19,648) 32,171
(267,618) (102,028) (365,810) (694,136) 565,241
R+=B=+-H
As at 31 December
—E-1f —E-QEE —T-=fF —T-—F &
2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
TER THT THET FET FTET
HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
MEBEE Current assets 2,610,821 2,370,356 2,504,164 2,864,609 3,590,246
ERBEE Non-current assets 577,089 820,054 779,222 738,774 919,635
BEREA Total assets 3,187,910 3,190,410 3,283,386 3,603,383 4,509,881
mEEE Current liabilities 250,500 191,838 135,797 179,443 357,597
e EIN=N Non-current liabilities 886 962 410 19,227 22,395
BEARA Total liabilities 251,386 192,800 136,207 198,670 379,992
BEFAE Net assets 2,936,524 2,997,610 3,147,179 3,404,713 4,129,889
A Share capital 234,170 167,264 167,264 167,264 167,264
ff Reserves 2,688,629 2,804,461 2,943,985 3,187,873 3,893,393
ARREEBA Equity attributable to owners
Efh R of the Company 2,922,799 2,971,725 3,111,249 3,355,137 4,060,657
R ER Non-controlling interests 13,725 25,885 35,930 49,576 69,232
B&BE Total equity 2,936,524 2,997,610 3,147,179 3,404,713 4,129,889

M : BEFEIBFCEIARBRESFMEHREH

FE3(ATI g Rt R 2 2B

Note: Prior years figures have been restated to reflect the change in
accounting policy as described in note 3(ii) to the consolidated financial
statements.
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